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Chairman’s Statement

o

As discussed in my previous reports, Chinlink International Holdings
Limited (the "Company” or “Chinlink”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
"Group”) have been working very hard to position itself to be a successful
supply chain financial logistics services provider in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC” or “China”).

During the past two to three years, the Group has successfully diversified
from being a Hong Kong based high-end interior designer, decoration
contractor and a premium furniture and fixtures supplier, to the supply
chain financial logistics service provider primarily based in Xi‘an City of

the Shaanxi Province, the PRC, providing integrated logistics and financial
solution to our Chinese clients.

BUNMEAANEBE2HREwmdl SEPESEBREREGRAE ([RAF ]
%J)&EWE’D\T (GBI AEE|)EBZ LT BEEFSITEK
B ([hE]) 2K HEESRY AR HER-

ZM=FE ARERDERBS L WH-_BUEERELNE
CREAEBAEESREAREEHERRREIAIEETEIRASR
EETBMYABRBEERDS  RRMANTFEFTFREUEGSUYRE B

Based on the Group's professional knowhow and ERAEBEZTAREER 2 FEAB K
experience in interior construction projects, we are able BoERMA N EPEALLERCEER
to set up our first logistics operation base in Xi‘an Da BMOHEmESARAREEM TS ([KHE
Ming Gong Building & Construction Materials Market, the DB RIERMONFEY R EEEM -
largest building and construction materials distribution B EF RS HEESIALNSERDR K
market (the “DMG Distribution Centre”) in the north- B AEEM 2 HEERE -

western China. We introduced to the wholesalers and
distributors high quality logistics and information based

supply chain services.
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Chairman’s Statement

o

For the financial service, we set up the first wholly foreign
owned financial guarantee company in Shaanxi Province in
2013. Our existing clients in the DMG Distribution Centre
became our captive customers for the new guarantee
business. Utilizing their inventory under our warehouse
logistic management as floating collateral, our guarantee
company will provide financing guarantee for them to
obtain bank loans. This unique guarantee model enables
our clients the convenience of realizing the cash value
of their inventory through bank financing, whilst not
affecting their normal trade activities.

Actually, most of our clients are small and medium-sized
enterprises (“SMEs") who are deprived of the opportunity
to access bank financing due to the lack of sufficient asset
as collateral or reliable credit record. Inventory financing
is not a new product, but the way we combine logistics
service and financing as a total offering, which is a unique
preposition to our clients to resolve their funding difficulty.

HERBRBME  ROX T —=FHERAE
RIZERIEBEREERLF - RMAEX
RAENHPLZRABEPRAMERELZ
BEEEP SEFEHMANEEMRERT
ZEFEREZISHER D HANERIFSE
RREEPRHEBEERNESRITER
ERB CEREAREPEENMERIRT
MEBREFECRSEE REFTZE
HEREZEH-

ERE RMAOAKBLOEFRRP/NEELE
(Thpte]) MZELERRZ TR EELF
ERREER] E 2 ERREM B ERGFIR
TREZKE FEREBEXIFNEM BRM
EEHREHYERBEREELES 2T EB
BEREREFPBRES LR -
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To allow small business access to credit has always been
China's state policy, especially during this year with a
slowing economy, the pressure to find new sources of
growth has become more imminent. Giving consumers
access to credit and to build up small businesses demand
more private participation in the financial market. This
provides the Group immense opportunity to expand our
financial service business. One of the strategic steps taken
by the Group is to strengthen our financial service scope
and product mix through setting up or investing in other
types of financial institution.

In late last month, our application for a wholly foreign-
owned finance lease company was approved by Shaanxi
Province Business Bureau to operate leasing nation-
wide. Early this month, we have entered into a letter of
investment intent with a Shenzhen based peer-to-peer
("P2P") lending company and proposed to subscribe
10% of its equity interest. P2P is a global phenomenon
and is spreading fast in China, thanks to the proliferation
of internet bandwidth and low-cost smartphones, and
the huge funding demands from small businesses as an
alternative bank financing. With the new state policy
in promoting “Internet +” implement latest internet
technology in all kinds of traditional industry, participation
into this P2P platform will serve as a Internet + strategy
to explore the new horizon of online financial business.
Furthermore, it also synergizes with our existing finance
logistics business in sharing the same customer base and

expands our product offerings.
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FNUGERESEE—BERTEZER L
HEEAFENEERRBENE SHH
BERRZBNCEHEER -BFEFPERFE
BEXERNDECEFEEZAAZERSH
MHe-ERAEEREMHE KR #IARRLM
MEBRBER - ARBERMZEF —IAR
BEEREDEBR IR EEEMBIZ S/
g RPN RS HENEDE

PN

REAKR BMBEBIHEBEREHERA
CERAERERELE TEZBKEEH
EEB-ANA LA R —RERIN G E
(TP2P ) ERRRFIZREREMSE  EHEIMN
REBE10%EZE AN EBBRES LEMKK
ERETFHRERER MENUARZERES
TR UERBITRENER M P2PRA—
BE2HRRAKUTATEARER BEBHKR
WIEBE+ | ERFNEBENKERE
BITERMER  2EUPPTABER AL
AB+HY SRS - LARA IO £ & BARAS Z BB
o ETEBEMREZERYREBTHRE
Al — % 7 EL 0 07 T 2 A 10 ) U8 > 0 4B K
PIMEmBER -
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Chairman’s Statement

o

Another strategic move taken by the Group is to diversify
into cross-border e-commerce as a cornerstone of our
e-commerce business. Chinese government has in
recent months advocating its support for cross-border
e-commerce as a key step to boost domestic consumption
and to balance international trade. New guidelines on
tax policy and measures to streamline custom clearance
were introduced. On the other hand, China’s e-commerce
industry has been booming in recent years, benefitting
from a rising middle class disposable income and an
astonishing growth in the online population through
high level of internet and mobile penetrations. On 17
June 2015, the Group has entered into a memorandum
of understanding with a Hong Kong licensed duty free
operator to form a joint venture to undertake cross-border
e-commerce specialize in international brand affordable
luxury products. One of the prime considerations for
Chinese online consumers is the product reliability.
Our partnership with a duty free retailer is because of
a strong product endorsement and a secured supply
base of a comprehensive range of major international
branded goods, of popular demand by the Chinese online
citizens. This e-commerce platform is targeted to operate
before end of this year and is anticipated to bring in
new requirement for our logistics and consumer finance

businesses.

On the other hand, the first phrase development of the
logistics park located in Baohe Logistics Zone, Hantai
District, Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
("ChinlinkeWorldport”) will be completed by the third
quarter of the financial year ending 31 March 2016. The
first phrase will comprise of a large-scale building and
construction materials distribution market, a Hanzhong
Custom Office for custom clearance, bonded warehouses,
custody warehouses and general purpose warehouses
and transportation depot facilities. We delicate to build
ChinlinkeWorldport to become the regional distribution
and transportation hub for the southwestern area of

Shaanxi Province and the nearby provinces.

REEBZS—RBBEDZTCEREER
BMNEFRAKEREAZEREETEE-
MEEAR FEBRNEREHERETE
B ERENBAEERFEREES 2 &
ERE BB B R #is
SIKEHB - F—HEAXERPERRA X
U ATE M MEEBARFEOSE
BEN S EBENASBEAMNER  FRF
FEMNEFEETEEDEE-R_E—H
iﬁﬂ+t5*$ﬁlﬂﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁhﬁﬁ
REEM LB HE T UKL EE QR
ETEMREPRERREEZR %E
FEB - PREABLEFPHEF—EEZEZR
AERARERZUSEH -HME—ZREHTE
HMEVBHERRENEEAXTRBRM
BZEEMNIZEBMEEMIBAIFR
EREZHEEM HEFEEFEEELZR
AEFRAFAREE BHEARMODR
REBESREBRHRFTOFR.

S—HE URPBERAEEFTES R
%ﬁl@%%ﬁ%ﬂ“ﬁ¢ﬁwﬁﬁ%ﬂ2
—HEBRBEREBEE_S—"F=ZA=1T—
EZM&EE%:?E%&°%—%%@%
—RBABBZEREMHHEMIS  AEE@AZ
EHEBEANER RUEAE EEREER— h
RerEREREIGEE KMEEKLE
Eﬁwﬁﬁ%ﬂmﬁ%ﬁéﬁ%ﬂ@&%L
BB HE R BEE-
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During the year end 31 March 2015 (the “Year"), we also
entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement
to acquire a retail shopping mall specialising in interior
improvement and home furnishing products in Xi‘an City.
Upon completion of this acquisition, it will bring in stable
rental and services fee incomes to the Group and a new
customer base for our logistics and financial services.

The Group’s strong presence in Shaanxi Province and
in particular Xi'an City has put us in a very favorable
position to benefit from China’s Silk Road Economy Belt
development program. During the Year, we witnessed
increasing business activities in the region, with both
domestic and international enterprises seeking to establish
foothold. With the Group’s geographic positioning and
our unique business model that is in line with China's
development priorities, we have every reason to be

optimistic about our future success.

All good business strategy and planning need a dedicated
management and staff team to execute, so | call for my
fellow colleagues, on behalf of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the "Director”) and the shareholders of the
Company, to devote your best efforts to help us to achieve
our business goal, and to help yourselves to a successful
career. Let us join together to make it happen and to
generate a good results in our next reporting year.

Li Weibin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2015
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RBEE-_T-—AF=A=+t—BIEFE (X
FEDRN BMAFRTL-—HEEHRGEZEE
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ZHREERERAEPEE - RAFER B
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Financial Highlights
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Financial Summary

S 255

For the year ended 31 March 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
BEZA=T+-HLEE ZB-1f% Z-mEF =% 5-CF —F—-F
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx FiEn Fitn Fitn Fitn
Continuing operations BEGEER
Revenue WA 247473 151,731 161,365 173,158 167,153
Gross profit E 50,870 41,040 26,052 54,143 71,840
(Loss) profit before taxation BREA (BR)&F (76,158) (93,060) (22,690) 10,024 17,017
Income tax (charge) credit Fiah(Fx)E% (4,031) 2,718 244 (1,939) (3,067)
(Loss) profit from continuing operations ¥ ELE£5 2 (5518) k7 (80,189) (90,342) (22,446) 8,085 13,950
Discontinued operations RIEBEEHK
Profit (l0ss) from discontinued operations & 1M & £ 2 57| (B18) - - - 9,747 (26,771)
(Loss) profit before non-controlling BRI B Al (FE)
interests pabil (80,189) (90,342) (22,446) 17,832 (12,821)
Non-controlling interests FERER - - - 360 1,624
(Loss) profit attributable to ARAREEARS (BE)
owners of the Company pegil (80,189) (90,342) (22,446) 18,192 (11,197)
Dividends paid ERRE - - - 346,361 Nil %
(Restated)
Basic (loss) earning per share SREX (FB)EA (E7)
From continuing operations KEBELLER HK(3.65) centsifll  HK(4.87) centsfl HK(1.40) centsifll  HKO.51 centsi&fll  HK6.98 centsi# Ll
From continuing and REFERLE LGS
discontinued operations £ HK(3.65) cents{ll  HK(4.87) centsiB il HK(1.40) centsfl  HK1.14 centsi& Il HK(5.60) cents& 1l
At 31 March 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
RZA=1-H ~8-1f% —E-RmE =% —E-Z &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn Ti#n Ti#n Tir
Non-current assets FRBEE 340,028 39,754 20,436 2,533 297,842
Current assets RBEE 571,948 667,811 164,817 106,808 325,556
Bank balances and cash BRAEERRSE 67,145 228,439 55,696 31,339 113,515
Current liabilities RBEE 479,983 338,263 70,522 72,117 266,913
Net current assets RBEERE 92,005 329,548 94,295 34,691 58,643
Non-current liabilities ¥RBeE 203,680 266,435 74,865 917 4,061
Net assets EERE 228,353 102,867 39,866 36,307 352,424
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Management Discussion and Analysis

‘B BT o s K o A

BUSINESS REVIEW

Amidst continuous structural transformation of China
economy, the overall gross domestic product ("GDP")
growth rate slipped to 7.4% in 2014, missing its official
target of 7.5% for the first time since 1998, and hitting
its slowest pace in 24 years. Despite its high-speed
economic growth miracle in the past years, China has
now shifted its focus from mere growth to incorporating
quality of growth. Labelled the “New Normal” era by
China’s President Xi, the Central Government of China has
accepted, and promoted a slower growing but of higher
quality and sustainable economy. In spite of such, Xi'an
City, the capital city of Shaanxi Province and where most
of our businesses are based, has defied the slowdown
and recorded a year-on-year GDP growth rate of 9.9% in
2014. Attributable to the ongoing national priority of fast
tracking economic development in northwestern China
and the recent advocate of the Silk Road Economic Belt,
Chinlink has devoted all its efforts in strengthening its
foundation in Xi‘an City, as well as its adjacent areas in
Shaanxi Province. During the Year, the Group has made
considerable progress, setting solid ground for its finance,
logistics and e-commerce business. In the meantime, the
management of the Company has actively explored new
business opportunities amongst various business sectors in
Shaanxi Province for future development.

For the Year, the Group’s revenue surged 63.2% to
HK$247.5 million (2014: HK$151.7 million). The increase
was mainly attributable to the growth in financing
guarantee income, interior decoration work income and
international trading income. The financing guarantee
services, logistics services, international trading business
and interior decoration work accounted for 10.9%,
3.1%, 29.3% and 56.7% of the total revenue respectively
(2014: 9.4%, 4.8%, 12.0% and 73.8%). Gross profit
increased by 24.0% year-on-year to HK$50.9 million,
whilst gross profit margin decreased from 27.0% to
20.6%. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
due to (i) the addition of the new international trading
business which has a relatively low gross profit margin,
but of significant contribution to the revenue; and (ii)
the decrease in gross profit margin of interior decoration
work. Though its contribution to the gross profit was

XK E R

PRGBS ERETAEMEER — T —F
BREENLELE(BREERLE]ER
KTBEETA%  B—NWNANFUAREIRFKEE
EREEHBEIS% A TMEEFIER
BEE - BERALFHALERRERE
R BFEZERAEHAERZERERE
PIEEE LR -UPEBRRERE LT
REMEATHEE | BABEZRE  PREP R
BNEEITREREEEAESERR
FEICFER -BENON RREAEEEERA
EEAPLEBKHMEH 2 ALMLCIHEB
BER T —NFHREEANEELBIZFE
£%9.9% - AR RE P BIFEIL i = M A E R
RBEE—ESBEREBEENELEERA
MRz # B BEBES SEP2EHT
e KR Fam RNPRAE 2 BiEtmE 2 &
M-ARFEN AEBCIEEREEERE BH
SRR ETFEABESETBE 2 E-
HpRER AAREEERRAES 2@
BESERRANEBHE UIEE— %
)12;'%0

RAFEE RAEBZWAZ2H63.2%
£247,500,0008 . (=% — M4 :
151,700,000 7C) - ZIE R EZH N RLE Z
RBRA-EREMHIRBBRARBEEREZ S KA
ERAB-MERERRYE WRKRS  HE
EHEBRERNEH TR MR AEE
10.9% *3.1% *29.3% %56.7% ( —Z — M
F DR AE94%  4.8%12.0%73.8%) °
£ F 4% F 1 HN24.0% 250,900,000 7T * M
EFMEH27.0% T K E20.6% c EF KT
DEZHRAOAEEFMAEBEREZE
FEBEHBAEEZEEMCBERE S EL:
FMZEANEMIREZERNETREAR -EE
HEEMBERMDER HUHBEERESED
HAEBEEME VARBEEBE BAH
TMEMEAREBERF 2 BE HITAEXR
REBEMHEERBIREESRAR A&
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Management Discussion and Analysis

yet limited, this international trading business however
is strategically valuable to our business for not only
strengthening our relationship with clients, it expands our
supply chain services and enhances our cash flow cycle.
The Group recorded a loss attributable to shareholders of
the Company of HK$80.2 million, representing a decline
in losses (2014: a loss of HK$90.3 million). The loss was
mainly due to the finance costs of 7.5% convertible
bonds and 8.0% coupon bonds issued on August 2013
and October 2014 respectively, the increased selling and
distribution costs and the administrative expenses. All
of the increased expenses however were in line with our
business growth.

Financing Guarantee Services

For the Year, the revenue of financing guarantee services
(including financing guarantee fee and consultancy fee)
recorded a significant increase of 88.9% to HK$27.0
million, with a high gross profit margin of over 90.0%.
Apart from offering a variety of traditional financing
solutions such as bank borrowing guarantee, trade
financing guarantee and financing consultancy services,
the Group strategically launched a financing guarantee

|u

services, namely “inventory-as-collateral”, to specifically
cater for the needs of SMEs in Shaanxi Province. With
the complete information flow captured from the
logistics services through Chinlink Logistics Management
Information System (“Chinlink LMIS"), the Group can
hence better manage and contain the business risks, whilst
also being able to seek for more financing demands from
the SMEs through the business data we collected. As such,
the Group’s business has been growing rapidly. Despite
the recent series of monetary easing, including reserve
ratio requirement and interest rate cuts, which has made
bank financing significantly more available to the general
public and has affected our business growth, the Group’s
outstanding guarantee portfolio increased to RMB342.0
million as at 31 March 2015 (2014: RMB300.7 million).
The Group has been in discussion with the domestic bank
partners, such as Chang’an Bank, China Minsheng Bank
and Shanghai Pudong Development Bank, for potentially

expansion of credit facilities.

HLW A i 15 A

[ £ 15 7K 2 7] X 3R FE 15 E5#880,200,000/% 7T
—PU4F : [E518 £ 90,300,000 7T ) » BN
BEARL ZEEDEEARSBIR-Z
—=FNARZE—WHETAET LT S5%H]
BRBEHFRSONELBEHF 2V HAA - HE
Ko SR AN A AT S DA ER - SR - FT
BRZEMEREEBERIER — o

BEERRS
RAFE BEERRBEA(BERE

ERELEMBE)HBSABIEKSS.9%
27,000,000t EEMER T BB
%o%o@kf%ﬁﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬁﬁﬁ(wm

BRITERER B2 E AR KM BERDR
%MM$%@ RESMEHEL —HE A [FEE
W] 2B EERRTES - AR RIEIBRAES
ANZFRNEZESTFR - BREBEYRRY
FREEFSYREEEANRG([EES S
MREBEMRE|) FIER 2 TEEBR -
AEEAEEEERESEBKRR MO H
HEBBRMEEzBESEEF NESHE
ZEEFT R A AEB 2 EBK—HIRIRE

R-BAOMELZ —RIEBRRBE (2
BRTHEFREBSXRMR)ESEBAR

FEHEDMBITRE FETAKE X/
R RZE—AF=ZA=+—"H £AEEHZ X
REEERAESEINZ ARKE342,000,0007T
(ZZF—m%F : AK¥300,700,00070) ° A&
E-HEREBRRITENY (MRZRT FEH
RESRTR EEBRERRIT) RATAEE X
EERMEREITHN -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B W Lo A

Logistics Services

The Group mainly provides warehousing and inventory
management services, logistics consultancy services and
other logistics related value-added services in building
materials trade and distribution centres in Shaanxi
Province. For the Year, the logistics services income of
the Group was HK$7.7 million (2014: HK$7.3 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.5%, and the
gross profit margin improved further to 73.8% (2014:
63.2%).

Interior Decoration Work

Revenue of interior decoration work rose 25.4% to
HK$140.4 million (2014: HK$111.9 million). The increase
was mainly attributable to certain major projects
contracted in prior year but substantially completed in the
first half of the Year. The segment’s gross profit margin
dropped by 3.5% to 13.8% this Year. The decline in gross
profit margin was mainly due to the increasing costs of
material and subcontracting fee. During the Year, the
Group has completed a total of 62 projects in Hong Kong
and Macau as compared with 71 projects in last year.

International Trading

The revenue from international trading recorded a
significant increase of 298.4% to HK$72.5 million during
the Year (2014: HK$18.2 million). In the later part of the
Year, the trading business expanded its products from
furniture and fixtures to consumer goods and electronic
components which contributed HK$68.4 million to the
revenue. This compensated the significant decrease in
trading of furniture and fixtures to HK$4.1 million during
the Year (2014: HK$18.2 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the consumers’ changing spending preferences
away from luxury items, and the growing tendency of
online purchasing. The Group expects that the luxury
consumption sector in Hong Kong and Macau will set for
further decline. As such, we are vigilant to the market
trend and are making preparation to potentially downsize
trading of this product. The gross profit margin of this
segment decreased from 20.0% to 1.7% as the trading
of consumer goods and electronic components have low
gross profit margin.

7% B 75
AEBTERRAEEN RS RO HEF O
RHERENTF ‘b“iﬁﬁ% )R o R AR 7 I

HtynAESERE -RAFEAN K&
Bz Wn iR A &7,700,0008 T (==
— P94 : 7,300,000 70) ' IR F B KES5.5%
MEFEKE—PRAZE73.8% (ZF—HF:
63.2% ) °

EREMH TR
ENEMHIB WA LFA25 4% =
140,400,000 0. (=& — I 4F :
111,900,000/ 70 ) ° ZIEMEZ TRV &
FEINZETAEBEEEEAFEL¥FRX
Bl D HEMETHRISNERFE
Z13.8% c EFIETBE I EZRAMBKAE
RN BRATEIEMAS - REAFERN - A&
EERE B RBMTHE *62EEE - A
FRA7IEEE -

HRE 5
REAFERN BIERES 2 W AEKIRE N
298.4%% 72,500,000 0 (—Z & — M4 :

18,200,000 L) - R AFE R ZEH
XBRBEERAGMREBEERZHAE
BEmhkETZMH L E R AGS,400,000%
Tt BAEARMEREEEZ ZIWMAREAFE
A8 N F& £4,100,0008 7L (—ZF — O &
18,200,000 7T) c B TIEEHHEEES
EEMBBETRERALEMBE AR
Figh e AEETBHEB LR CEEMBEETT
%H%EE—*/FT@ Eit NEEEZTISE
DRF[EBUEFBAEEREERES 2B
otk D& 2 EMFKBH20.0% FBEE1.7%

THREREERRETEHE B EAE
I -

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % it & L4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



\4

Management Discussion and Analysis

The ChinlinkeWorldport Project in Hanzhong City

The first phrase of ChinlinkeWorldport, with a site area
of approximately 330 mu (equivalent to approximately
220,000 square metres) has commenced the construction
work in December 2014, following the completion of land
tender in June 2014. Development plan for the first phrase
will include a total built area of approximately 240,000
square metres, comprising of a large scale building and
construction materials wholesale and retail market,
warehouse and logistics facilities, hotel and other ancillary
service facilities. In particular the Xi‘an Custom will also set
up a Hanzhong branch inside ChinlinkeWorldport, together
with custom bonded warehouse. This is the only custom
and bonded warehouse in the entire southern Shaanxi
Province to serve the nearby area. The Group has strong
confidence that Chinlink*Worldport will become a regional
trade and logistics hub for international and domestic
products in few years time in tandem with the project
progress.

Acquisition of a Company which indirectly owns the
Property (as defined below)

In February 2015, the Group entered into a conditional
sales and purchase agreement to acquire a company (the
“Target Company”) and its subsidiaries, which own
a plot of land of 58,698 square metres (the “Land”)
together with a commercial complex (“Commercial
Complex”, collectively, the “Property”) for interior
building materials, home improvement and furnishing
products known as the AR EZM RJEF L located in
the eastern part of Xi'an City. The Commercial Complex
has a total gross floor area of approximately 190,000
square metres comprising a seven-story building and two
basement floors. The Commercial Complex was completed
and commenced operation in April 2012. It currently
has a tenancy of approximately 600 wholesalers and
retailers for various types of home improvement products,
providing a one-stop shopping solutions for interior
project contractors, designers and home customers alike.
Occupancy rate of the Commercial Complex is constantly
over 90%. Total consideration of this acquisition is
HK$800.0 million, by acquiring the Target Company and it
owns 73.4% of two companies, which are the owner and
the operator of the Property. There are sufficient space for
the development of another commercial complex on the
Land by later stage.
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The Property will provide stable revenue stream and profit
to the Group. Moreover, the 600 plus tenants will provide
new customer base for the Group's finance and logistics
businesses. Given with the Group’s experience in handling
customers of same business lines in other logistics projects,
the management of the Company is confident in this new
acquisition and it will create synergy to the Group in years
ahead. The completion of acquisition is subject to certain
conditions precedent and is expected to completed by the
end of June 2015.

Details of the above acquisition transaction are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 18 February
2015, 10 April 2015, 30 April 2015 and 29 May 2015
respectively and the circular of the Company dated 6 May
2015.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Capital and Debts Structure

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had net assets of
HK$228.4 million (31 March 2014: HK$102.9 million)
representing a substantial increase of HK$125.5 million
as compared to that of 31 March 2014. The increase was
mainly attributable to the completion of the following
activities during the Year:

1. On 28 April 2014, the Company and Wealth
Keeper International Limited (“Wealth Keeper”)
(the major shareholder of the Company) entered
into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) pursuant to which Wealth Keeper
agreed to subscribe for a total of 350.0 million
new ordinary shares of the Company at the issue
price of HK$0.55 per share. The completion of
subscription took place on 26 June 2014 and the
Company received the net proceeds after deducting
the related expenses in connection with the
subscription amounted to approximately HK$192.2
million which was used for the repayment of
6.5% coupon bonds with the principal amount of
HK$190.5 million (the "6.5% Coupon Bonds")
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and the corresponding interest during the Year.
The warrants with the same principal amount
of the 6.5% Coupon Bonds previously granted
was lapsed according to the terms thereof. The
closing price of the Company’s shares quoted on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) on the last trading date before
entering into the Subscription Agreement which
was 28 April 2014, was HK$0.53 per share.

2. On 29 July 2014, Chinlink Hong Kong Company
Limited (“Chinlink (HK)"), a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and Hong Kong Logistics
Technology & System Limited (“LTS") entered into
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) to an agreement (the “Agreement”)
dated 14 May 2013 for the development of
Chinlink LMIS pursuant to which the contract sum
of the Agreement was revised down from HK$13.2
million to HK$6.8 million (of which HK$4.0 million
was paid by the Company in previous year by the
issue of the 8,010,303 consideration shares in
accordance with the Agreement) and that Chinlink
(HK) would pay the remaining HK$2.8 million by
procuring the Company by allotting and issuing
5,656,566 consideration shares at the issue price
of HK$0.495 per share to LTS in recognition of the
services rendered by LTS to the Group up to the
date of the Supplemental Agreement. Accordingly,
5,656,566 consideration shares were issued on
4 August 2014 to LTS. The closing price of the
Company’s shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the last trading date before entering into the
Supplemental Agreement which was 29 July 2014,
was HK$0.68 per share.
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The financial impact on the net assets of the Group NEESHARE EEFEEE CMBT
arising from the above activities was partially offset by the BRXDOWEAEERAFTE 2L EFEIBIEE-

operating loss of the Group during the Year.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the share B EXFIEBEEN RAEERAFEAL
capital structure during the Year. mEEE-
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In addition to the above activities, on 1 September 2014,
the Company entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent under best
effort basis in relation to placement of 8.0% coupon
bonds (the “8.0% Coupon Bonds”) with principal
amount of up to HK$300.0 million. The 8.0% Coupon
Bonds are unsecured, repayable on the day falling on the
second anniversary of the issue date and interest bearing
at 8.0% per annum, details of which are set out in the
announcement made by the Company on 1 September
2014.

On 15 October 2014 and 31 October 2014, the placing of
the first batch of the 8.0% Coupon Bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$71.0 million (“First Batch
Bonds”) and second batch of the 8.0% Coupon Bonds in
the principal amount of HK$129.0 million (“Second Batch
Bonds"”) has taken place respectively and the Company
had issued the First Batch Bonds and Second Batch Bonds
in the principal amount of HK$71.0 million and HK$129.0
million to independent placees procured by the placing
agent pursuant to the Placing Agreement, details of which
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
15 October 2014 and 31 October 2014, respectively.
The net proceeds were used for the repayment of other

borrowing of the Group.

As at 31 March 2015, the total borrowings of the Group
(including the bank overdraft, bank and other borrowings
and obligations under finance leases) amounted to
HK$12.7 million (31 March 2014: HK$58.5 million)
of which approximately HK$10.3 million (31 March
2014: HK$58.1 million) was repayable within one year,
representing a decrease of HK$45.8 million. The decrease
was mainly due to the repayment of other borrowing of
HK$45.0 million in April 2014. 55.6% of the Group’s
borrowings as at 31 March 2015 were at floating rate
(31 March 2014: 21.9%).
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Hence, the foreign

All the borrowings were

currency risk exposure from it was minimal.

B EEBIN RZFE—WFALA—A
RAAFHEEEREITVEE H:a ([BEH
Bl NAEBRENEERERSERS
30000000&%7328O%ZVD,\%<f80%
EEEF]) - BO%REEEBEHFAEER AR
BITAMEZE_EABEFEH EE’I&#
FRO%sH B EFHBHEHNARAN ZZE—I1
FARA—BHEZA M-

RZE—WOFEF+A+HEBERZ-ZZTE—OF
TA=+—H EDRREASHEEAR
71,000,0008 T 25— #t8.0% E B & %
(IF—#EH]) RA£% /129,000,000
BLZE M ONEEESF ([E-H#E
%) MAREEMHRESKERER
EHEREZBYARAZTASE A
71,000,000/ 7T % 129,000,000/ Tt 2 55 —

Mﬁ%&%‘%ﬁ%'ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%K“_
WO R—FT-—NF+ATRAR=-F—NO
¢+H*+—HZ N TS RIRFERR DA

REEARB 2 HEMER-

—ET-RF=-A=t+—H AKEZRE
k(ﬁ%ﬂﬁLE RIT R H A B KA K @b
B E#AIE) 512,700,000 L (=T — MW
i:ﬁ:+—a-%5mnw%m%$$
#310,300,0008 T (ZE—WMF=A=+—
H :58,100,000/8 L) AR —FRNEE  HBE
Rk 245,800,000 L e ZBM AP EEBRR =
T — Y40 A (8 b & 545,000,000/ 7T
Fiie- M- E—RHFE=ZA=+—0 &X&EH
B#H2556% (ZE—MFE=A=+—8:
21.9% ) BIRFB ARG B - FTBERHE
Tt E B ERINERBREN -

X

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % it & L4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



\4

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2015 was 0.75
(31 March 2014: 0.85) which was calculated based on
the Group's total liabilities of HK$683.6 million (31 March
2014: HK$604.7 million) and the Group's total assets of
HK$912.0 million (31 March 2014: HK$707.6 million).

Working Capital

The current ratio decreased from 1.97 at 31 March 2014
to 1.19 at 31 March 2015 which was mainly due to the
investment in ChinlinkeWorldport by spending cash of
HK$244.4 million and reclassification of 7.5% convertible
bonds of HK$294.5 million from non-current liabilities to
current liabilities as at 31 March 2015.

Contingent Liabilities and Charges

Save as disclosed in note 44 of the consolidated financial
statements on pages 206 and 207 of this annual report,
the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group placed pledged bank
deposit of HK$344.6 million to certain banks as securities
in return for the banks to provide loans to the Group’s
financing guarantee services customers. Other than that,
the Group pledged its assets with carrying values of
HK$4.0 million and HK$16.9 million to secure obligations

under finance leases and banking facilities, respectively.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had capital commitments
contracted but not provided for in respect of the
development of ChinlinkeWorldport. Details of the
commitment are set out in note 41 of the consolidated

financial statements on page 202 of this annual report.
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Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group's revenue and expenses are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), Renminbi
("RMB") and United States dollars (“US$"). The pledged
bank deposit of HK$344.6 million is denominated in
RMB and certain bank deposits are dominated in RMB
or US$. Other monetary assets and liabilities are mainly
denominated in HK$, RMB and US$. During the Year, the
exchange rate of RMB to HK$ was stable. Further as US$ is
pegged to HK$, the Directors considered that the foreign

currency risk of the Group is relatively limited.

Final Dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2015, the Group employed 43 and
93 employees in Hong Kong and China, respectively
(31 March 2014: 41 employees in Hong Kong and 18
employees in China). The employees are remunerated
based on their performance and working experience,
taking into account the prevailing market conditions.
Discretionary performance bonus may be given to
employees of outstanding performance depending on
the financial performance of the Group. Also, certain
employees are eligible to be granted share options under
the Company’s share option scheme at the discretion of
the Board. Other employee benefits include mandatory

provident fund, medical and training programs.
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PROSPECTS

The Group's business positioning is a supply chain financial
logistics service provider in China. With a solid logistics
customer base built in the past two years, which comprises
mostly of SMEs in China, the Group’s main target in the
coming year is to expand its financial offerings to these
SMEs who are still largely deprived of fair and equal
opportunities to access financial assistance and services

from the banks.

In May 2015, the Group has obtained a license to establish
a wholly foreign-owned finance lease company from the
Shaanxi Province Business Bureau. Finance lease business
has a huge market potential especially from the SMEs,
for their investment in plant and machinery for capacity
expansion and productivity upgrade. This will be a
strategic extension of the Group's financial products. The
Group targets to kick off this finance lease business before
end of 2015.

The Group is also expanding into internet based internet
finance market. On 4 June 2015, the Group has entered
into a letter of investment intent to participate as a
minority partner in P2P financing platform based in
Shenzhen, the PRC. This platform mainly caters for the
SMEs and private individuals in China who have short
term funding requirements which are not easily available
from traditional financing institutions like banks or even
small credit companies. On the other hand, because of
the high Chinese household saving rate and the absence
of proper investment opportunity in the China capital
market, there are individual investors looking for higher

yields and are willing to take on credit risks. Under such
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circumstance, private lending amongst families, friends,
business associates and other relationship networks has
always been an alternative financing means. With China's
rapid growing internet populations and mobile internet
penetration, P2P online financing injects fresh impetus into
the private lending business.

Basically P2P is an online information intermediary to
match with the investor and borrower needs. It is also
responsible for the verification of the borrower identity,
performs credit checking and provides credit models
for loan approval and pricing, and the subsequent loan
administration and servicing etc. All these services are
provided on a successful fee basis.

The China internet P2P lending market has experienced
phenomenal growth since 2010, mainly driven by the large
funding needs from private individuals and SMEs who are
largely neglected by traditional financial institutions. Until
this moment, there is no industry regulation policies, the
P2P lending industry is currently in a state of spontaneous
development, driven by market forces. Nevertheless, the
current Chinese administration puts a lot of emphasis on
the implementation of an “inclusive financing system” ( &
H&£ @), aiming to provide fair and equal opportunity to
access financial services to all walks of people, including
individuals and SMEs. Also the Chinese Government is
heavily promoting the national development strategy of
“Internet +”, encourages the implementation of internet
technology in conventional industries, including financial
services. It is believed that P2P type of internet financing
should entitle priority treatment under the nation’s
strategic development plan, allowing huge potential for
the industry to flourish.

Expanding into the internet financing is a highly
strategic move of the Group to be a forerunner under
the mega trend. Also it allows the Group to offer more
comprehensive solutions to cater for different financing
needs. With the matured and growing logistics customer
base in Xi‘an City and the ChinlinksWorldport coming to
operation later the year, there will be new and diversified
funding needs, hence the participation in P2P will provide
a timely alternative.

BB PPRLBMERILAEEERIATD
jj o

PPEA LA AR LEMENUNELHIRE
ENBEEZHFE R -ANAEREREES
D BUIEEZEREREEEANUEER
HAENEE URHEEZEREEMRBE -
FrB % ERIG IR W & B R -

TR EBBPPEEMSE T —TFUK
BERBEERR IBXBERSREEMR
BzhE@EREERTNEZRAESFRME
B HEERAERBITREERR P2PEETT
XBRRERN—ERmE N ERS 2 B ARR
ME-EE REFEEEERIEEER
(BB SERSRFREARTNEER
ZETEANIRFEEBSAERTEHEZ SRR
g e i FRIBTRIEER S [ TR
B+ | cBAREBERRE IBERSRRBE
W2 BHRITEMITER BRI - BEP2PEE
fERE R ERRREERTE T ESE
THG EMAZTEREREXRERE-

BREERECHANEE Y AR
#SHMBERABE T2 £ITE - 1o
HTEALERHELERATRIADE
TR 2 B T o o B2 7 22 A 9 TS B 4
EZMREFERREED S -t RBRAE
REBEABE BEFNRSHEESES
R b 2 BP2PY 2 4t — (I R By 2 (KR 42 -

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % it & L4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



\4

Management Discussion and Analysis

On 17 June 2015, the Group also entered into a
memorandum of understanding with a duty free
retail operator in Hong Kong to set up a cross-border
e-commerce joint venture to promote online sales of duty
free affordable luxury goods of international brands to
the Chinese consumers, who is the world’s largest online
consumers with strong demand for foreign consumer
goods of reliable quality and standards. Our partner who
will hold 45.0% of the joint venture is one of the three
authorized duty free operators in Hong Kong who enjoys
a large range of official travel retail distribution rights
from over 90 international brands suppliers. Being one
of the priority China policies to rationalize cross-border
e-commerce and the promotion of internal consumption
through the new import tax scheme, we are confident
this new e-commerce joint venture to be launched before
end of 2015 will be a successful extension of the Group's
e-commerce business.

Looking ahead, the Group will continuously seek business
development opportunities for our new development
plans, as well as lay a solid foundation for our existing
businesses in the future, creating further synergy across
each of our business segments whilst expanding our
revenue base. We are confident that our business growth
momentum and future development will enable the Group

to achieve maximum returns for our shareholders.
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Directors and Senior Management

EREhFABEEANR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Weibin (“Mr. Li"), aged 45, joined the Group
as an executive Director on 27 January 2012 and was
re-designated as Chairman and Managing Director of
the Company on 18 February 2012. He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Applied Electronics from Xi‘an Technological
University and an Executive MBA from Xi'an Jiaotong
University. Since early 2000, He has been engaged in
research, production and sales of electronic components
and materials, computer software and hardware as well as
research and sales of computer related equipment. He has
also been engaged in property development, planning and
sales and property management, other property related
investments, cultural and entertainment businesses. He has
also established a number of private companies engaged
in research, production and sales of electronic components
and computer software and property development in
Beijing, Xi‘an and Hong Kong.

Mr. SIU Wai Yip (“Mr. Siu”), aged 59, joined the Group
as an executive Director on 27 January 2012. He holds
a Bachelor of Arts Degree from The University of Hong
Kong. He has over 13 years’ of experience in banking and
finance and previously held senior positions in various
major international banks, with specialization in trade
finance and corporate banking. Prior to joining the Group,
he was appointed as an executive director of Matsunichi
Communication Holdings Limited (now known as Goldin
Properties Holdings Limited, stock code: 283) from January
2005 to February 2006. He was an executive director
of Vincent Intertrans (Holdings) Limited (now known as
Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited,
stock code: 563) from July 1998 to May 1999. The shares
of these two companies are listed on the Main Board of

the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. LAM Suk Ling, Shirley ("Ms. Lam”), aged 48,
joined the Group as a Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary on 27 January 2012 and was appointed as
an executive Director on 18 February 2012. She holds
a Master Degree in Business Administration from The
University of Adelaide, Australia and a Bachelor Degree
in Science from Murdoch University, Western Australia.
She is qualified as a Certified Public Accountant of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. She has
over 20 years' of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining the Group, she
was an executive director of Jackin International Holdings
Limited (now known as AMCO United Holding Limited,
stock code: 630), a company which shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2010 to
December 2011. She also worked for various international

audit firms and listed companies.
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Directors and Senior Management

EREhFABEEANR

Mr. LAU Chi Kit (“Mr. Lau”), aged 70, joined the
Group as an independent non-executive Director on
18 February 2012 and was re-designated as executive
Director on 18 September 2013. He retired from The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
("HSBC”) in December 2000 after more than 35 years'
of service. Among the major positions in HSBC, he was
the Assistant General Manager and Head of Personal
Banking Hong Kong and Assistant General Manager and
Head of Strategic Implementation, Asia-Pacific Region.
He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers
("Institute”). He was the chairman of the Institute’s
Executive Committee (from January 1999 to December
2000) and is currently the Honorary Advisor of the
Institute’s Executive Committee. He served as a member
on a number of committees appointed by the Government
of Hong Kong, including the Advisory Council on the
Environment (from October 1998 to December 2001), the
Advisory Committee on Human Resources Development
in the Financial Services Sector (from June 2000 to May
2001), the Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee
of the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(from January 2000 to December 2003), the Environment
and Conservation Fund Committee (from August 2000
to October 2006), the Innovation and Technology
Fund (Environment) Projects Vetting Committee (from
January 2000 to December 2004) and the Law Reform
Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee (from February
1990 to March 2006). He also served as the chairman of
the Business Environment Council Ltd. (from September
1998 to December 2001). Currently, he is also an
independent non-executive director of Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509), Highlight
China 10T International Limited (stock code: 1682), Leoch
International Technology Limited (stock code: 842) and
Royale Furniture Holdings Limited (stock code: 1198),
these companies of which shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. FUNG Sau Mui ("Ms. Fung”), aged 59, joined the
Group in 1976. She was resigned as director of finance
and administration as well as chief financial officer
of the Group with effect from 18 February 2012. She
was an executive Director and re-designated as a non-
executive Director on 18 February 2012. She has over 33
years' experience in financial management, accounting,
costing, material sourcing and purchasing, and personnel

management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), aged 76, joined
the Group as an independent non-executive Director on 17
December 2013. He is a former member of the Legislative
Council (1996-2012), a former Hong Kong Deputy to the
10th & 11th National People’s Congress and the past
President of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (1987-
1988). He holds a Doctorate degree in Civil Engineering
from the City University of London, United Kingdom, an
Honorary Doctorate of Business Administration from the
City University of Hong Kong, an Honorary Doctorate of
Laws from the University of Manchester, United Kingdom,
a Postgraduate Diploma in Geotechnical Engineering
from the University of Manchester, United Kingdom and
a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from the University of
Hong Kong. He is currently the Chairman of Guangdong
Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and LingAo Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee. He is also a former Board
Member of the Airport Authority Hong Kong and the
former Chairman of the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council Infrastructure Development Advisory Committee.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of
China State Construction International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3311), GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800) and Deson Development International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 262). The shares of these
three companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

EREMFABEEANR

Ms. LAl Ka Fung, May (“Ms. Lai"), aged 49, joined the
Group as an independent non-executive Director on 18
February 2012. She obtained a Master Degree of Arts
in International Accounting from The City University of
Hong Kong in 2001. She has been a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999
and is a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2003. She is the sole proprietor of
May K. F. Lai & Co., Certified Public Accountant, and
has been engaged in the audit field for more than 20
years. Currently, she is also an independent non-executive
director of Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (stock code:
887), a company which shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. CHAN Sim Ling, Irene (“Ms. Chan”), aged 52,
joined the Group as an independent non-executive
Director on 18 February 2012. She graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws Degree
in 1985. She is a retired solicitor with over 15 years’
of experience serving as an independent non-executive
director of listed companies. Currently, she is also an
independent non-executive director of See Corporation
Limited (stock code: 491). She was also an independent
non-executive director of Emperor Entertainment Hotel
Limited (stock code: 296) from May 1998 to August 2013
and New Media Group Holdings Limited (now known as
Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited, stock code:
708) from November 2013 to March 2015. The shares of
these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LEE Wing Yan, Joanne (“Ms. Lee"), aged 39, joined
the Group as a Corporate Development Director on 17
October 2011. She holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
She also obtained a Bachelor Degree in Business Studies
from The City University of Hong Kong and graduated with
first class honors. She has over 10 years’ of marketing and
business development experience in consumer electronics
and IT industries. Prior to joining the Group, she served
as a Visiting Fellow in The City University of Hong Kong
Department of Marketing from July 2008 to October
2011. Her teaching areas included Strategic Marketing,
Relationship Marketing and Services Marketing.

Mr. MAG Chiu Fai ("Mr. Mag”), aged 40, joined the
Group on 26 March 2012 and is the Financial Controller
of the Group. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is qualified
as a Certified Public Accountant of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and is the Fellow of
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has
over 15 years’ of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining the Group, he was
a Senior Accounting Manager of Nan Hai Corporation
Limited (stock code: 680), a company which shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
November 2005 to July 2010. He also worked for two

international audit firms.
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The Company is dedicated to maintaining good standard
of corporate governance as it believes that corporate
governance practices are fundamental to the smooth
and effective operation of a company and can enhance
shareholders’ value as well as safeguard shareholders’
interests.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange for the year ended 31
March 2015, save as certain deviations disclosed herein.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as
its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility
to the executive Directors and senior management who
perform their duties under the leadership of the Managing
Director.
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The Board currently comprises eight Directors including
four executive Directors, a non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors. The number
of independent non-executive Directors represents one-
third of the Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. The list of the Directors and their biographical
details are set out in the “Directors and Senior

Management” section of this annual report.

The Board meets regularly four times a year, i.e. at
approximately quarterly intervals. During the Year, the
Board convened a total of four regular meetings and the
attendance of the Directors are as follows:
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EXeBFOdROREHER ANES
BR-R-NAFE EFSAARNRE
Hes B 2HERNAT:

Number of
attendance/
Name Eligible to attend
HE/
i BEREERE
Executive Directors
BITEE
Mr. Li Weibin (Chairman and Managing Director) 3/4
FEMAE (LTEREFHLLIE)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip 4/4
REELEE
Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley 4/4
ORI 2+
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 4/4
BB HEE
Non-executive Director
HFHITEF
Ms. Fung Sau Mui 4/4
e+
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUIFHITEE
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 4/4
fERE L
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May 4/4
REB R+
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene 4/4
PRI 2+
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For all such meetings, notice of regular Board meetings is
given to all Directors at least 14 days before meeting and
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters
in the agenda for discussion at the Board meetings. The
agenda and meeting materials are normally sent to all
Directors at least three days before the regular Board
meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company. In addition to
the regular Board meetings, the chairman of the Board
met with the non-executive Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) without the presence
of the executive Directors.

All Directors have direct access to the company secretary
of the Company who is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance and compliance issues as well as
taking the minutes of the Board and committee meetings.
Such minutes are open for inspection by the Directors.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business and family relationship among members
of the Board.

The Board oversees the overall management and
operations of the Company. Major responsibilities include
approving the Company's overall business, financial and
technical strategies, setting key performance targets,
approving budgets and overseeing the performance of
management.

Ms. Fung Sau Mui, a non-executive Director, and Ms.
Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene, the
independent non-executive Directors, have letters of
appointment with the Company for a specified period of
one year. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, an independent
non-executive Director, has a letter of appointment with
the Company for a fixed term of service for three years.
All of them are subject to retirement and rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-Laws"”).
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Pursuant to bye-law 87 of the Bye-Laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. All retiring

Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws provided that (i) any
director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company, and (ii) any director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the following annual general meeting of
the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting.

The emolument payable to Directors is determined by the
Board with reference to the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee’s recommendation as well as the Directors’
duties and responsibilities and the prevailing market
conditions.

The Company has received annual written confirmation
of independence from all independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board considers them to be independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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The attendance of the Directors at the special general
meeting and annual general meeting of the Company held
on 23 June 2014 and 26 September 2014, respectively, are

as follows:

Name

"H&

EERARADHIR-_FT-—TNFA=-+=

BEZZE-—MFEFAAZ+ARARITZRRRE
IREMBRRBEFRGZHFEERNT:

Number of attendance/
Eligible to attend
HE/AEREERE

Special General
Meeting
BRERGE RS

Annual General
Meeting
BREFARE

Executive Directors

HiTEE

Mr. Li Weibin (Chairman and Managing Director)
PEEEE (TEREFLLIE)

Mr. Siu Wai Yip

mMEEEE

Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley

ORI &+

Mr. Lau Chi Kit

BEHEE

Non-executive Director
FNITEF

Ms. Fung Sau Mui
HFEE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BUIHHTEF

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
fERE L

Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May

REBL L

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene
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Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires the
independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should
attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Ms. Fung
Sau Mui, a non-executive Director, and Dr. Ho Chung
Tai, Raymond, an independent non-executive Director,
were unable to attend the special general meeting of
the Company held on 23 June 2014 due to their other
business engagements. Mr. Siu Wai Yip, an executive
Director, was unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 26 September 2014 due to
other business engagements relating to the Company's

operations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company deviates
from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li
Weibin is the chairman and the managing director of the
Company (the Company regards the role of its managing
director to be the same as that of chief executive under
the CG Code). The Board considered that the non-
segregation would not result in considerable concentration
of power in one person and has the advantage of a strong
and consistent leadership which is conducive to making

and implementing decisions quickly and consistently.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the Company provides regular updates
on the business performance of the Group to the
Directors. The Directors are continually updated on the
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance

and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The Company has devised a training record in order
to assist the Directors to record the training they have
undertaken and they are asked to submit a signed training
record to the Company on annual basis.

During the Year, each individual Director has attended
training courses or workshops or reading materials
relevant to his/her professional and/or duties as Director.
A summary of the training they have received for the year
ended 31 March 2015 is as follow:

ARFHBEFSTHETLER BUE
B3 A A R R o M YRR R
HEFEEHMEREEES - KATRE
SR A E F R RS2 E Y
YR UBREEFFARARARRLE
2y Eiigg.

RAFER FERNEECHEAFHEEER
SREREE BB ZIBIIRER AT S L
BIEME - ERBE_TS—RAF=A=+—
BUEFEREZEIMELT

Course/Seminar
provided/

accredited by Reading

Name Professional Body materials
EXHBRY

RAzRE
% & maE REM B
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Li Weibin (Chairman and Managing Director) - v
FEEEE (LTEREFRLSTE)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip - v
mEXRRE
Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley v v
MOR¥E £
Mr. Lau Chi Kit - v
BEHEE
Non-executive Director
HFHITEF
Ms. Fung Sau Mui - v
HEEgR L
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUIFBITEE
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond v v
fERE L
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May v v
RRBLL
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene v v
BRIEIC &+
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Ms. Lai Ka Fung,
May, possesses appropriate professional qualifications
in finance and accounting and meets the requirements
of Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. All of the
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors and none of them are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the internal control and financial
reporting matters and made recommendations to the
Board. The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year
with management and external auditor and reviews their

reports.
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Members of the Audit Committee and the attendance of REAFERN EREZEGZKERKEHE
members during the Year are as follows: EIR
Number of
attendance/
Name Eligible to attend
HE &R
mE R RE
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May (Chairman) 3/3
RRELZLT (F/E)
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 3/3
fERE L
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene 3/3
BRIEIC &L+
During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the RAEREAN BREZEGRITUTERE

following duties:

(a)

reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2014 and the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2014 with

recommendation to the Board for approval,

reviewed reports on internal control system
covering financial, corporate governance, internal
control, operational and risk management functions
and approved the decisions regarding set up of an
internal audit function and the appointment of the
Head of Internal Audit; and

considered the independent auditors’ independence
and fee in relation to the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2014, the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2014 and non-
audit related services.

ENAKSBERE_T-—NOF=A
ST HLFEZRERGRAVBR
ZRAEEBE_T-—NFAA=T
BIEAREAZ REEZTBGEATH
WER WEBREESHME:

EHRENH ©EER NEER.
mE R E R E R AR RS E
HE MU EARBRL AR EAZ B
RIABEZBEZRTE R

EZEBURBM2BIERBEHEASE
BEBEE_ZT-—NMF=A=+—HItF
BZRECGAMBRER AEEH
ETZ-WUFEAA=THILEREAZ
ABEZTHEEMBEHRELIFER
EERBZER-
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the audit and non-audit fees payable/
paid to external auditors was made up of an audit fee
of approximately HK$1.2 million and a non-audit related
service fee of approximately HK$1.3 million. The latter

included taxation service and professional service.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The terms of
reference of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualification, skills, knowledge
and length of service. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
and the attendance of members during the Year are as
follows:

Name

w#

RAFEAN REMFHEZE G ZKE KK
BHFEEMT:

Number of
attendance/
Eligible to attend
HES
BEREERY

Executive Director
HITEE

Mr. Siu Wai Yip
mMEXREE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHITEE

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (Chairman)
EREL (£/E)

Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May

REB R+

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene

PR IBIS 22 +

During the Year, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service)
of the Board and made recommendations on
suitable changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

(b) assessed the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors; and

(c) reviewed the remuneration packages or fees
(including salary adjustments) of the executive
Directors, non-executive Director and the
independent non-executive Directors and senior
management with recommendations to the Board
for approval.

1Al

11

VAl

1Al

RAEER RELFMZESEETUT
BE:

(a) BN EFENEE ABRKES T
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Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and members
of senior management of the Company by band for the
year ended 31 March 2015 are disclosed in the notes 11
and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate

governance duties as set out below:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior

management;

(0) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged insurance cover to indemnify
Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in
the execution and discharge of their duties or in relation
thereto.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective internal control system of the Group to safeguard

the Company’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

The Group's internal control system includes an
organizational structure with clearly defined responsibility
and authority. Policies and procedures were established
to govern business operations and internal controls to
be implemented as management intends. Budgeting and
performance measuring criteria were also established by
the management for its day-to-day monitoring of business
operations. The management prepares monthly reports to

the Board on the Group’s performance.

The Group conducts business based on the principles
of fairness, honesty and integrity and is committed to
the highest level of standards of ethical behavior and
accountability. Its Code of Conduct sets out the important
principles and expectations of appropriate business
conduct to ensure the Group’s employees’ compliance
with the code. The Group’s whistleblowing policy
enables a transparent working environment and provides
guideline to all employees the procedures to disclose
any misconduct, malpractice or irregularity of which they

become aware.

During the Year, the Board has conducted annual review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Group including the relevant financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management procedures and
has delegated to the management the implementation
of such systems of internal controls. The management
throughout the Group maintains and monitors the internal

control system on an ongoing basis.

A &P B 12
EFeREMHIFASEEEZ AR ZAI
EEIRHIE  VREARRRZEERREF R -

AEBEzAMERFERE -—ELGRER
B NER Z EEARE - AREGIEBRR TR
EFIREEEEMNEGEFAEEANKHE
MIBEEEEMAIES -EEENGIE T E
BRERBRENETEREECARER
RESEEEERARBZAREBAETHRES
EREAERE -

AEERRF RERLHARNEEEHL
HOARRFBREKF2BRITAMEEREL -
HOATAHIHEERREBRI/RTZ
EZRAINRHE URERAKENE T BT
BUETRl - AKE 2z BRBRAREHR—EZE
PN TERRELSABEERBEBRSNE
ZERAHETR RPZBTHTEERR
RENERFES -

RAREER EFQCUAEE 2 ABIEE
%IJF% ﬁxﬁli&ﬁif‘*ﬁﬁ BRABYE-
BB REE R ERRERF WEIKE
@iﬂﬁﬁ%m*ﬁﬁ# R -NEBEZEE
EREAERMNERNEEEHE-

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % it & L4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



The Board also reviewed and was satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
the employees of the Group’s accounting and financial

reporting function.

Furthermore, the Group has established its internal audit
function during the Year. The internal audit function
reports directly to the Audit Committee of the Board
and aims at assisting the Board in fostering quality
and continuous improvement of the Company’s risk
assessment and internal controls processes.

The internal audit function’s main responsibilities include

the followings:

(a) independently review and evaluate the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of risk management
and internal control systems regarding the financial,
compliance and operational performance and

safeguarding of assets;

(b) facilitate management in identification of risks,
and development of risk mitigation and monitoring
strategies as part of the risk management
framework;

(c) monitor operational compliance with the Group’s

established policies and procedures; and

(d) provide advices to the management and conduct
special reviews in specific areas concerned by the
management in addition to the planned audit
activities.

The internal audit function carries out assessment based
on the internal audit annual plan approved by the Audit
Committee.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors, having
made appropriate enquiries, are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors
have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a

going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the auditor to the shareholders are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages

77 to 79 in this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Lam Suk
Ling, Shirley, the company secretary of the Company,
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2015.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Board endeavours to communicate with shareholders

through annual and other general meetings directly.

The Board is committed to providing clear and full
information of the Group to shareholders through the
publication of announcements, circulars, interim and
annual reports. Updated information of the Group is also

available to shareholders through the Company’s website.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings
of the Company at which Directors are available to answer

shareholders’ questions.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for convening a special general meeting by

shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene a special general meeting (the “SGM") of the
Company. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
may send a written request to the Board to request for the
SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and
must be deposited at the Company's head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 7/F, Two
Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong
or at the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the shareholders concerned
would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the
“Companies Act”) once a valid requisition is received.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at

general meetings

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a
proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for

consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(a) any number of members representing not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of the

Company on the date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than 100 members holding shares in the

Company.
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The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred
to in the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong
at 7/F., Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central,
Hong Kong or at the Company's branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited,
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong. The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangements, and the shareholders
concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies
Act once valid documents are received.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than
a retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the shareholder should follow the "Procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company”, which can be found on the
website of the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and
concerns to the Board in writing via the following channel:

The Company Secretary

Chinlink International Holdings Limited
7/F., Two Exchange Square

8 Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

E-mail: shirleylam@chinlinkint.com
Telephone: (852) 2168 0777

Facsimile: (852) 2168 0780

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Active implementation of corporate social responsibility
is always one of the Group's prime works. The Group
believes it does not only strengthen the Group's business
practice, but also demonstrates the Group’s accountability
and transparency. Details of the Group’s initiatives are set
out under four subjects: (A) Community Involvement, (B)
Environmental Protection, (C) Operating Practices, and (D)
Workplace Quality.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
Supporting charities

The Group participated in Dress Casual Day 2014 of
The Community Chest of Hong Kong. In addition to the
Company’s contribution, the Group’s colleagues also
contributed to the donation which can be used to help
funding charitable projects for The Community Chest of
Hong Kong.

The Group participated in “Made-in-Hong Kong” Paper
Mache Panda Exhibition and sponsored to produce two
special editions of “Paper Mache Panda” with the use
of recyclable materials, in support of environmental
protection and care of underprivileged children. Despite
donating to the WWF-Hong Kong, sponsoring the
making of Paper Mache Panda, the donation will in turn
sponsor another Paper Mache Panda to be created by

underprivileged children.

The Group donated HK$20,000 for the health forum
on Alzheimer's Disease held by the Dashun Policy
Research Centre. The objectives of the Forum were to
raise awareness of Alzheimer’s disease, to provide some
information on the common symptoms, the prevention,
community support service to Alzheimer patients and

caregivers.

As a socially responsible company, the Group will continue
to contribute to different kinds of charitable activities in

Hong Kong.
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Motivating participation

During the Year, the Group was awarded the Caring
Company Logo 2014/15 from The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service. The Group encourages its staff to fulfill
the corporate citizenship through sharing knowledge,
resources and technology and by giving back and caring
for those in need. The Group builds meaningful and long-
term relationships with many social entities to support
positive change in the communities in which we live and

work.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Reducing Carbon Emissions

During the Year, the Group has implemented several
measures to reduce the emission of greenhouse gas,
for instance, use recycled paper and Forest Stewardship
Council certified paper, collection of used paper for
recycling, installation of energy-conserving devices and
sensory faucets and so forth in Hong Kong head office.
With the prevailing importance of slowing down global
climate change, the Group will continue to take up the
responsibility of environmental protection. A certificate
was presented to the Group, being one of the 64 listed
companies, in recognition of the first-mover contributions
and efforts in auditing the carbon footprints and disclosing
the carbon data through the Carbon Footprint Repository
("CFR"”) on 15 December 2014. CFR was developed
by the Environment Bureau which enables Hong Kong
listed companies to disclose their carbon footprints and
share successful stories on their carbon management and

practices on a voluntary basis.

Compliance with environmental protection regulations

The Group aims to comply with the applicable laws and
regulations relating to environmental protection in the
countries where the Group conducts businesses.
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Use of Resources

In order to create a green working environment, green
planting are decorated in office to promote green space

and visual comfort.

Colleagues are encouraged to use resources efficiently,
for example, minimizing use of paper and recycling
programme of red pocket.

OPERATING PRACTICES

Anti-corruption

The Group gives special importance of anti-corruption
practices to maintain a fair and efficient business
and working environment. According to the Group's
Employees’ Handbook, employees are prohibited to
request or accept any advantage which could affect
employees’ objectivity or induce employee to act against

the best interest of the Group or the Group’s clients.

Whistleblowing

The Group has launched a whistleblowing policy to
encourage employees to disclose any misconduct,
malpractice or irregularity of which they become aware.
The policy enables a transparent working environment and

provides guideline and procedures to all employees.

WORKPLACE QUALITY
Working Conditions

Competitive remuneration and other fringe benefits
including comprehensive insurance are offered to
employees and reviewed individually on an annual
basis reflecting each employee’s work performance,

contributions and market developments.

Equal opportunities in recruitment, internal transfer and

promotion are granted.
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Health and Safety

The Group supports good work-life balance. Staff are
encouraged to take part in charitable and recreational
activities. For example, in participating the “Paper Mache
Panda” event, the Group did not only show its concern
to the environment and underprivileged children, but also

successfully strengthen the bonding amongst colleagues.

Provide daily fresh fruit to staff and to ensure hygienic
working conditions, regular cleaning of air-conditioning
systems and disinfection treatment of carpets are carried

out at regular intervals.

Development and Training

Encourage continuous learning and support employees to
attend job related training courses or professional seminars

through sponsoring and/or granting them.

Labour Standards

The management of the Group encourage a culture of
diversity and promote equal opportunities, and aims to
create a respectful, fair and safe working environment
for employees of all business units and complies with all

statutory requirements.

Different forms of communication channels, including
internal newsletters and face-to-face interview, are in place
to hear voices of employees, and their needs are properly

addressed.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2015 are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on page 80 of this

annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2015 is provided in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

ANALYSIS OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The sales to the top five customers for the Year amounted
to HK$152.6 million, representing an increase of 90.5%
from HK$80.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2014.
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The top five customers in the Year represented
approximately 61.7% of the total revenue as compared
to approximately 52.8% for the year ended 31 March
2014. The largest customer in the Year which is from
international trading segment accounted for approximately
25.4% of the total revenue in the Year as compared to
the largest customer in last year of approximately 25.5%
of total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2014 which
was from interior decoration work segment. Four out
of the top five customers are located in Hong Kong and
Macau and the other is located in the PRC. The Group
always maintains good business relationship with the top

five customers.

During the Year, the purchases from the top five major
suppliers amounted to HK$143.8 million, representing an
increase of about 128.3% from HK$63.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2014.

The top five suppliers in the Year represented
approximately 73.1% of the total purchases as compared
to approximately 56.9% for the year ended 31 March
2014. The largest supplier in the Year which is from
international trading segment accounted for approximately
32.0% of the total purchases in the Year as compared to
the largest supplier in last year of approximately 28.8% of
total purchases for the year ended 31 March 2014 which
was from interior decoration work segment. The top five
suppliers are all located in Hong Kong and Macau. The
Group always maintains good business relationship with
the top five suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
are set out in notes 4, 5 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Details of environmental policies and performance of the
Company are set out in the Environmental, Social and

Governance Report of this annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2015
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial

statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2015, together with the
reasons therefor are set out in note 35 to the consolidated

financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS

Details of movements in the convertible bonds and
warrants of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2015 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as at
31 March 2015.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus account of the Company is
available for distribution. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of

contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay

its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2015 and
up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Weibin

Mr. Siu Wai Yip

Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley
Mr. Lau Chi Kit

Non-executive Director
Ms. Fung Sau Mui

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Siu
Wai Yip, Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley and Ms. Fung Sau Mui
will retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. Being eligible,
the abovementioned Directors will offer themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the four executive Directors, Mr. Li Weibin, Mr. Siu
Wai Yip, Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley and Mr. Lau Chi Kit,
have entered into a service agreement with the Company
for no fixed term which may be terminated by one month
notice in writing by either party respectively.

The non-executive Director, Ms. Fung Sau Mui and each of
the two independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Lai Ka
Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene have entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term
of one year commencing on 18 February 2015 respectively.

The independent non-executive Director, Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing
on 17 December 2013.
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No Director being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory

obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2015, the interest and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
and their respective associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associate
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as
follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Number of shares of HK$0.0125 each
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BEEpA 5PN 54 DEREH @t BRED L
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FEELEE([FRE]) (Note) (Ff5E)

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % B t}s 4 [ % F J 47 B 44 7 | Annual Report 2015%% D5



s/

56

Directors’ Report

Rl
Note: B 3E

#% % 1% 13 A Wealth Keeper International Limited
([Wealth Keeper])#H H2PEEHITRAH
ThEEEZHBE Al BREESHFLBEKR
Bl - 2= 5 A AR AT i Wealth Keepertd B 2 & &
1,546,303, 160/% i 1 #E B R

These shares are held by Wealth Keeper International Limited
("Wealth Keeper"”), the entire issued share capital of which is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li. Accordingly, Mr. Li is
deemed to be interested in the entire 1,546,303,160 shares held
by Wealth Keeper by virtue of the SFO.

Long positions in share options of the Company REAQREREZRE

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share

Number of capital of the
Name of Directors Capacity share options Company
AR AH
BRRITREAZ
EENE 514 BREHE BHOES
Mr. Li Weibin Beneficial owner 8,600,000 0.38%
TEMEE EnBEEA
Mr. Siu Wai Yip Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.26%
mEXELE EnEAA
Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.26%
MO 22+ EnBEEA
Mr. Lau Chi Kit Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.18%
BB HEAE EnBEEA
Ms. Fung Sau Mui Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
HHEEZ T EnBEEA
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.18%
fEHRIE L EnBEEA
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
RRBLZ T EnBEEA
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%

BRIBX 2L

BB A
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of
their associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debenture of the Company or
any associated corporations.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 21 September 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”), which was
approved by the Shareholders at the annual general

meeting of the Company held on the same date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant share options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

According to the Scheme, the Board may grant share
options to the eligible participants as defined in the
Scheme to subscribe for such number of shares as the
Board may determine. Share options granted should
be accepted within 28 days from the date of the letter
of grant. Upon acceptance of the share options, the
grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. Subject to the terms of the
Scheme and all applicable laws, the Board has the power
to determine the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made.

The exercise price of share options shall be determined
by the Board, which shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company on the date of approval and adoption of
the Scheme provided that the Company may at any time
seek approval from its shareholders to refresh the limit
to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval
by the Shareholders in general meeting where such limit
is refreshed. Share options previously granted under any
share option schemes of the Company (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such
schemes or exercised options) will not be counted for the

purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed.

The total number of shares issued which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the
date of grant unless such grant has been duly approved
by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general
meeting at which the relevant eligible participant and his
associates abstained from voting. Share options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
Directors or any of their respective associates in any
12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
issued share capital on the date of grant and with a value
in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Shareholders.
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The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no share options can be exercised more than
10 years after it has been granted. There is no general
requirement that a share option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised. The Scheme
will expire on 20 September 2022.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
26 September 2014, the Company was authorised to
refresh the scheme mandate limit to issue a maximum
of 228,366,686 shares options under the Scheme.
Notwithstanding the forgoing, the shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, no share options
were granted and as at the date of this annual report, a
total of 112,100,000 shares options were granted by the
Company under the Scheme and the outstanding number
of share options available for issue under the Scheme is
228,366,686, representing approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 26 September
2014 (i.e. 2,283,666,869 shares).
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The movements in the share options granted under the HE-_ZT-—RAF=ZA=+T—HILEE 1BE
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2015 are shown ZEr B L BRESEHI AT
below:

Number of share options

BREHA
Date of Exercise
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At grant of Validity price of
Name or category of 1 April during during during during 31 March  share period of share
participant 2014 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2015 options share options options
RZB-m%F REER KEER REER FEER RZF-IF  BREZ BREZ BREZ
SREZRALRR mA-A i (K d# %% ZAZt-B REBH B kR
HKS
BT
per share
R
Executive Directors
91782
Mr. Li Weibin 8,600,000 B - - B 8,600,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 to 23-04-23 0.58
FEEAE —Z£NA (Note 1)
ZtRA  -EFRA-TRAZ
“ZEMAZF=ZH
(B&ET)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 t0 23-04-23 0.58
BEELE —=%MA (Note 1)
ZtRE  -EFEA-THRAE
ZZEMAZT=H
(PzE1)
Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 0.58
LyiSc8 —ZE£mA (Note 1)
ZtME -EFEA-THMAZE
ZZFMAZT=A
(BizET)
. Lau Chi Kit 4,000,000 B - - B 4,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 to 23-04-23 0.58
YBELE —Z£NA (Note 1)
ZtRA  -EFRA-TRAZ
“ZEMAZF=ZH
(B&ET)
Non-executive Director
*HTES
Ms. Fung Sau Mui 2,000,000 B - - B 2,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 to 23-04-23 0.58
BAELL —=FNA (Note 1)
ZtRA  -EFRA-TRAZ
“ZEMAZF=ZH
(B&ET)
Independent Non-executive
Directors
BukuTES
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 4,000,000 - - - - 4,000,000  17-12-13 17-12-14 10 16-12-23 0.68
fEREL “=5+ZF  (Note3)
++H —ME+ZATtERZE
Z=E+ZR+RAH
(PizE3)
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 0.58
RRELL —ZE£mA (Note 1)
ZtME  -EFEA-THMAZE
ZZFMAZT=A
(BzET)
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene 2,000,000 B - - B 2,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 to 23-04-23 0.58
BEE 7t —=FNA (Note 1)
ZtRA  -EFRA-TRAZ
“ZEMAZF=ZH
(B&ET)
34,600,000 - - - - 34,600,000
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Number of share options
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BREHA
Date of Exercise
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At grantof Validity price of
Name or category of 1 April during during during during 31 March  share period of share
participant 2014 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2015  options share options options
R-2-RE KEER KEER REER AEERN R-Z-1F BREZ BREZ BREZ
SREZBAARR mA—-H i it H# %% =ZB=t-B KRHBH B kR
HK$
BT
per share
s
Others
At
Employees 27,000,000 - - - (1,000,000 26,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 058
g —Z£NA (Note 1)
ZtmE  -RFRA-TRAZ
“ZEMAZTZH
(BEET)
15,000,000 - - - - 15,000,000  29-11-13 29-11-14 t0 28-11-23 070
“ZE+-F  (Note2)
ZthH -EFt-A=thBEZE
ZZEF-RZTNH
iE2)
Other eligible participants 35,000,000 - - - - 35,000,000  24-04-13 24-04-14 t0 23-04-23 0.58
EtRER2EE —Z£NA (Note 1)
ZtmE  -REFRA-TRAZ
“ZEMAZTZH
(BEET)
111,600,000 - - - (1,000,000) 110,600,000
Notes: P &E

The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 24 April 2014 until 23 April
2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next 20% of the share
options shall become exercisable from 24 April 2015 until
23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of
the share options shall become exercisable from 24 April
2016 until 23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the
next 20% of the share options shall become exercisable
from 24 April 2017 until 23 April 2023 (both days
inclusive); and (v) the remaining 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 24 April 2018 until 23 April
2023 (both days inclusive).

1. BIE BRI ALEE: (Ve
20% 2 BERRFE - R ZE—MFmNAZ+Wm
HEZZ-_=FWA-+=ZH(BEEER
MH) AT ()EIX20% .2 BB - #8
RZZE-—hENA+tHBEE_Z =%
MAZ+=H (BEERWA)A T
(i) E R20% 2 BB HE - R —F—REN
A-+WMBE-"Z-=FNA-+=H (8
FEEMB)A T (VEIX20% 2 8
B SR —E—tFEMNA - +HAE
T-ZFNA-+ =B (BREEEMA)A
FAIE RV T20% 2 BAE R =
- NFNAZ+HBEE=-ZT-_=FINA
ZH=RA(BEEEMA) AT
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2. The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2014 until
28 November 2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from
29 November 2015 until 28 November 2023 (both days
inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of the share options shall
become exercisable from 29 November 2016 until 28
November 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the next 20%
of the share options shall become exercisable from 29
November 2017 until 28 November 2023 (both days
inclusive); and (v) the remaining 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2018 until 28
November 2023 (both days inclusive).

3. The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2014 until
16 December 2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from
17 December 2015 until 16 December 2023 (both days
inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of the share options shall
become exercisable from 17 December 2016 until 16
December 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the next 20%
of the share options shall become exercisable from 17
December 2017 until 16 December 2023 (both days
inclusive); and (v) the remaining 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2018 until 16

December 2023 (both days inclusive).

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately
before the date on which the share options were granted,
i.e. 23 April 2013, 28 November 2013 and 16 December
2013, were HK$0.56, HK$0.68 and HK$0.68 per share,

respectively.

2. EREZAERPIRATDAMREE: (1)
B20% 2 ERE BR T —NFE+— A
—t+thBE-_Z-_=F+—A-+/\B (&
FEEMB) AT ()EHIR20% 2 AR
B BR-_E—RAF+—AZt+HhAE=Z
—=F+—A-t+N\B(BEEEMB)T
FITE () R20% 2 BB iE BT
—RNEFE+—AZt+ARE-ZEZ-_=F+—
AZ+N\B(BEHEMB) A FTE: (iv)
HR20% 2 ERE BR_T—tF+—A
ZThBEEZZZ=F+—A=+NH(E
FERMA)ATIE: RWVHBRT20% 24
i BR =T \F+—A=Zt+hAE=
T=F+—AZ+N\B(BEEEmMA)
A FAITfE

3. EREZERPDEATOAMREE: (1)
BH20% 2 EIRE SR T —MFE+ A
THREZT_=F+_A+ B (BEE
BB )8 T4 ()ER20% 2 BERE -
BRZZE—AF+-_ATEHE=ZT ==
FH+ZA+TARB(REERMB)A FIT
7 (iNER20% 2 Rk SR _F—X
F+-_A+tHE-_Z-_=ZF+-_A+~X
H(BEEEMB)A T (vEX20%
CHEERE BN -_E—+E+-A++LAZE
ZE=FtTZA+tAB(BEEERMA)
Al FATE : R(VER T 20% 2 BEARIE - i =
- NFF+_A+tEtHEEZZT=_=F+=
A+AB(BEEREMA)AI T

AARROREEBERERLBHII—X
(I —ZE—=FWA-+=H - —T—=F
+—A=-+tNHER=ZZE—ZF+=-A+H)
Z W E D B A ER0.56/ T 0.68/8 T &
0.68/8 T
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company
and any Associated Corporations”, at no time during
the year ended 31 March 2015 was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,

the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND

\4

Directors’ Report

RS
WE R RS R

BREXTEERESTRAEREARTRE
M EE R HERDELESTHEE
ZEmEER] —HMAEEEN ARFH
ZRARREEAMNBARGERBE_Z
—RF=ZA=T - HLEFERZEFKHEF
VEMZE BEEEAIAEBRERRF
AT (] E A A 2 B KBS M ok o

FERRRAEMATRRG RBER
HeEERER

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2015, the Shareholders (other than RZE—RAF=—A=1+—H BRE(ZEHHAK
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had NAEEITHRABRIN RARF 2 KRMHK
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying HERMDT HEEEEZRARRRER

NMHEEPIEIcKFE 2 ERMAN - HES
THEARREZEmERENT

shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company are set out
below:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of RARBIEBREBERD 2 &R

the Company

Interest in Approximate

Number of underlying percentage of

ordinary shares shares the issued

Name of of HK$0.0125 pursuant to share capital of

substantial Shareholder Capacity each the Scheme Total  the Company

SREE REZE 8 YN

0012582 REBRKRHZ ERITRAZ

TERRER HE 5% EBERYA EH @t BRED

Wealth Keeper Beneficial owner 1,546,303,160 - 1,546,303,160 67.71%

EnfEAA

Ms. Cao Wei (“Ms. Cao”) Interest in spouse 1,546,303,160 8,600,000  1,554,903,160 68.09%
TEut([gat)) EER (Note 1) (Note 2)
(BtzE1) (Pat2)
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Notes:

1. These shares are held by Wealth Keeper, the entire issued
share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Li, the spouse of Ms. Cao. Accordingly, Ms. Cao
is deemed to be interested in the entire 1,546,303,160
shares held by Wealth Keeper by virtue of the SFO.

2. These underlying shares are held by Mr. Li, the spouse of

Ms. Cao. Accordingly, Ms. Cao is deemed to be interested
in the 8,600,000 underlying shares by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, no other
persons had any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Company discloses the following connected transaction
and continuing connected transactions incurred during the

Year.

Connected Transaction

On 28 April 2014, the Company and Wealth Keeper
(which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li)
as the subscriber, the substantial shareholder of the
Company, entered into the subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which Wealth
Keeper has agreed to subscribe for a total of 350,000,000
new subscription shares at the price of HK$0.55 per
subscription share under the Subscription Agreement.
The completion of subscription took place on 26 June
2014 and the Company received the net proceeds after
the related expense in connection with the subscription
amounted to approximately HK$192.2 million which was
used for the repayment of the 6.5% Coupon Bonds with
the interest.

B2

1. ZER 1D i Wealth Keeper## A » 1 Wealth
Keeperz 25 B #TRABE X+ 2B
ZHERELEERER At BRIBEZH KL
BRG] B 2 TR AR B Wealth Keeper
5B 2 2861,546,303,160% B 17 # A #
2%

2. ZERBRNBEE LT 2 BB hEER -
E BIEFAHFRPEGRA B EHEEA
748,600,000% HHEER (D P B = ©

BEXAEEEN R-F—REZ A=+
AR E 5 A TR R AR SR BIAR 5
AT RRARFREES R AR
PIE336 T E 2 BEMA - HERTMEA
RAZBARER -

HEXS
RiZ EWARREVAAT AR ZEFEA TR
AEERNETZHER G RFERERS -

el
i

R-ZTE—WE@OA -+ N\RB AR A HE
Wealth Keeper (1EARBA - BEARGE 2 E
ERREBTEETEEEREE) )l LRE
i ([RREBWHE]) - #E L - Wealth KeeperE®
A EREREHRIZTRBERDO.55%8 T
Z BRREEA 350,000,000 #T R AL 5 -
REEEER_ZE—OFAAAZTBTK
RAQNREWEE @RESEMSEHIEFE
(P $0 B 48 B BA 2 1% ) £9192,200,0007% 7T -
HIWEAREES%ESESR (ERFE) -

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % it & L4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



Further details of the Subscription Agreement are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 28 April
2014 and 26 June 2014 and the circular of the Company
dated 30 May 2014.

Continuing Connected Transactions

CLI Design Limited, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”)
with Golden Life Investment Limited (“Golden Life”) on
19 January 2012 for the lease of Workshops Nos. 1 to
8, 19 to 21 on the 2nd Floor, of Decca Industrial Centre,
12 Kut Shing Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong, with an
aggregate gross floor area of about 6,149 square feet
and Car Parking Space Nos. P9 and P10 on the Ground
Floor of Decca Industrial Centre, 12 Kut Shing Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly rental of HK$65,000
and monthly building management fee of HK$8,739
for a term of three years from 1 December 2011 to 30
November 2014. On 28 November 2014, CLI Design
Limited entered into a new tenancy agreement (the “New
Tenancy Agreement”) with Golden Life to renew the
Tenancy Agreement by extending the terms of three years
from 1 December 2014 to 30 November 2017. Under the
New Tenancy Agreement, the monthly rental and monthly
building management fee were increased to HK$71,500
and HK$9,876 respectively. The transaction pursuant to
the Tenancy Agreement and New Tenancy Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules as Ms. Fung Sau Mui, a non-executive

Director, is one of the directors of Golden Life.

Further details of the Tenancy Agreement are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 28 October
2011 and the circular of the Company dated 20 December
2011.
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RBEMAECE - THBIANRARBTAMA -
E-MOFMA-F+NBRE-_F-—HFXA
THARBZAMEARRER RS T -HEF
EA=1TBZBEA-

REBERS
RAFME R EEARFT AR AR EEEIR
BERAR ([BRE])RBEMNBESEES
A2 ER T R O2B1E8H - 19521
SRIG (REEmMELNE,149F FR) KA
EBLEETHE2NEETEP LM TPIR
PIOSRENR -ZE——F—A+NBIx—18
HEW= ([HEHHR]) - A A65,000% T
MERMEERE RS 739E L BT ——
F+_A—-ARE_Z—NFE+—A=+H
I AB=F-RZ2FT—MOF+—A=+AN
H EERTERAREBEI L — DA
EmE ([HEEHE]) UEHHERZ
EHARABASE - ET-NE+—-A—H
EER=F2-_Z—+F+—A=1+H-BRE&
FHEERZE ABRLREAMEETEE SR
INZE71,50078 7T 59,8768 7L - MR FEMTTE
EEFERTREBERAEF —BEE WRE
HEBZRFHEBEMET IR IER L
MRABBT Z2HEBRER S -

HEMBEZE—THBINRARFBEHEA S
E——F+ A+ \BzZz2HmEARAFHE
AB-E——F+-_A-t+HZBEEA-
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group paid
rental and building management fees of approximately
HK$806,000 (2014: HK$780,000) and HK$109,416 (2014:
HK$104,868) to Golden Life pursuant to the Tenancy
Agreement and New Tenancy Agreement.

On 8 October 2012, LER S HERER (RA)AR
A A (Chinlink Supply Chain Services (Shaanxi) Company
Limited*) (formerly known as E[ER & #1512 B ks
fR7% (Fa %) B R QA (Chinlink Logistics Information
and Consulting Services (Xi‘an) Limited*)) (“Chinlink
(Shaanxi)”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a consulting services agreement
(the “"Consulting Services Agreement”) with 7§
TEBRYEELEREBMRAA (Xi'an Dewantong
Commercial Operation and Management Company
Limited*) (formerly known as AL ZRBAEEZER AR
‘A |] (Xi'an Detong Scientific Development Company
Limited*)) (“Dewantong”), pursuant to which Dewantong
agreed to appoint Chinlink (Shaanxi) as its sole business
and marketing consultant and Chinlink (Shaanxi) agreed
to provide Dewantong with the logistics and consulting
services commencing on 1 November 2012 which was
subsequently changed to 1 March 2013 and ended on 31
March 2015 for the logistics services fee of RMB500,000
per month (including value-added tax of RMB28,300).
Dewantong is operating a distribution centre with
approximately 50,000 sq. m. for construction material in
Weiyang District in Xi‘an. The transaction pursuant to the
Consulting Services Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules as Mr.
Li, an executive Director and the controlling shareholder
of the Company, indirectly holds 50% of Dewantong’s
equity interest. Further details of the Consulting Services
Agreement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 8 October 2012.

*  For identification purpose only

REE-_T—RAFZA=Z+—BILEFEAN"
AEBREHERZRTEERZ BB
Meile kM= ERELS06,0008 T (ZF
—PH 4 - 780,000/ 7T ) & 109,416/87L (==&
— P4 :104,86887T) °

RZT——F+ANB KRR ZEE2EHKH
BAREESSHEEEE (PA)ARAA
(RIBEERSYRESHBARE (AR)E
RAF) ([Ed (BA)])EAREEBRS
XELEEBRAR (ABALEAR X
BERAR) ([BEBE]) T LEMREHZE
((EERRERZE]) Bt E8BEREEE
Loh (PREE) REEBRMIGHESRER -
mEF (BRA)AER-_E—=F+—H—H
(HBERA-—ZT—=F=ZAF—R)BE_FT
—AF=ZA=Z+—HLABEBREEVYAER
BERIARTS - MR RS E RS A ARK®S500,000
T (IR ER AR28,30000) - EEBEE
AIEPE e R R[4 & — @ 4950,000F ;5
RZEMDBEFR L BARARRZHAITES
RERBRRFAERMBEREEEBI50%K
R BURR ETTAR A - AR TR ER R AR A 15 5 P s
TZRGBERFERER S -BERRG H#
ZiE—THBERARFTARAZS—ZF
TANBZAMBA-

* EHREE
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
has received/receivable from logistics services fee of
approximately RMB5.6 million (equivalent to HK$7.1
million) (2014: RMB5.6 million (equivalent to HK$7.1
million)) from Dewantong pursuant to the Consulting
Services Agreement.

On 31 March 2014, RAEEFEMEERBRA
A (Shaanxi Chinlink Financial Guarantee Limited*)
("Chinlink Finance”) and Dewantong entered into
two financing guarantee contracts (“Dewantong FG
Contract | & I11”) and a consultancy services contract
("Dewantong CS Contract”) and on 12 March 2015,
Chinlink Finance and Dewantong entered into a financing
guarantee contract (“Dewantong FG Contract IIl"),
respectively (together with the Dewantong FG Contract | &
I, collectively the “Dewantong FG Contracts”), pursuant
to which Chinlink Finance has agreed to provide financing
guarantee to the lending banks in favor of Dewantong
for procuring Dewantong in obtaining the bank loans and
Chinlink Finance has also agreed to provide corresponding
consultancy services to Dewantong in return for services
income.

*  For identification purpose only
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e

BHE-_Z—RAFZAZ+—HLEEE XK
SEREEMBREHEER EBRKEESR
YRSB4 ARKS, 600,000 (HHE
77,100,000 7T) (ZE—-—MF: AR
5,600,0007T (#H& $7,100,000/87T) ) °

R-_ZTE—MFE=ZA=+—8 PALEFSE
MEERARAR ([ZEEFLRME]) HES
BRI UMOBMERREN ([EBEME
ERENIRN]) E—HEBARBED ([
BEREBHBRESHN ) UER -—T—RE=H
TR EEFeRMEREERTIT MR
BRREN ([EEBERERREOM]) (&
FESRREERAOIRI SBAEEE
BMERRESN]) Bt TEFEREDH
ENEEANERRITREREBERUEE
EERESKRTER MEESLEBRENS
B = A2 & AR A0 B E RIS A EUR
WA AE A B3R -

* EHREE
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The principal terms of the Dewantong FG Contracts and =

Dewantong CS Contract are set out below:

N

BREERAK
ZRAFHMT

Approximate
guarantee/

KB BRBAREEH

rllH

Guarantee/

Guaranteed consultancy  consultancy
Contract Contract date amount service income  service period
BR/BARYE
BHER ELEE EREE BOWN  BR/EAREHE
(RMB in million) (RMB in million)
(AR¥BEET) (AR¥BEET)
Dewantong FG Contract | 31 March 2014 8.000 0.192 31 March 2014 to
31 March 2015
EERREERSAN —mE —RmE=A=1—HZ
ZA=+—H “E-R¥=A=1—H
Dewantong CS Contract 31 March 2014 Not applicable 0.360 31 March 2014 to
31 March 2015
EERDARKSH —mE @A —ME=A=1—HZ
=A=1-H ~BF=A=1-H
Dewantong FG Contract Il 31 March 2014 10.000 0.300 31 March 2014 to
1 March 2015
REBREERAN —mF —mE=A=+—-HE
ZA=+—H —1F=ZA+—H
Dewantong FG Contract Ill 12 March 2015 10.000 0.250 12 March 2015 to
1 March 2016
EERBAERAON —T-1fF B S g = Y
=A+ZH ZE-R"¥=ZAT-H
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group HE_Z-—RAF=A=+—-HILFE K&

has received/receivable from Dewantong for financing
guarantee services fee and consultancy services fee
of total approximately RMB0.86 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1.08 million) (2014: approximately

RMBO0.66 million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.84

million)).
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The transactions pursuant to the Dewantong FG Contracts
and Dewantong CS Contract were constituted continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules as Mr. Li,
an executive Director and the controlling shareholder
of the Company, indirectly holds 50% of Dewantong'’s
equity interest. Further details of the Dewantong FG
Contracts and Dewantong CS Contract are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 31 March 2014
and 12 March 2015 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Chinlink Finance
and AL E = T(E LM B R QA (Xi'an Hui ling Zhuo
Yuan Information Technology Company Limited*) (“Zhuo
Yuan”) entered into a financing guarantee contract (“ZY
FG Contract”) and a consultancy services contract (“ZY
CS Contract”), pursuant to which Chinlink Finance has
agreed to provide financing guarantee to the lending
bank in favor of Zhuo Yuan for procuring Zhuo Yuan in
obtaining the bank loan and Chinlink Finance has also
agreed to provide corresponding consultancy services to
Zhuo Yuan in return for services income.

The principal terms of the ZY FG Contract and ZY CS
Contract are set out below:
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HRARRABMITEERIERBRF REREK
FERBEBIZS0NKE AREEEBRE
EREOMEEBREARBENETZIRS
BRETRNBATNZHERERS -ARER

ERREERGOERERFARG SO
ﬁ*i%1ﬁ%$ AEHOR R -—F N
FZA=T-BRZZFE-RF=A+=HZ
NEY

HE_T—RAF=A=+—BILFE TE
TEREEARERETEERMERAR
(MEx DAL —RERRAQ ([ETHE
BREQ ) M—HEARBELD ([ETEH
mﬁA%D'F%'iE$éﬂ§Eﬁ?%
EIXAMERRITIRHURE BRAREETE
BIRITER &iE$iﬂﬁEH A= TR
H AR B RE SR AR 7% LA JE BX IR 5 MR A VE /5 [ 3t

ETREERAAORETHEARF SO ZE
ZEAETI T
Approximate
guarantee/  Guarantee/

Guaranteed consultancy  consultancy
Contract Contract date amount service income  service period
EREARE
BRER BHRAH RREH BHBA  EREAREEE
(RMB in million) (RMB in million)
(AR¥BERL) (ARBBEET)
ZY FG Contract 25 November 2014 14.000 0.420 25 November 2014 to 25
November 2015
ETHERREGD —T-OmF —mE+—A=+RHE
+—A=+AA —hE+—AZ+hH
ZY CS Contract 25 November 2014 Not applicable 0.702 25 November 2014 to 25

ELAARE S A

— M4
+—A=+7nA

*  For identification purpose only

TEH

November 2015
—mE+—AB=+HRAZE
—hAF+—A=+AA
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
has received/receivable from Zhuo Yuan for financing
guarantee services fee and consultancy services fee
of total approximately RMB0.39 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$0.49 million).

The transactions pursuant to the ZY FG Contract and
ZY CS Contract were constituted continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules as the major beneficial
owners of Zhuo Yuan are the relatives of Mr. Li. Further
details of the ZY FG Contract and ZY CS Contract are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated
25 November 2014.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Chinlink Finance
and BRPEE AT K X (bR E AR 2 F] (Shaanxi Gun Shi
Xin Tian Di Cultural Investment Company Limited*) (“Gun
Shi”) entered into two financing guarantee contracts
("GS FG Contract | & Il”, together “GS FG Contracts”)
and a consultancy services contract (“GS CS Contract”),
pursuant to which Chinlink Finance has agreed to provide
financing guarantee to the lending banks in favor of Gun
Shi for procuring Gun Shi in obtaining the bank loans and
Chinlink Finance has also agreed to provide corresponding
consultancy services to Gun Shi in return for services

income.

*  For identification purpose only

HE-_Z-—RAFZAZ+RALEE X£&
oW R TR E ERRIE B R KL
REBRAE XN ARY390,0007T (HERL
490,000 7T ) °

HRNET IR EaBAARTREZRE
AL BHRBETBREREREG O RIETHES
REEHETZXIBRLETRUEBE T ZH
BHEXZ FHEIREEREORET
HARBANZE—SFBERNAAF B
R-B—MNE+—R-Z+RHBZAMA-

BE_Z-—RAF=A=+—RIEFE TE
TEREERRAM KRR EERA
A(RADATIMNBEERAGLD ([RA
MERRESNIRN] GREARARERER
B8R E—OEAREAH ([RAHEARSE
B8R Bt EETFERECRERRAL
AERRTREREBEERAEEROESR
TEFR MEEFERENCRBERRAR
AR e 5 AR 7S A BUIR IS A R [ 3R -

* EHEE
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The principal terms of the GS FG Contracts (as amended)

and GS CS Contract (as amended) are set out below:

\4

Directors’ Report
£ 8

RABEBREREH (RIER]) KRB #ARS
B (RERT) cEZ2EFEINWT

Approximate

guarantee/  Guarantee/

Guaranteed consultancy  consultancy
Contract Contract date amount service income  service period
BR/EARY
BRER AHAH EREHE BAKA  BR/BAREEE
(RMB in million) (RMB in million)
(AR®EET) (ARBEET)
GS FG Contract | (as amended) 9 March 2015 (Note) 4.500 0.134 9 March 2015 to
6 March 2016
RABBERE NI (KET) 0% ZE-RF=-ANAEZE
ZANB (W) ZE-R"¥=ARA
GS FG Contract Il (as amended) 12 March 2015 (Note) 7.000 0.040 12 March 2015 to
22 May 2015
RARMBEERE AN (BET) 0% —T-AF=fA+=HZE
=RA+Z=8 (M) “E-h¥AA-+ZH
GS CS Contract (as amended) 12 March 2015 (Note) Not applicable 0.080 12 March 2015 to

Bh#EARE S % (KEF])

Note:

—Z-hF
=A+=A (fEE)

On 24 March 2015, Chinlink Finance entered into the
early termination agreements (the “Early Termination
Agreements”) and supplemental agreement (the
“Supplemental Agreement”) with Gun Shi, in relation
to early terminate the GS FG Contract Il and the GS CS
Contract and to revise the guarantee amount of the GS
FG Contract | from RMB8.0 million to RMB4.5 million in
order to release Chinlink Finance as the guarantor of the
respective loans.

The Early Termination Agreements became effective on
22 May 2015 and the revised guarantee amount under
the Supplemental Agreement with effective from 3 June
2015.

22 May 2015

TiE A —T-R¥=A+=ZBZ%
“T-RFRA-t+-H
WHaE: RZZE—RAF=_A-_1+WA EEFLH

BRE A IRPEIEHE ([REKLLEWE
B REapz ((SxmE]) NEEEH
RERIEEABREEREDINERAZS
RBENARGEABMERRE LIZER
£ B8 ARKS,000,000TER AARYE
4,500,0007C ' AR EER S RIEIEAS
BERZERA

REKLIHER-_Z-HEFAA-+=H
EHRERBFER N ZRETREREED
R-Z-—RAFRNA=ZHER-
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group has
received/receivable from financing guarantee services
fee and consultancy services fee of total approximately
RMBO0.04 million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.05
million) from Gun Shi pursuant to the GS FG Contracts and
GS CS Contract.

The transactions pursuant to the GS FG Contracts and
GS CS Contract were constituted continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules as 68.13% of the
equity interest of Gun Shi held by the relative of Mr. Li.
The remaining 31.87% of the equity interest of Gun Shi
held by AL /EEE X AR A A (Xi'an Hao Hua Zhi Ye
Company Limited*) which 20% of the equity interest is
owned directly and 40% of the equity interest is owned
indirectly by Mr. Li. Further details of the GS FG Contracts,
the GS CS Contract, Early Termination Agreements and
Supplement Agreement are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 9 March 2015, 12 March 2015, 24
March 2015, 22 May 2015 and 3 June 2015, respectively.

The guarantee amount and financing guarantee services
income charged to Dewantong, Zhuo Yuan and Gun Shi
were based on the credit risk assessment to respective
parties and the prevailing market bank loan rate in the
PRC. The consultancy services income charged to the
respective parties was based on the scope of services
provided.

*  For identification purpose only

HE-_Z-—RAF=ZA=1+-—BHLFE BE
RABEERRAEOREABARBEL K
EEEW EREAZMEERREER R
BHARKERE LN ARYL0,0007T (HHE
R #950,0008 7T ) °

MREA 268 13%RETBHELREZBEA
THE - BUERBEAREERGHOREAE
ARBENHET IR IEKRK EMRAIET
IHEBER D RAZH T31.87% KT
HALAEEERRARBE MELLEER
BEMARREEEEAR AR Z20%KE R
MEZEREGHIONKRE - BERZOMERZRE
D RAEARBEN REKRILHRERAT
B — LB RERAAT AR A
T-AFZANB-—T—AF=ZA+=-H"
—E-RAF=ZHAZt+WmB-ZET—AFHA
T+ -HEZE-—RAFANAZHZAHMR-

AEEE FrTRARBEZERSERK
Mz BERRBRBURATDERERITONZ
EERRFEMERDERITERNRME
E o W B TR 77 2 78 S BRI W A T B Py
REHIRTS < SR M E °

* ERHT
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Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions were entered into:

(i) by the Group in the usual and ordinary course of
business;

(i) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from independent third parties;

(ii)  in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements and the contracts mentioned above
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole; and

(iv) have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount
capped in accordance with the announcements of
the Company as mentioned above.

The Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of the Company
has issued an unqualified letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

\‘--lllllll

Directors’ Report
0

REBE LR BUFRTESSH L #F
BUHEXSIEHEERERWT

()  HERHDEAEER—RERES
BT |

(i ZRERZDE—REEETITER
AEBMBLIE=ZTREHEIBILE=
TRAEBEREEZARRETIL:

ERXGTIRBUALBEARERELD
RARET MEEWREFZIGKTIE

(iii)

(iv) ZEXZULEBEBRELEXAARA
Az AMEzAEES ERBER-

ARAZEMCEZEREEESEANAE
B2 BEZEREERF30005 [F& 2
FHELYBFER AN EEZE] RE2R
B FAETA0N [ IR EE LT AR+

BHER S EHANR T REARNEEZF

BRERS ARAFZBEERE LHRA
FUASCIHRBEHBEBREZR NG EFHE
ERASEMBRBEZSEREX S 2 HEHS
RE#EwR-ARACHZBENHEIAEZ
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” above, no contracts of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
30 to 46 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS POLICY

The emoluments policy of senior management of the
Group is set up by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

The Company had adopted the Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”

above.

EEREXRGHN RS

BREX[BERS] —fMREEIN EFL
BRARQE BERAF S EEFHE QR
SHEFITZEMEREGH (ERAFERSK
AEEREMERBDARFS) BERIEERE

BE LEFIEEAQAZESF

ARAREEAMERRRNANFEARER
B HESEREAAREZEMN LEHES-

TEER
BRARRICEERER ZFBIHNAF R
FI0EFL6E T EEABRE-

¥ B B R
AEBEZRAMFHZEERESAEEA
BB BERTE SIEEFMER-

ARRBERZHM HERARFHEZEER
BARBZEERE ERRE KA LE®T
BEE AR RIEHER R

AABEHMZTE NRBEZERAER
B8 -t BIFFIE RN L X [T 8] —
B e
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-

executive Directors are independent.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-Laws of the Company, or the laws of Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-

rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DONATIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group made
donations amounting to approximately HK$28,776.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at
least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital was

held by public as at the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
of the Company the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 and
discussed with the management of the Company on
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters.
Information on the composition of the Audit Committee is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30

to 46 of this annual report.

\‘--lllllll
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5

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Weibin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2015

3 4]
EMERED WERSEHMTARAF
BB 2 RERERBRBFAE LIER -

RREFE
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Deloitte.
=)

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
EETSEBREZERARAT

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Chinlink International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 80 to 211 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

\4

Independent Auditor’s Report
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T8 ST A% B R

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

ZEET R
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2015, and of its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

80

A7 18 g M HA 2 T i el 3R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

2015 2014
S —T—mEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt iE FERT FAT
Revenue KA 7 247,473 151,731
Cost of sales and services $HE KRS A (196,603) (110,691)
Gross profit EH| 50,870 41,040
Other income, gains and losses Az - Fl & & 518 9 15,730 (8,186)
Selling and distribution costs $HE Ko $H A A (5,751) (1,398)
Administrative expenses THRAX
— equity-settled share-based —REREE ARG
payments BER 2 (12,169) (15,390)
— other administrative expenses —HEMTHRAX (52,617) (43,467)
(64,786) (58,857)
Consultancy fees EHE - (764)
Finance costs B R AR 10 (80,983) (64,895)
Change in fair value of KEWEZ
investment properties RNEEES 8,762 -
Loss before taxation B Al &S B 13 (76,158) (93,060)
Income tax (expense) credit e (AZ)ER 14 (4,031) 2,718
Loss for the year REFERE (80,189) (90,342)
Other comprehensive expense Hih2HEHBAX
Item that may be subsequently REAJEFHIEE
reclassified to profit or loss: BmZHE :
Exchange difference arising on RMEBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations PE W =58 (1,479) (1,818)
Total comprehensive expense AEEREE
for the year s (81,668) (92,160)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted BEARREE 16 HK(3.65) centsifl  HK(4.87) centsi&flL
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

S 555K DL 3=

At 31 March 2015 A= F—HAFE=H=+—H

2015 2014
—E—FHEF —F—OF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FTHER FAT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BE k& 17 24,921 20,614
Investment properties "EDE 18 244,416 =
Rental deposits HEZZS 590 970
Prepaid rental expenses FENHEERZ 180 598
Intangible assets | EE 19 6,201 3,965
Deposit paid for acquisition of WEEIREMEZ
investment properties [EENE & 20 33,720 =
Deposit paid for acquisition of I —MME AR
a subsidiary [EENE & 21 30,000 =
Amounts due from former subsidiaries & U 51 Fff B A 78R 18 26 - 13,607
340,028 39,754
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 22 2,006 4,211
Deposit paid for prepaid lease AN T HHEERIE
payments for land Bfties 23 31,223 31,257
Accrued revenue FEET UM A 5,520 9,890
Trade receivables EUE 5 BRI 24 70,183 6,697
Trade receivables from ENEERRZ
related companies g SHRI1E 24 5,803 5,626
Loan receivable J& W & X 24 10,030 26,000
Bills receivables e E & 25 2,332 =
Other receivables, deposits and H A & Y BR 1B
prepayments e REMNFIE 11,799 9,420
Amounts due from former JE W Al
subsidiaries B 8 X A] BR 1A 26 21,306 6,087
Pledged bank deposits BHEFRITER 27 344,601 340,184
Bank balances and cash RITEENMRS 27 67,145 228,439
571,948 667,811
Current liabilities REEE
Deferred revenue IEEW A 2,382 47,526
Trade payables B E 58RIA 28 75,244 13,078
Receipts in advance TE U R IR 34 2,649 920
Other payables and Hh fE T RRIE &
accruals BT & A 16,192 12,605
Construction costs accruals FEET IR EERK AR 38,548 =
Amounts due to former subsidiaries &S BB B A 5] BRIE 26 9,536 9,536
Amounts due to related companies FET REE R RIBRIE 29 22,195 =
Provision for warranty RERE 30 1,999 454
Financing guarantee contracts BEERE L 44 2,935 2,938
Tax payable JE T B8 3,453 1,834
Bank overdraft RITEX 27 - 4,921
Bank and other borrowings RITREME K 31 9,396 52,862
6.5% coupon bonds 6.5%Z B EH 36 - 191,332
7.5% convertible bonds 7.5% A #2 iR & % 36 294,472 =
Obligations under finance leases BhE A E e 32 942 257
479,943 338,263
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A% G BT IIR DL R

At 31 March 2015 WM _ZE—A4E=H=+—H

2015 2014
—BR-HF —T-EF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M aF FER T T
Net current assets REBEEFE 92,005 329,548
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBERS 432,033 369,302
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Obligations under finance leases A& M S AR 32 2,352 423
7.5% convertible bonds 7.5% R E 5 36 - 257,258
8.0% coupon bonds 8.0%EEEFH 36 193,621 -
Deferred tax liability EEFIE B & 33 7,707 8,754
203,680 266,435
228,353 102,867
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital fi& 75 35 28,546 24,100
Reserves & 199,807 78,767
Equity attributable to owners of RATEER A
the Company FE(h 2 #Ew 228,353 102,867
The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 211 EEgR T —RAFANAZFTABHEFHT
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of MRESOEEF2INBE ZiRE W HE R F#E
Directors on 26 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: FZE - WHATRERES:
LI Weibin 2= {£3# SIU Wai Yip #E%
CHAIRMAN =% & DIRECTOR £ #
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FRG ME 4 S B SR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+ —H L4

Attributable to owners of the Company

BREATEAA

Convertible

Share Statutory bonds and
Share Share options surplus  Regulatory  Translation warrants  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity

TaRES

ELN E
Rx kiR BRERE iEEHEE EERE Ejifife L1 2R BEAR

HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T Tz TR T#T T Tz TR T T
(Note (}) (Note (i)
(w#n) (W)

At 1 April 2013 RZF-Z5NA-A 20,000 - - - - 604 25,401 (6,139) 39,866
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - - (90,342) (90,342)
Other comprehensive expense - A RERX-
Exchange difference arising on BREENFHAEE L

translation of foreign operations ERzE - - - - - (1,818) - - (1,818)
Total comprehensive expense for the year £& 2 E£R% - - - - - (1,818) - (90,342) (92,160)

Issue of shares upon conversion of REAI 0% TR ERF
3.0% convertible bonds BkG 4,000 95,697 - - - - (29,690) = 70,007
Derecognition of deferred tax liabilties on R &#3.0% 7 R E5 5

conversion of 3.0% convertible bonds K I ERETEHEEE - - - - - - 4,289 - 4,289
Issue of shares R 100 3,865 - - - - - - 3,965
Issue of warrants (Note (i) RTRRER (W) - - - - - - 379 - 379
Recognition of warrants (note 36) BeRRREE (Hi236) - - - - - - 19,940 - 19,940
Recognition of equity-settled RS DO

share-based payments BERZHF - - 15,390 - - - - - 15,390
Recognition of equity component of Bl 5% BRER 2

7.5% convertible bonds (nofe 36) Ead A (M) - - - - - - 58,800 - 58,800
Direct transaction costs of issuance of ~~ %{77.5% 7 BREH R

7.5% convertible bonds and AREEERRHER

warrants (note 36) (Hi36) - - - - - - (4617) - (4,617)
Deferred tax recognised (rote 33) BRERHE (H233) - - - - - - (12,99) - (12,992)
Transfer 53 - - - 672 1,757 - - (2,429 -

4100 99,562 15,390 672 1,757 - 36,109 (2,429) 155,161
At 31 March 2014 R-E-BE=A=1-A 24,100 99,562 15,390 672 1,757 (1,214) 61,510 (98,910) 102,867
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - (80,189) (80,189)
Other comprehensive expense - A 2ERX-
Exchange difference arising on RAEENEBAEEL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - (1,479) - = (1,479)
Total comprehensive expense for the year £E2E &R % - - - - - (1,479) - (80,189) (81,668)
Issue of shares (note 35) Rlki (41235) n 2,729 - - - - - - 2,800
Recognition of equity-settled 7
share-based payments - - 12,169 - - - - - 12,169

Derecognition of expired warrants DHERACER AREE - - - - - (15,621) 15,621

Shares issued under subscription (note 35) RERBET 2R (Ha35) 4375 188,125 - - - - - = 192,500
Direct transaction costs of REZEETIRNZ

shares issued under subscription ERR5ER - (315) - - - - - - (315)

Forfeiture of share options (rote 37) RRERE (Hit57) - - (113) - - - - 173 -

Transfer £ - - - 1,746 8614 - - (10,360) -

4446 190,539 11,996 1,746 8,614 (1479 (15,621) 5434 207,154

At 31 March 2015 R-B-1%=f=1-H 28,546 290,101 27,386 2,418 10,371 (2,693) 45,889 (173,665) 228,353
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
2 Hi 4 ) %

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

Notes:

(iii)

The entities established in the People’'s Republic of China
(the "PRC") are required to appropriate 10% of its
net profit, as determined under the China Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises (2006) and other
relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC, to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital.

Subject to the approval of equity holders of the entities
established in the PRC, statutory surplus reserves may be
used to net off with accumulated losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital, provided that the balance of
statutory surplus reserve after such capitalisation is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

In pursuant to the Interim Measures for the Administration
of Financing Guarantee Companies issued at 1 September
2010 by the Shaanxi Province government authorities
in the PRC, companies providing financing guarantee
services shall establish unearned premium reserve equal
to 50% of guarantee premium recognised during the
year and indemnification reserve of no less than 1% of
the outstanding guarantee balances. Balance at end of
the reporting period represents difference between such
require reserve and the recognition financing guarantee
contracts the Group already provided for.

On 19 March 2014, 35,000,000 warrants of the Company
were issued under a placing arrangement to 4 placees
at issue price of HK$0.02 per warrant and at exercise
price of HK$2.00 per warrant share. The net proceeds
from the placing of the warrants were HK$379,000. The
warrants issued by the Company were classified as equity
instrument, which is stated at the proceeds received, net
of direct cost of HK$321,000.

(iii)

RAEARKANE ([HE])KINERA
#E AL E910% (AR 45 B B B0 28 4 &Y
TESEEER (ZTTREF) REMA
MARVIEE) MR EERREHE BEERE
#RZ BIEE T B AN HI50% ©

FEERH BN EEOESR A ARLE
MERT EERSGFEN AR BHERE
B(NA) NABREELN HEEZER
ERETRRFERERIBEREMER
#925% °

RETBERAEBRFHFAR=_F—FFN
H—BZMe (MEEERRABDERET
W) RE RERBEMERRE 2 ARA
RUREHE L EEE (HERNFANER
EERIARS0% ) - AREREEEES
(MER KRB B RGERA1% ) » EHIR
EREFRRACHBEASBEEER 2R
BERANZER-

RZZE-—HEFE=ZA+T LA ARAREL
ELHIRETMRREF0.02B L ZEITE
N ERRREERGD2.008 T ZITHEER
35,000,00017 7 A% #E 3 % 17 T /U & & AL
A o BB & SRR 75 BT 1S SR I8)F 58 48379,000
I ARNRI BT ZRABREE B AER
TE - WiRE WHEKIE (N EEKAR
321,000 7t ) 51 B% ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEBlenER
For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

2015 2014
—E-HEF —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHER T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Loss before taxation bR %1 B & 18 (76,158) (93,060)
Adjustments for: FHEIEE :
Interest income A B 7= (13,493) (4,602)
Finance costs 87 75 A AR 80,983 64,895
Adjustment in amounts due from JE W B Bt /8 A 7
former subsidiaries ARIE 2 A - 4,077
Change in fair value of investments RIEEBZIREZ
held-for-trading RNEEES - (145)
Imputed interest income from amounts FEURTKT B A AR Z
due from former subsidiaries HEF B WA (1,905) =
Depreciation of property, M BE &
plant and equipment REITE 2,163 1,246
(Reversal of) allowance for AIERER (#E)
bad and doubtful debts, net B 5 (885) 524
Equity-settled share based REREENRS
payments BERTE 12,169 15,390
Provision for warranty recognised REBBER 1,709 288
Financing guarantee contracts recognised HRBMEERE D - 2,986
Amortisation of intangible assets | A EHH 564 =
Change in fair value of wEYE 2 ATE
investment properties B (8,762) =
Exchange difference on translation of EEARRIBGESRBRE
intra group balances ERER 407 2,172
Operating cash flows before movements HEEREEA 2
in working capital REFHSME (3,208) (6,229)
Decrease in inventories FERL 2,205 2,474
Decrease in accrued revenue FEET U AR 4,370 765
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables FEYE 5 BRI (38 00) 7 4 (62,604) 5,651
Increase in bills receivable JE Y S R 42 A0 (2,332) =
Increase in trade receivables from FEW R E R R 2
related companies H 5 BRI AN (184) (5,707)
Long term rental deposits paid ENEHAEz2ES (590) (970)
Increase in other receivables, HEEWERIE 12 e Rk
deposits and prepayments T8 5 FRIA L 0 (991) (7,956)
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue EEW A CR) 120 (45,144) 35,394
Increase (decrease) in trade payables FERT B 5 BRTE L N (Rt 4>) 62,166 (10,706)
Increase (decrease) in receipts in advance TE YR IEE N CRi4>) 1,729 (3,910)
Increase in other payables E b fETERIE R
and accruals FEET & R N 3,342 486
Utilisation of provision for warranty REBEBEER (164) (1,884)
Proceeds from disposal of investments HEREEEZ
held-for-trading W& 7 1S RIE - 18,720
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

86

Fedlehie R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

2015 2014
—BR-HF —T-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER T T
Net cash (used in) generated from operations #£%& (/) Fri5R & F 5 (41,405) 26,128
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BBMEREA - (619)
Overseas Profits Tax paid EINFIE TR E AT (3,445) (270)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM e (ER)FREZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEFEE (44,850) 25,239
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Placement of time deposit TR Z TR - (69,514)
Withdrawal of time deposit W 8] E BB 75 3K 69,514 =
Repayment from former subsidiaries AT B A RlEE 5K 293 3,277
Interest received =&Y 13,463 4,602
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB ¥ % - B & & & (3.393) (1,438)
Additions of investment properties NE LR
under construction "EME (193,779) =
Advance to independent third parties HBLE=F 28K (54,000) (87,000)
Repayment from independent third parties B % =H 2 # X 70,000 61,000
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEEERBETER (492,582) (588,682)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits Y m 2R RITIF K 487,783 244,308
Deposit paid for acquisition of WEEREYEZ
investment properties EENRia (33,796) =
Deposit paid for acquisition of WE—FB AR Z
a subsidiary EENRia (30,000) =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBERAZRE
ACTIVITIES FH (166,497) (433,447)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=R
A BeiER
For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

2015 2014
—E-afF —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES &
Proceeds from issue of 8.0% coupon bonds 2£778.0% 2 B {& % FT 15 ZUE 200,000 =
Expenses on issue of 8.0% coupon bonds  #778.0%Z B (&% Z F sz (16,159) =
Proceeds from issue of 7.5% convertible 177, 5% AR E S
bonds TS KT - 300,000
Expenses on issue of 7.5% convertible bonds 2 ﬂ7.5%7?ﬁ%1§#2f’?ﬂ3‘2 - (18,306)
Proceeds from issue of 6.5% coupon bonds 2£176.5% %= 8 {& % A5 X H - 190,450
Expenses on issue of 6.5% coupon bonds BT 5% R EHFZHAY - (9,828)
Interest paid EATFIE (38,660) (4,006)
New other borrowings raised g /JJ@%\T/\ 150,000 45,000
New bank borrowings raised TG IRITE R 2,332 -
Repayment of other borrowings BEEEMER (195,000) =
Repayment of bank borrowings Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?’)ﬁ (797) (775)
Net proceeds from issue of warrants BATRREE FT 15 IEF 5 - 379
Advance from staff KEEILZRK 273 3,711
Repayment of obligations of finance lease EEmEHEEAE (466) (237)
Increase in bank overdraft $R1T715 18 N - 4,921
Repayment of bank overdraft BERITEX (4,921) =
Repayment of 6.5% coupon bonds EE65%=EEESH (190,450) =
Proceeds from issue of shares BITIRM TS A 192,500 =
Expense on issue of shares éﬁhﬂxf pdl i3 (315) =
Advance from related companies [ REWNEIE-EN 22,244 -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEXHKFAERSFE 120,581 511,309
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND R&RBESZEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R4 ) 18 hn % 58 (90,766) 103,101
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REA—-—BZRER
AT 1 APRIL ReEHEEH 158,925 55,696
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SN EE B & 8 B
RATE CHANGES =2 (1,014) 128
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=A=1+—HBzHER
AT 31 MARCH, He%E
represented by bank balances and cash REBITEFLES 67,145 158,925
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AR A I R Y AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

FEZH =+ —HIEE

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted limited liability entity and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is Wealth Keeper
International Limited (“Wealth Keeper”),
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate controlling shareholder of Wealth Keeper
is Mr. Li Weibin, the chairman and managing
director of the Company. The address of the
registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate

Information” to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
trading of consumer goods (including trading of
furniture and fixtures) and electronic components
and interior decoration works in Hong Kong and
Macau. Starting from prior annual period, the
Group is also engaged in provision of financing
guarantee services and consultancy services in the
logistic industry in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC").

Having considered the major subsidiaries of the
Group are mainly engaged in trading of consumer
goods and electronic components and interior
decoration works in Hong Kong and Macau, of
which most transactions are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), the functional currency of
the Company is HK$. The presentation currency of

the consolidated financial statements is also HK$.

#=

ARG DR BREAMAZIHERE
ERF HBRDEBTEBMARSMAE
RAR([BERFF]) FH-EEER
SEERARI TR EBHER RS T
ffft B 32 Z Wealth Keeper International
Limited ([Wealth Keeper ) ' i &
Wealth Keeper 2 & £ IR R AR
MAE (KRB EFEREFHKRE) -
RABGFEMMRER R T 2EEMED
WIERANFRZ RAFER]AE
= o

KRR IREZER G -HEFBEA
ZEBZEBHINREARAEERE
(BEEMEEERS ) RETEHRE
SUERRBEBRRPIEZENEMN T
Beg E—EFEHRHEMG  AEET
RAREARENME ([FE])HER
HEEERRBE RYIRITE 2 ERER
7}’%::

-
2

ZRINAEE 2T EMBARIDE
ENREEAHEERESZNETTH
BHURREBFRFIREEANKSN
TR-HRARBARZTIAET (18
TDFE BARRZHEEE RE
T HRAMBRRZ2ZINEETRLE

ﬁo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45 A RS o 2R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FERAHITRKEITIEEBMBR
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL HER (BB BHREER])
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
The Group has applied the following amendments RAFE AKEEEREATIA
to HKFRSs and a new Interpretation issued by the BEEMAE ([EREWAR])
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants B 2 BAM B REEN BT AR
("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year: S
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment entities ERNHREER REER
HKFRS 12 and HKFRS 27 105 (BFIX)
BBHBREER
F125 (B AR) R
BBHBREER
£27% (7 R)
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and BREEEAZNE HHEHAERERAR
financial liabilities (B3TE)
Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures EREGSEAZ6N FEREECANEER
for non-financial assets S HES) &
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and EREMEARON (TATANHERRNE
continuation of hedge (BFIA) HeRE
accounting
HK(IFRIC) — INT 21 Levies Bk (ARMBRE BB
RBZEE)
-REZNH®
The application of the above amendments to RAFERER LR ESMBHRSER
HKFRSs and new interpretation in the current year ZETARFRBHAKERAFE
has had no material impact on the Group'’s financial RBEFEZMBRRARMRN KK
performance and positions for the current and prior % hR G B ISR T #2 BRI
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these RAERERZE -

consolidated financial statements.
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AR A I R Y AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new

and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial instruments'

Revenue from contracts with
customers?

Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations*

Disclosure initiative*

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation*

Agriculture: Bearer plants*

Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions?

Equity method in separate
financial statements*

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture*

Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exception*

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010 - 2012 cycle®

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2011 - 2013 cycle?

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2012 - 2014 cycle*

FERIFTR] RAEIEFT &R M B
EEA(FEMBREER])
(#&)

E R R R ER 2R REER] &
76 B 755 R 5 22 A

AREEEARRT R THIE B MR
REMZFHT REIETREMH RS

g

BAMBREEAEIR SRTA
FERBRERANEISHE BEFLSHUE
BAMBRSERENR WBRAEEHREL
(BEIA) ERL 3
BRGHENSR REXHI
(%)
BR G ENF 6% WERBRZTER
(BEA)RBEE HEERR

8 £385 (B3 K)
ARG EAZE 165

(BITX) RBEEEH

BRI EMHE (BIE)
BEAQHENE19%

REEEREY

RERMGEEE

(%) 50
B G ENFH REUMBHRZ
(BFIA) 3y
BRAMBREENEI0R REZREBELRAN
(BEIAR)REBE G RERRIZANAE
RRF28%: (BFA) HEXRAS

BRMBREEHF10R

REEE: ERGAAK

(B3IA) BRUBRSE 2HI5M

RIZE123E (BATR) R

#
ESX EEL PN

S HES
ERUBRSER BEMBREEN-F
SCHEY) ~BEZ-E-—F
B F RS
BRUBREER BEMBASEN-F
(%) -—FE-%-=fF
EEIPAS T
BRMBREER BAMBAEEN-F
(EaT%) ——EZ-F-NE
B FRAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45 A RS o 2R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

{ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014, with earlier application permitted.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2014, with limited exceptions. Earlier

application is permitted.

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new
requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. HKFRS
9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to
include requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to
include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9
was issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through
other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI")
measurement category for certain simple debt
instruments.

FE R FTR] RAZIEFT &R M B ]R
HEA(FEMBREER])
(#&)

B MHE R AR ERZHF] REIETE
BB HREER (&)

! R-Z-N\F—HA B Z2’&H
Mz FEMBEN LAFFIRTE
o

? RZZE—tF— A BHZEHA
B FEPRER W AFFREE
e

: R-Z-—MELA B Z&HA
Mz FEMBEN LAFFIRTE
o

¢ RZE-—RF—A—BHZEH
B FEPRER W AFFREE
e

: BRERPIIMER R-_F—HFL
ARz &Mz FERHE
oA SEFRFERA -

BB EHEEREIR [2M TR
R-ZFZNFRMZBEVHREE
AFSREIATREEDBRFEZ
MME - BRAMBRELAFEIRER
R-Z-FFETUAHEASREED
BERAEBURBUEERZRE RN
T =HE-SEITUEAKRY
HETREBEZHATE - BEMBEHRS
HAFIRZ 7 —RETRAER -F
—MERM - TEHA)SREEZR
BRELbRETEHZEE TASIA
[ERFEFARMEE RG] ([#EA
FEFAREMBEEKE)TESRR
HOBMAEREEHBRER -
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A% A B R T AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as
follows:

J All recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
are subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business
model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, and that have contractual
terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are measured
at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair
value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entities may make an irrevocable election
to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not
held for trading) in other comprehensive
income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

FERFTR] RAZIEFT &R M B
EEA(FEMBREER])
(#&)

BRI RERZ T RSB E
BRI 2ER (&)

BB I & ERIE9 [/ T A
(#&)

BB HREERFR 2 EEHEH
A

- FAEGTEREIR [/ T
H HBRALAEIGERNZMR
EERREMEE HRAA
BRBHEKXAXRATFEFTE-L
HEMEREBRENRERE
ZEBRARMFAERANER
EREE/TERAHAEER
TZHENRZEBERE —
RN ER &SRR # AR
HE-RBBRBKMEOER
EREMHEEREEMER
BRZEBRATHE 2EB
TE URESBEEA DGR
TREEEHELEZRERE
ERAERHAREEANESHE
RRZEB A THARDF
Bt AEM 2 E R E 7 G
E-MTAEMEBKKE RBRA
REORERGFTHRZAF
Bt E - SN RBEFEMHR
EREANFOW  BRBAIMEL A
BEZER REMEE RS
2IEARE (LFFHEER)
ZEBRRAFEEZE ERERK
A—RRBm T ER -
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A5 A B ¥ R M GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (continued)

o With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the
amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is
presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. Changes in fair value of financial
liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities” credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through

profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

FERFTR] RAZIEFT &R M B
HEA([FEMBREER])
(#&)

EEMHE R AR ERZHF] REETE
BB HREER (&)

BB B EREIN [ T A

(%)

. MIEERBAFESABGLZ
TRAGBHFEMS BFEMHK
BEEQERRE He@a
BEEERRBEEMIEHE QT
BEHRBIRNEMEEEK
@25 BRIV EM 2 E RS
BRZAEFERARESH ¥
BEeELSIRNBR 2 G5
B AlfERIER - A @A ENE
ERREEMERE R FER
BEHRITEEFTHNRERS
RIBEEE ST ERIE395 18
ERBEAFEFABSNHS A
BEZEHRAFEEZHFIER

B2
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AR A I R Y AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (continued)

o In relation to the impairment of financial
assets, HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit
loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit
loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses
are recognised.

o The new general hedge accounting
requirements retain the three types of hedge
accounting. However, greater flexibility has
been introduced to the types of transactions
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically
broadening the types of instruments that
qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial
items that are eligible for hedge accounting.
In addition, the effectiveness test has been
overhauled and replaced with the principle
of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also
no longer required. Enhanced disclosure
requirements about an entity's risk
management activities have also been
introduced.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 9 in the future will have no
impact on the classification and measurement in
respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers”

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which
establishes a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction Contracts” and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity
should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. Specifically, the

Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

o Step 1: ldentify the contract(s) with a
customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations

in the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the

entity satisfies a performance obligation
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when ‘control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive

disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have
a material impact on the amounts reported and
disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed

review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured
at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in

exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the

measurement date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use. Fair value under HKFRS 13
is an exit price regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment”, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value for
the purposes of measuring inventories in HKAS
2 or value in use for the purposes of impairment
assessment in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for

the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate

the financial statements of the Company and

entities controlled by the Company and its

subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its

returns.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s

accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts and
sales related tax.

Revenue from contract that includes both interior
decoration services as well as sales of furniture and
fixtures is recognised based on the substance of
each separately identifiable component. Revenue
from sale of furniture is recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed. Revenue from
interior decoration services is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract
at the end of the reporting period determined as
the proportion of the value of work certified by
independent surveyors relative to the total contract
sum. Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments are included to the extent that

they have been agreed with the customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when
goods are delivered and title has passed.

Income from provision of financing guarantee
services is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the guarantee period.

Revenue from provision of logistic services is
recognised on a straight line method over the
contract period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can
be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued
on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interior decoration contracts

When the revenue recognised exceeds progress
billing based on milestones as set out in the services
agreement, the costs incurred but not yet billed,
plus recognised profit, is recognised and shown
as accrued revenue in the consolidated statement
of financial position. For contracts where progress
billings exceed revenue recognised, the net amount
is shown as deferred revenue.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held-for-use in production or supply of goods or
services, or for administration purposes, other
than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated
over their expected useful lives on the same
basis as owned assets. However, when there is
no reasonable certainty that ownership will be
obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
their useful lives.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
properties under construction for such purposes).
Investment properties include land currently held
for undetermined future use.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss in

the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part
of the carrying amount of the investment properties

under construction.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period

in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with definite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives (other than those not
yet available for use) is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets that are not yet available for use
are carried at cost less any recognised impairment
loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as

a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land
and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at

the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms
part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign

operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees and

consultants providing the similar services

For share options granted to the directors,
employees and consultants providing similar
services to the Group, the fair value of services
received determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity

(share options reserve).
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

FEZH =+ —HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(continued)

Share options granted to employees and consultants

providing the similar services (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the

share options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share options reserve

will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Shares granted to a supplier

Shares issued in exchange for goods are measured
at the fair values of the goods received. The
fair values of goods received are recognised as
expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share capital and share premium), when the Group
obtains the goods, unless the goods qualify for

recognition as assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before
tax” as reported in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end

of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation
arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company has reviewed the
Group’'s investment properties and concluded
that substantially all of the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred
taxation on investment properties, the director of
the Company has determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted.

Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the
Group's investment properties has been measured
based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
Costs of inventories are calculated using the
weighted average cost method.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and state-managed retirement benefit scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on

initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is

determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective

interest basis for debt instruments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, bills receivables, loan receivable,
other receivables and deposits, amounts due from
former subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits, and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment (see accounting policy on

impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables where the recognition of interest would
be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Loans and receivables are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the loans and receivables,
the estimated future cash flows of the loans and
receivables have been affected.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest and principal

payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or financial

re-organisation.

For certain categories of loans and receivables,
such as trade receivables, bills receivables and
loan receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments and observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For loans and receivables carried at amortised cost,
the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective

interest rate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables
is reduced by the impairment loss directly of all
loans and receivables with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When trade
receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are equity
instruments. The net proceeds received from the
issue of warrants are recognised in equity (warrant
reserve). Consideration received for issuance of
bonds with detachable warrants is allocated to the
warrants based on their fair value at issue date. The
warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium accounts upon the exercise
of the warrants. When the warrants are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the warrant reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premium or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accruals, construction costs accruals,
amounts due to former subsidiaries, amounts
due to related companies, the debt component
of the 7.5% convertible bonds, 8.0% and 6.5%
coupon bonds, bank overdraft, obligations under
finance leases and bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible bonds contain liability and equity
components

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that
contain both the liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into respective
items on initial recognition in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as
an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(continued)

Convertible bonds contain liability and equity
components (continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts.
The value of early redemption option derivatives
embedded in the convertible bonds which is closely
related to the convertible bonds is included in
the liability component. The difference between
the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the bonds into equity, is
included in equity (convertible bonds and warrants

reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity
component, representing the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, is not remeasured and will remain in
convertible bonds and warrants reserve until the
embedded option is exercised (in which case the
balance stated in convertible bonds and warrants
reserve will be transferred to share premium).
Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
bonds and warrants reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the

option.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(continued)

Convertible bonds contain liability and equity
components (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to
equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period
of the convertible bonds using the effective interest

method.

Coupon bonds and coupon bonds with detachable

warrants

On initial recognition, the fair value of the coupon
bonds is determined using the prevailing market
interest. The fair value of the detachable warrants is
included in equity (convertible bonds and warrants

reserve).

In subsequent periods, the coupon bonds is carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Coupon bonds and coupon bonds with detachable
warrants (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
coupon bonds with detachable warrants are
allocated to the coupon bonds and the warrants in
proportion to the relative fair value of the coupon
bonds and the warrants. Transaction costs relating
to the warrants are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the coupon bonds are
included in the carrying amount of the bonds and
amortised over the period of the bonds using the
effective interest method.

Financing guarantee contracts

A financing guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the Group to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder i.e. banks, for a loss it
incurs because a specified customer fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the original
or modified terms of a debt instrument. The
financing guarantee contract is initially measured
at fair value as represented by the consideration
received from the specified customers and the
consideration received is recognised as revenue
on straight-line basis over the guarantee period.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financing guarantee contract at the
higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under the
contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS
37 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance

with the Group's revenue recognition policy.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

FEZH =+ —HIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for

the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities
when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is measured at
the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money

is material).

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

(continued)

Intangible assets that are not yet available for
use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that may be

impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 3, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects

both current and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgment that the
directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation
arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the directors
of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group's investment properties are held under
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly,
deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s
investment properties has been measured based
on the tax consequences of recovering the carrying

amounts entirely through use.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

When there is objective evidence of an impairment
loss, the Group takes into consideration the
estimation of future cash flows to determine the
impairment loss. The amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. At the end of the reporting
period, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is HK$70,183,000, net off with allowance for
bad and doubtful debts of HK$2,128,000 (2014:
HK$6,697,000, net off with allowance for bad and
doubtful debts of HK$3,013,000). Details are set
out in note 24.

Provision for warranty

The Group generally provides one year’s warranties
to its customers on certain of its products under
which faulty products are repaired and replaced.
The amount of provision of warranty is estimated
based on sales volume and past experience of
the level of repairs and returns. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised
where appropriate. Where the actual request for
repairment and replacement of faulty products is
more than expected, a material provision may arise.

Details are set out in note 30.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Provision for financing guarantee contracts

The Group makes reasonable estimate on costs
required to fulfil the relevant obligation of
guarantee contracts when the Group recognises the
provisions of financing guarantee contracts. Such
estimation is based on the available information
as at reporting date and is determined by the
Group's practical experience, the default history,
financial position of relevant customers assessed
on an individual basis in the industry and taking
into consideration of industry information and
market data. Where the actual obligation the
Group requires to fulfill is more than expected, a
material provision may arise. Amount of corporate
guarantee provided by the Group is disclosed in
note 44.

Fair value of investment properties

At 31 March 2015, the Group’s investment
properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer. In determining the fair value,
the valuer has applied a market value basis which
involves, inter-alia, certain estimates, including
prices realised on actual sales or arising prices of
comparable properties, comparable properties are
analysed and carefully weighted against all the
respective advantages and disadvantages of each
property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of
market values, asset was used in its highest and
best use or selling it to another market participant

that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

RS HE R TARE
ZEBERR (&)

BEERANEE
AEEERRARERRANREE -
HEITERSOELAF KL
BEM A ERNRE AHNE
BER HAEENUNAER 2 EER
i MR P 2Rk RSN -
WEETRERRTSERE A1TX
NIRE R 2 ZBEFHRIEH - BEAK
BETESAERTNEREBEL
B - AIREELBARE AKEIR
HHRRERSERBELM 44 -

REWMEZAFE
R-ZTE-—RAF=A=+—H X&H
ZREMERBBEBLAEREEM
BEMETZHEESHZAFEIK-
REERTER HEMSEBTE
EE-EFPR(EFEFE)ETRR
BREABLENFERLEMER 2
EBRIRE RABLBYEETD
ARBGEZSNEZMERBES
REZ  LEBMEZATHLR  BE
NEZSRREREEARHEHE
TelEsashtEREEREZS
—MHE2EE-

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % I}t & B4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



‘\—--

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A5 A B R R M GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
the amounts due to related companies, 7.5%
convertible bonds, 8.0% and 6.5% coupon bonds
and bank and other borrowings which are disclosed
in notes 29, 36 and 31 respectively and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, reserves and accumulated
losses. The directors of the Company review the
capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of
this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors
of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends
and issuance of new shares as well as raise of new
bank/other borrowings or advances from related
parties and the repayment of existing bank/other

borrowings or repayment to related companies.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. S@WTAH
Categories of financial instruments TRIASS
2015 2014
—E—-EF —E—gF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER F& T
Financial assets EREE
Loans and receivables (including & 5 & fE Yg BR 18
cash and cash equivalents) (BREEeERESEEER) 522,463 627,796
Financial liabilities LHRAE
Amortised cost 55 K A 659,204 541,592
Financing guarantee contracts Bl & IR & %Y 2,935 2,938
Obligations under finance leases Fi& fl & & E 3,294 680

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
trade and bills receivables, loan receivable,
other receivables and deposits, amounts due
from/to former subsidiaries, amounts due to
related companies, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade payables, construction
cost accruals, other payables and accruals, bank
overdraft, obligations under finance leases, bank
and other borrowings, 7.5% convertible bonds,
8.0% and 6.5% coupon bonds and financing
guarantee contracts. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. S@WTAH
(continued) (%)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MR RERBSFEREGR
(continued) (4&)
Market risk 7% /2 B
Currency risk B b
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign ARBHETHWHEBRRAFUINEFEZ
currency sales, which expose the Group to foreign HE  SAKEEERINERRR - LN
currency risk. In addition, certain trade receivables, BRENEBERE 2SN Hik
bills receivables, bank balances and trade payables JEWE 5 R - [ERER  RITHETF R
are denominated in foreign currencies other than FERTE 5 RRIE LASNEE EH(E -
the functional currency of the respective group
entities.
The Group currently does not have a foreign AN 52 (B 35 e I AR SNEE SR IR © AT
currency hedging policy. However, management EREEGERIIERRIT gEERE
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will = B R E RN R B
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign MNINBHECASEEBEERER
currency denominated monetary assets and BERREAHZEEENAT
monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as
follows:

Assets Liabilities

BE =R

2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-5f —T-mF ZE-EF —T-MOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET TR TR
Macau Pataca (“MOP") BT (TR R]) 6,039 119 36 191
United States dollars ("US$") %7t ([%7]) 63,648 10,067 63,473 -
Renminbi ("RMB") ARK(TAR%]) 31,333 100,783 - -
101,020 110,969 63,509 191
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

For certain group entities whose functional currency
is either HK$ or US$, the change in exchange rate
of its functional currency against MOP or US$ or
HK$ respectively has not been considered in the
sensitivity analysis below as HK$ is pegged to US$
and MOP is always stabilised with unchanged
value to HK$. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group does not expect any
significant movements between the exchange rate
of US$ and MOP against HK$.

As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, the monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies other than RMB are insignificant.
Hence, no sensitivity analysis is presented for those

currencies.

As at 31 March 2015, the Group has significant
monetary assets denominated in RMB as the foreign
currency of the group entity. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end
for a 5% change in the foreign currency exchange
rate. A positive number below indicates decrease
in post-tax loss for the year where RMB strengthen
5% against HK$, the functional currency of the
group entity. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
HK$, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the post-tax loss for the year and the balances

below would be negative.
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A5 A B R R M GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. S@WTAH
(continued) (%)

Financial risk management objectives and policies MR RERBSFEREGR
(continued) (4&)

Market risk (continued) SRR ()

Currency risk (continued) B b (&)

Sensitivity analysis (continued) BREE DN (&)

RMB
AR
Year ended 31 March
BE-ZHA=1+—HLFE

2015 2014
—®2-If —E—lF
HK$'000 HK$000
FERT FHET
Decrease in post-tax loss FRRTIIEER
for the year NoRee 1,309 4,208
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, HRHREARZ BRI TREERNZ
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the Bl MAAREFTRRBREDIN
inherent foreign currency risk in relation to RMB REBEBARE Z2ANEINERRTZE -
impact as the end of the reporting period exposure WAERKME-
does not reflect the exposure during the year.
Interest rate risk VYT
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk REERMNEEHEFERITER
in relation to the impact of interest rate changes FRBITEX FREEKER DHER
on variable-rate bank borrowing, variable-rate bank RITERRIBITEFTHZE M EERR
overdraft, variable-rate loan receivable, pledged S mAEEE -

bank deposits and bank balances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to the impact of interest rate
changes on obligations under finance leases, fixed-
rate bank and other borrowing, 8.0% and 6.5%

coupon bonds and 7.5% convertible bonds.

The Group's exposure to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity
risk management section in this note. The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of the Hong Kong Interbank
Offer Rate (“HIBOR") and Hong Kong Prime
Interest Rate arising from the Group’'s HK$
denominated borrowings as well as the Group's

HK$ denominated loan receivable.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need

arise.

For the variable-rate bank balances at 31 March
2015 and 2014, the directors consider the Group's
exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk is
minimal taking into account the minimal fluctuation
on market interest rate and the carrying amounts
at the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, no

sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk is presented.

EWMIA

(#&)

HHEREEBEREE

(#&)

TS E R (&)

FIF R (&)
AEBNRA XS EMERE R
BE-RITEEMERER 8.0% K
6.5%Z B A% R7.5%A I & H
FEMEEAFENERRR -

I

AEEFMEBRNSRBENXRRR
BHEINAMERBDESRARERE —
Mo-AKENRERMNEAREIES
PERRNEE BT ENERRA
SENB T ENERERELNE
BIRITREEFRBA X ([FBRITREE
FRAR]) RBEREBNEKE-

7R % [ 38 By 3 S 1 BT M SR BRI o
A EEEBEEMNEXERNHES
28 BEEREITERNNE@E -

R-ZF-—AFE_F-—HEHFE=AH
=+ —BZEFRRITER K AW
B REK/NNREA R RS AR
REE EFTR/LAEEBZIRARAR
MAMEREBRE T EE RAELIE
B =R 2 R DA

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % I}t & B4+ ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



“--lllllll

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45 A RS o 2R B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below were determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
variable-rate bank borrowing, variable-rate bank
overdraft and variable-rate loan receivable at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis was
prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 25 basis
point (2014: 25 basis point) increase or decrease
represented management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 25 basis points (2014: 25
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for
the year ended 31 March 2015 would decrease/
increase by HK$6,000 (2014: post-tax loss decrease/
increase by HK$28,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent interest rate risk as the end of the
reporting period exposure does not reflect the

exposure during the year.
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AR A I R T AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

FEZH =+ —HIEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties and financing guarantees provided
by the Group arises from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financing guarantees provided by the Group as

disclosed in the note 44.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to
receivable generated from interior decoration work
and international trading, regarding counterparties
failure to discharge the obligation to the Group,
the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
as stated above, loan receivable and amounts due
from former subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Regarding the policies in order to minimise the
credit risks of the loan receivable, only referral
customers and short term borrowing requests
are accepted. Besides, the credit department is
responsible for formulating appropriate credit
policies. It also conducts background and credit
searches and carries out credit assessment and
submits proposal to executive directors of the
Company for further consideration. Then the
executive directors of the Company take reference
of these information and assess the financial
position of each referral customer to consider if
the loan is approved. Subsequently, the credit
department performs subsequent loan review
regularly to assess if any outstanding loan requires

attention to its collectability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In relation to the Group providing guarantees to
secure obligations of customers for repayment
of their bank borrowings, if there is a default
in repayment by these customers, the Group is
responsible for repaying the outstanding bank
borrowings together with any accrued interests
and penalties owed by the customers to banks.
Such guarantees will be released by banks upon
the repayment of the underlying loans. In order to
minimise the credit risks of these loans, only referral
customers are accepted and short term guarantees
are granted. Besides, the credit department conduct
background and credit searches and submit to
executive directors of the Company for further
consideration. Then the executive directors of the
Company take reference of these information
and assess the financial position of each referral
customer before the guarantee is granted. In
addition, the credit department performs site visit
and loan review regularly to ensure follow up
action is taken to recover overdue debts, if any.
Further, certain portion of those loans had been
settled by the customers to banks subsequently. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk on such guarantees is
significantly reduced. Detailed disclosure of these

guarantees is set out in note 44.

The Group’s bank balances and pledged bank
deposits, are placed with banks of high credit rating
and reputation and the Group has limited exposure

to any single financial institution.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical location is in Hong Kong and Macau,
which account for 98.8% (2014: 88.6%) of the
trade and bills receivables and 100% of the loan
receivable (2014: 100%). Further, the Group has
concentration of credit risk of the refundable
deposit paid for prepaid lease payments for land. In
the opinion of directors of the Company, given such
deposit is placed at the PRC government authority
directly, relevant credit risk is limited.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
84.5% of the total trade and bills receivables is due
from one of the Group’s major customer (2014:
34.8% of the total trade receivables is due from
one of the Group's major customer). Continuous
subsequent settlements are received and there is no
historical default of payments by this customer. At
31 March 2015 and 2014, the Group also has the
concentration of credit risk from the loan receivable
due from a company which is the subsidiary of
a listed company in Canada with sound financial
position and a company which is the subsidiary of a
listed company in Hong Kong with sound financial
position respectively. Management of the Company
assigned a team to closely follow up the debts due.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider
the risk has been properly addressed. Other than
that, the Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of

counterparties and customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other than the concentration of credit risk on bank
balances, pledged bank deposits, trade and bills
receivables, loan receivable and amounts due from
former subsidiaries, the Group has no significant

concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank and other

borrowings.

The Group relied on bank and other borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. The Group
monitored and reviewed periodically the conditions
of loan covenants of the existing banking facilities
and tried all efforts to comply with the loan
covenants. In case of any breach of the loan
covenants noted, the Group would communicate
with the respective bank to discuss the possibility of
revising the relevant loan covenants and arranging

for waiver of immediate repayment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
As at 31 March 2015, the Group had available

unutilised overdrafts facility of approximately
HK$5,000,000 (2014: available unutilised
overdrafts and short-term revolving loan facilities
of approximately HK$5,079,000) in which the
undrawn overdraft facilities were in floating
rate and without specific expiry terms (2014:
HK$79,000 was in floating rate and without
specific expiry terms while the remaining balance of
HK$5,000,000 was in fixed rate and will repayable
on or before 11 July 2014). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group does not have
extensive needs of funds in short run and is readily
accessible to facilities from reputable banks. Details
of the Group’s bank and other borrowings at 31
March 2015 and 2014 are set out in note 31.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with
a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for financial liabilities are based on

the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting

period.

EWMIA

(#&)

HHEREERERKE

(#&)

HEBEER (&)
R-ZE—RFE=A=+—HB £45H
BB REA 2B EE 545,000,000
BT (ZE—NF - BABAEIRE
BfRIRIRTTERE B &EAY5,079,000/8
) HARREREXEEEARZEK
WSS TE JEmA ( ZZF — P4 : 79,000
BT RIE B kI E WM &
5,000,000/ 7T & E & F &= B R =
T-—NMFELAT—HRZAEE) -
ARREERA AEEEHITEKX
EESTE BRAZNARIRBITEH
SRHE - AEER_ZT—HFR=F
—E=ZA=+—RAZRTREME
FEF BRI IR -

TRFANAEEZERBEZHRTA
MEBMB-TRINEBEBREBERA
SEANREABEZRFAHZRER
Renmi e REBME  HEAKRER
BEGRZBITERDIFFAREEERE
BB - T M am SRITIE BTN 27
EE-eREEZIHAABEZE
NHBEE-

TREEMNERASRERE KA
BRAFEE  AARMESEERER
SR M R AR E

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ v 4 B8 2 %l 4 B 4 7 | Annual Report 2015

143



.--——/

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

144

AR A I R T AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6.
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

ERMTH
(#&)

AR ERE B R RBR

(%)

REBETDER ()

Liquidity tables TEE 2 5#F
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average or 3 months Total carrying
effective less than to 1-2 Over undiscounted  amounts at
interest rate 3 months 1 year years 2 years cash flows 31.3.2015
R=B-1%
mEFH RERY =Rz #BREREE =ZA=1-H
ERAE  HSR=fA - -FERE HBMF REEE ZAKREE
% per annum HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEA=E TR TR TER TR TER TER
31.3.2015 —E-FE=A=1-H
Trade payables ERBSEE - 75,244 - = = 75,244 75,244
Other payables and accruals HinEAREREAER - 16,192 - - - 16,192 16,192
Construction cost accruals A RERA - 38,548 - - - 38,548 38,548
Amounts due to former subsidiaries & #1f B A BB = 9,536 = = - 9,536 9,536
Amount due to related companies  FEffEE A AR - 22,195 - - - 22,195 22,195
Bank borrowing - fixed rate BIER-T8 1.76 2332 - - - 2,332 2332
Bank borrowing - variable rate RIER-ZE 272 7,064 - - - 7,064 7,064
Obligations under finance leases ~ B&T & &
- fixed rate &8 2.81 291 872 1,013 1,585 3,761 3,294
7.5% convertible bonds 7.5% A AR EH
- fixed rate -8 22.03 = 322,500 = = 322,500 294,472
8.0% coupon honds BO%REESR
- fixed rate =g 12.13 = 16,000 216,000 = 232,000 193,621
Financing quarantee contracts issued 2EHBEERAS
- Maximum amount guarantee -RRBER
(note 44) (Ffstad) - 427,149 - - - 427,149 -
598,551 339,372 217,013 1,585 1,156,521 662,498
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. SWMTIA
(continued) (%)

Financial risk management objectives and policies MR RERBSFEREGR
(continued) (#&)

Liquidity risk (continued) B E TR (&
Liquidity tables (continued) B EZSE (&)

Weighted On demand Total
average or 3 months Total carrying
effective less than to 1-2 Over  undiscounted amounts at

interest rate 3 months 1 year years 2 years cash flows 31.3.2014
RZZ-mF
METH RERH =Rz K#EAE =A=1-8
ERME  SR=@EA - -EEZRE B NERE  REEE
% per annum HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEH X THL FHL TAL THL FHL TRAL
31.3.2014 “Z-mE=A=1+-AH
Trade payables ERESEE - 13,078 - - - 13,078 13,078
Other payables and accruals ~ E BN KA REBRE - 12,605 - - - 12,605 12,605
Amounts due to former ERAHEAR
subsidiaries HRIE - 9,536 - - - 9,536 9,536
Other borrowing - fixed rate ~ EtEH-T & 12.00 - 46,350 - - 46,350 45,000
Bank borrowing - variable rate  $FTEH—Z8 271 7,862 - = - 7,862 7,862
Bank overdraft - variable rate ~ $/7EX %8 5.25 4,921 - - - 4,921 4921
Obligations under finance leases & 7l & ##&
- fixed rate -8 7.55 74 224 298 149 745 680
7.5% convertible bonds 7.5% A AR EH
- fixed rate ) 22.03 = 22,500 322,500 - 345,000 257,258
6.5% coupon honds 6.5%REEH
- fixed rate ) 22.87 = 202,829 - - 202,829 191,332
Financing quarantee contracts B EHBEER
issued &
~ Maximum amount guarantee  — &= BIER
(note 44) (Bt zEaq) 375,915 - - - 375,915 -
423,991 271,903 322,798 149 1,018,841 542,272
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

The amount included above for financing guarantee
contracts is the maximum amount the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the directors of the Company consider that it is
less likely that the amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

As at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014, the
bank borrowing with a repayment on demand
clause was included in the “on demand or less
than 3 month” time band in the above maturity
analysis. The aggregate carrying amounts of this
bank borrowing amounted to HK$7,064,000
(2014: HK$7,862,000). Taking into account the
Group’s financial position, the directors of the
Company did not believe that it was probable
that the bank would exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors of the Company believe that such bank
borrowing would be repaid one to eight years
(2014: one to nine years) after the reporting date
in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreement. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows
would amount to HK$7,838,000 (HK$1,001,000
repayable within 1 year, HK$1,001,000 repayable
1 to 2 years, HK$3,003,000 repayable 2 to 5
years and HK$2,833,000 repayable over 5 years)
(2014: HK$8,839,000 (HK$1,001,000 repayable
within 1 year, HK$1,001,000 repayable 1 to 2
years, HK$3,003,000 repayable 2 to 5 years and
HK$3,834,000 repayable over 5 years)).

TRMTAR

(%)

R ERE R RRBE

(%)

RBEZERE (&)
RBEEIZE (&)
ERFAIIBEREREOSER/AEE
EERRXGHREFREZMERS
BLHARATENRS SR RE
BEHRRNER  ARREEFRR &%
S IAAEBRBE LT - R -
ZEEAREEAR ST REBERELR
{8 B9 7] BE 14 T 3% A B L - ok AT BE 1
R 577 ¥ A K BRI % B WA
AZEERANAIREETE-

R-_ZE—RAF=A=+—BIrk_ZF
—NF=ZA=+—"H HBEEARE
KEBERZBITERIIE EXE
AR ATEERkLI DR =@
AlZHBR -ZBRTEXREEES
¥4 57,064,000 0 (=& — O F :
7,862,000/ 70 ) - IR A& B # B
B - ARAEZTHERITTIK
AT EMBEEEZRAFEER-
RAREEFHEZBRITERERR
EHr—FENF(ZE—WF: —
FENF) AR B E I Pl 8 5K
FREXEE BN e kAERS
i #A %8 8 457,838,000 T (—4F
A FE{E E1,001,0008 L — & —4F
A FE{E E1,001,000/8 0 — & A4
A JfE {8 1&3,003,000/8 T & L F WA E
JfE (€ 12,833,000 ) (—ZT— M
% :8,839,0008 L (—F KN EE
1,001,000 L —E = FANE
1,001,000 .- —EAF AN JE
3,003,000/ 7t & 1 FF BA £ A
3,834,000/ 7)) °
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A5 A B R R M GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

REVENUE

Revenue which represents the sales value of goods
supplied to customers and service income from
interior decoration work, financing guarantee

services and logistics services is analysed as follows:

F@MIA

(%)

B 5 L 22 L R R

(%)

AFME
SRAERSRAAENATETIRE
MRRS RN ERARE BERE
=

ARAEFERR EHRAMBHRERT
REBHAAARNETREERTR A
BENREERE A FERSE-

LN

WA - HETEFEmZHEEE N
RERKHTE BEZERRBELY
MRS Z RISWA - AT a0

2015 2014
—ZE—FHEF —T—OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Revenue from interior EREMIE
decoration work WA 140,362 111,930
Revenue from international B E 5
trading WA 72,488 18,214
Revenue from financing & R AR 7%
guarantee services WA 26,961 14,272
Revenue from logistics services  #777% AR % W A 7,662 7,315
247,473 151,731
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM?"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focus on the types of goods supplied and services
provided by the Group.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 are (i) interior decoration work,
(ii) international trading, (iii) financing guarantee
services and (iv) logistics services.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Group commenced the trading of consumer
goods and electronic components. Based on the
internal information that is regularly reviewed
by the Group's executive directors, the financial
information on trading of furniture and fixture,
consumer goods and electronic components is
presented as one operating segment as certain of
expenses are incurred for these businesses while the
Group's executive directors based on this report to
assess the performance of segments. Accordingly,
results from trading of furniture and fixtures,
consumer goods and electronic components
are presented as one operating segment as
“international trading”.

The revenue streams and results from these
segments are the basis of the internal reports
about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the CODM in order to
allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance.

No segment assets or liabilities is presented as
the CODM does not review segment assets and
liabilities.

7 EE
RIELERDERFEDIRERMZ
BRARAMTES (AETELER
RE(XEEERRE]) ) 2ER
EERAKEREzEmEERE
2 AR5

REBRBEE BV RS LR FES5R
i T
B(NEBRE S (i EERRE X
(iv)¥0 7 AR 75 ©

=
S
i
X
=l
Ho
%%I—
ISp]
ol
&
ot
2

BE_ZT-—AF=A=+—HL*F
B AEERGEREERRETFE
HES REAEEATESTTHE
BlzAMER BRARMNREE BB
HERMMEFEHES CMBERT
2HNR—RBEREDF ARZEFXED
VEELEETHX MAKEHITE
ERBURSEFEOBRER - Bt &K
MEEE BREEMRETZMHE
FZFEBEI R —EZE DA [E
REBH] -

ZEDBZWARBREEAEHE
B AMRE 2 AR IYHETBE
BARETHEN BAHES D
RERRFHEERSE -

DHEEXABARZINDIEAERE
ERRELBEHOBEERAE-

148  CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ It 4 [ W # /i £ B 24 7 | Annual Report 2015 &%



‘ﬁ---

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A5 A B R R M GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % —%

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC by

o0
SN

N
- W

)
Y

&

—HE=ZH=1+—HIL4E

MUA R FE A
AEBEIZA] 2%

e

D EpE
BB RPFIRFBEZ WA REED T

reportable and operating segments: mes
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2015 31 March 2014
BE-Z2-1% BEZZT-—NF
ZAEtT-BLEE =A=+-HILEE
Segment Segment
Segment  profit (loss) Segment profit (loss)
revenue  for the year revenue for the year
FEIWEF FED R
AU A (B#]) 2 EBA (B#])
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TRT TR
Interior decoration work EREMHTE 140,362 6,553 11,930 7,619
International trading HIRE S 72,488 (4,506) 18,214 (4,175)
Financing guarantee services &b & &7 R % 26,961 18,145 14,272 5,673
Logistics services i B 7% 7,662 1,478 7,315 1,950
Total st 247,473 21,670 151,731 11,067
Unallocated other income, &2 2 E AUz -
gains and losses % K B8 14,845 (4,384)
Equity-settled share-based i m & B ARD A
payments R ANEN (8,788) (12,453)
Finance costs B A (80,983) (64,895)
Change in fair value of REME 2 A TE
investment properties i 8,762 -
Unallocated corporate RO E
expenses A (31,664) (22,395)
Loss before taxation BRI A B 1R (76,158) (93,060)
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AR A I R T AR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

LA

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
Segment profit/loss represents the profit/loss
earned/suffered by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs, equity-settled share-
based payments in relation to central administrative
staff, change in fair value of investment properties,
other income, gains and losses (except for financing
guarantee contracts recognised, bad debt directly
written off, reversal of allowance/allowance for bad
and doubtful debts, net), directors’ emoluments
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation
and performance assessment.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit
or loss:

ZA=t—HILFE

Year ended 31 March 2015
BE-2-RFZB=t-BLEE

Interior  Financing

International ~ decoration  guarantee
trading work services

ER e

BES £HIR BREH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn FhT

Logistics
services

NREH
HKS000
TR

o P
ﬁfﬁ
mo>~ M
N &

% =
okt
o S|

XE(E)
’§5+Eﬁzﬁﬁéﬁi$’il2 g
DEHEFBETIE DI
B RATERAC A - B &
B R IRHE A S AR (0 A E R
2 REMEL AT EES - EAid
W FmMEE (TEEEERRE
BREH  ZREEEME REEREE
B BEFE) ESHE RTBK

D

u> 3

E

a0 B omk
SO R

-

AZFBEEN,/ FIRZEE - A
EBRRTIRZLERRERRIEER
MFHERBEZA -

BIEFA

Vear ended 31 March 2014
HE-R-ME=A=+-HLERE

Trading of \mer\or Financing
furniture  decoration  quarantee Logistics
Total  and fixtures work services services Total
RHR E4 BE
@t %BE5 EHIR ERES boyidiieys @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TR TR TR

Depreciation of property, nE BER

plant and equipment REHE 17 29 99 608 753 23 29 31 163 246
Amortisation of intangible assets &/ & E# & - - - 564 564 - - - - -
(Reversal of allowance) allowance Rk (BEHE)

for bad and doubtful debts, net ~ &fEFE (885) - - - (885) 2,575 (2,051) - - 524
Bad debt directly written off BRERNE - - - - - - 292 - - 292
Financing guarantee contracts BRAREER

recognised E=Y 0] - - - - - - - 2,986 - 2,986
Geographical information b 13 & #

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. All the Group’s revenue
from external customers are located in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC based on locations of

customers.

AEEREXRBUNEE B RSB
AKEMARBINBELZWA
BEPHMEMERE D HUNEE R
P9 R B -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. o EER
(continued) (%)
Geographical information (continued) i Bk (&)
The Group's revenue from external customers REBKRBINBELP ZWARREE
and information about its non-current assets by FrEMEl D 2 ERBDEEFBAOT :
geographical location of the assets are detailed
below:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REMBEF 2B A FRBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
“®-1f —T-@WF C—B-If C—T-@F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
TER THT TER TET
Hong Kong and Macau BB RRM 146,646 130,144 21,621 37,390
The PRC FE 100,827 21,587 318,407 2,364
247,473 151,731 340,028 39,754
Information about major customers FEXFER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years ERPWAREEFEREMLRERERA
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the 10% A EZEAT
Group are as follows:
2015 2014
—E-1F —ZT—-MEF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T T
Customer A el 28,924 N/AZT &
Customer B! BR N/ATER 38,621
Customer C! BEFA N/ATER 17,756
Customer D2 BRT? 62,956 N/A i
g Revenue from interior decoration work ! EREHMHTIZZKA
2 Revenue from international trading 2 BRE 52 A
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND Hzm - -MER
LOSSES B8
2015 2014
—E-EF —F-EF
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FHBTT
Other income H b Y 2
Interest income (Note) BN (H72E) 13,493 4,602
Imputed interest income from & W A1 B /28 A &)
amounts due from former RIBZHEER S
subsidiaries A 1,905 =
15,398 4,602
Other gains and losses H b Fl 2 & E5 18
Change in fair value of FIEEEREZ
investments held-for-trading NEEE - 145
Adjustment on amounts due & W A1 Ff /B8 A &)
from former subsidiaries RIBZ A& - (4,077)
Net foreign exchange loss b 5 E 1R (553) (5,054)
Reversal of allowance (allowance) %3 B # [0 5 &
for bad and doubtful debts, net (¥ ) %58 885 (524)
Financing guarantee contracts R E E IR
recognised =X - (2,986)
Bad debt directly written off AR E B - (292)
332 (12,788)
15,730 (8,186)
Note: Included in the interest income amount of Biat: FIBULAF - 4,920,000 (=

HK$4,920,000 (2014: HK$3,694,000) is generated
from the Group’s loans granted to independent
third parties during the year ended 31 March
2015. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, money lending transactions are
temporary and does not constitute one of the
principle activities of the Group. The remaining
balance is the interest income from saving
deposits.

— P04 : 3,694,000/8 7T ) 2 & EA 3K
BHE-_T—RAF=A=1+—H1
FEASERTBIYE=TWE
H-ARRESESRAE EERS A
TR TERASEE—BEEE
o BREBARATFRFEWA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BAEE A
2015 2014
—E-0F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T
Interest on: ATRBEZHE:
Bank and other borrowings HARAFAEH
wholly repayable within BEZRITR
five years EmE R 3,661 1,559
Effective interest expense on 3.0% A MRESH 2
3.0% convertible bonds ERF SR - 2,878
Effective interest expense on 75% R MRES 2
7.5% convertible bonds ERAERAX 59,714 30,776
Effective interest expense on 6.5%EEEHFZ
6.5% coupon bonds ERAERAX 11,497 29,621
Effective interest expense on BO0%EEEHFLZ
8.0% coupon bonds ERAMEFMAX 9,780 =
Obligations under finance BEMEE
leases AE 120 61
Total finance costs B IS AR #B5R 84,772 64,895
Less: Amount capitalised in R E
investment properties Mz 2 B
under construction Gk} (3,789) =
80,983 64,895

REBEE_ZEZ—HAF=-H=+—HL1
FE REEEBEZERNMETBEK
AN 49 41,845,000 70 (=& — Y 4F :
/) REBEE-E—AF=A=+—
HIEFE K —RUEEELHaZE
AL B TE K 2N 491,944,000 7T ( =&
—UFE)NEAETFI1213%2E&
AR (ZZT—UF: E)FE o

Finance cost capitalised during the year ended
31 March 2015 arose on the specific borrowings
was approximately HK$1,845,000 (2014: nil).
Finance cost capitalised during the year ended 31
March 2015 arose on the general borrowing pool
of approximately HK$1,944,000 (2014: nil) are
calculated by applying capitalisation rate of 12.13%
per annum (2014: nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERESTHRAER

EMOLUMENTS M £
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ERNENTARZ(ZE-—HFE:N
eight (2014: eight) directors and chief executive B)EERESTHRAEGULNMHE
were as follows: s
Year ended 31 March 2015 BE-Z—AF=A=+—HLEFE
Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefits settled
Directors’ and other scheme  share-based Total
fees benefits contributions payments 2015
BEREE
FHR BRAEN HURGARER Eh
ESZHe HiEH STEMR 2% ZB-I1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER TEx THER TER THERL
(Note (i)
(HEE)
Executive directors HITEE
Li Weibin FEH - 2,000 - 842 2,842
Siu Wai Yip FEE - 1,560 18 587 2,165
Lam Suk Ling, Shirley R - 1,320 18 587 1,925
Lau Chi Kit EIEEES - 360 - 392 752
Non-executive director HHITEZ
Fung Sau Mui ik 180 - - 196 376
Independent non-executive B FEEH 7T
directors EZ
Lai Ka Fung, May 2R 168 - - 196 364
Chan Sim Ling, Irene BiER 168 - - 196 364
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond &R 720 - - 668 1,388
Total EH) 1,236 5,240 36 3,664 10,176
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+ —H L4

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERESTHRAER

EMOLUMENTS (continued) e (&)
Year ended 31 March 2014 HE_Z-—NF=A=+—RHLFE
Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefits settled
Directors’ and other scheme share-based Total
fees benefits  contributions payments 2014
RERLE
270 )4 BRAEF URHAER @t
EEE Hit iz A AtEME ZRH ZE-lmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FEL FAT TAT FHEL
(Note (i)
(W)
Executive directors HITEE
Li Weibin £ - 2,000 - 1317 3317
Siu Wai Yip FEE - 1,560 15 919 2,494
Lam Suk Ling, Shirley Rk - 1,320 15 919 2,254
Lau Chi Kit (Note (i) B (W) 111 193 - 613 917
Non-executive director HHITEZ
Fung Sau Mui B5iE 180 - - 306 486
Independent non-executive B FEEH 7T
directors EZ
Lai Ka Fung, May e 155 - - 306 461
Chan Sim Ling, Irene RiER 155 - - 306 461
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond MER
(Note (iii)) (Hiz# i) 209 - - 219 428
Total @it 810 5,073 30 4,905 10,818
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 11.

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(i) Equity-settled share-based payments represent
share options granted to directors of the Company
under a share option scheme adopted by the
Company in year 2012. The value of these share
options is measured according to the Group’s
accounting policies for share-based payment

transactions.

Details of share options granted to directors of
the Company and other employees, including the
principal terms and number of options granted,
are set out in note 37.

(ii) The disclosed emoluments for Mr. Lau Chi
Kit represented the emoluments received or
receivable for the period from 1 April 2013 to
17 September 2013 for his capacity to act as an
independent non-executive director (approximately
HK$374,000) and from 18 September 2013 to 31
March 2014 for his capacity to act as an executive
director (approximately HK$543,000).

(iii) Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond was appointed on 17
December 2013.

Mr. Li Weibin is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosure above
include those for services rendered by him as the
Chief Executive.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to the directors of the Company as
compensation for loss of office or an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group. None of
the directors of the Company has waived any
emoluments in both years.

EERBREITRAR
M (&)

() EHESEEAR BEWZ R
REARTR B F R
REHARTFARAEEZBR
o XS 2 B E R EAK
BABARN AR HRZH2
LR

RIARRESREMER ZBR
RFE(BERHBREZEIER
R EB ) BERMIEE3T -

(i) FTHEASGELEZHMEER=F
—=FmNA—BRE-_T—=Fh
At+tRAHMEEBIIERTE
FRTS (49374,000870) KB =-F
—=FNA+N\BE_ZT—WE=
A=+ R HHEERNTESRS
(#9543,0007% 7T ) 2 B 45 sk FE 45 B

S
S

(i) MERBLR-_ZT-—Z=F+_F7
THREEE-

FEBEENRARBZEETHA
B RELEBRBECMEBRREER
FBETBRABMREHRERG 2ME -

HRER AEBARAARBES
ARERBMLMELHEE KBRS
MAREBHIMARE B M4 T 52
T WRFR AARIWEEZWEME
] B < -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

12. EMPLOYEE’'S EMOLUMENTS 12. ETM=
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments AEEREEaMEzATHZ=
in the Group, three (2014: three) were directors of Z(ZE—NF: ZR)BEARAIZE
the Company whose emoluments were disclosed F - HMEeERNMENPRE-#E -
at note 11. The emoluments of the remaining two T-hF="A=1T—HIEFE &
(2014: two) highest paid individuals for the year ME(ZE-—HF -ME)&aME A
ended 31 March 2015 are as follows: Tz :
2015 2014
—E-HF —T-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Salaries, bonus and HE -~ FEAT K
other benefits E b 18 F| 2,364 2,219
Contributions to retirement RIKEFFTE
benefit schemes K 92 86
2,456 2,305
Less than HK$1,000,001 4 #1,000,001% 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7C & 1,500,000/ JT 2 2
2 2
During the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014, RBE_ZT—RAFER_ZT—NF=A
no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the =+ —BLEFE AEETERAEZ
five employees with the highest emoluments as an = iESZMe  ERRSIK
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EMAREBE S MAREE R 28
compensation for loss of office. SEERAS(E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

13. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 13. BR¥ATEE
2015 2014
—ZE-RfF —ZT—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHEIT

Loss before taxation has been B AR AT E 18 B Bk

arrived at after charging: TFIIER -
Auditor’s remuneration % S AN B & 1,180 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant 1% = Kk & #
and equipment e 2,163 1,246
Amortisation of intangible assets £ JiZ & & # 4 564 =
Provision for warranty REBME
(included in cost of (5T AHE X
sales and services) ARG A AN ) 1,709 288
Staff costs (including directors” B TR (E#
emoluments, note 11) EEHz K1)
Wages, salaries and & H &k
other benefits H 13 7l 29,766 27,535
Retirement benefits scheme RRAEFETE
contributions H 712 642
Equity-settled share-based BERDEEURNDAERZ
payments (Note) (A ) 12,169 15,390
42,647 43,567
Cost of inventories recognised R AR 2
as expenses BFEERA 71,528 14,482
Operating lease rentals paid in BB EMEZE
respect of rented properties KEHEEHS 7,718 6,617
Operating lease rentals paid in BB AZRE 2D
respect of office equipment KEEEHES 238 50
Note: Amount included equity-settled share-based Htat : R IBBERERRANREHE R
payment to consultants of HK$3,427,000 (2014: BEREHEEZERASEBRER
HK$5,359,000) in connection with the services % I FE ¥ 1% 55 B & M (A & L B S
provided by the consultants who solely rendered Sz REREE ARG BER 2
services and reported their duties to the Group {~13%3,427,0008 L (= F— 4 :
during the current and prior reporting periods. 5,359,000/ 7t) ° A B iR 75 B AR &
Such services are similar as in nature to those EREERMEZRBIEZEEM-

rendered by employees of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 14. S8 (ER)
2015 2014
—E—-RF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FHETT

Current tax: REEFIA:

Hong Kong BB 17 =
PRC s 4,865 1,740
Macau YR 189 120
5,071 1,860

(Overprovision) underprovision — BEFE#EE (BFE) TR :
in prior years:

Hong Kong B - 203
Macau B P - (184)
- 19
5,071 1,879
Deferred tax (note 33) EIERIE (A7 533) (1,040) (4,597)
4,031 (2,718)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the bt M F 2 B A ST TR 5T e AR A
estimated assessable profit for both years. i M16.5%5H & ©
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax RIEPEREMETE ([REREHR
(the “EIT Law”) and implementation Regulation of E)REEMBHEZBIEH - F
the EIT Law. The tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is MBARZHMEE T NF—H—
25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. A A25% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 14.

(continued)

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at the

maximum progressive rate of 12% on the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the

loss before taxation per the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

follows:

FiEHmA< (%)

(#&)

It W F 2RI PR 1S i SE R $R (4 5 I
AR MR RS RERE12%E -

RERBIAR

PN

RSN

BEMEMER

W R AR AT B IR 2 BRI T -

2015 2014
—E-HF —T-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T

Loss before taxation bR T AT ES 1B (76,158) (93,060)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax &2 & & B Fi# £ 16.5%

rate of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) —T—HEF: 16.5% ) (12,566) (15,354)
Tax effect of expenses not ST EEAERIBIR 2

deductible for tax purposes DTS- 13,333 11,276
Tax effect of income not taxable W5~ FAEF 2

for tax purposes DTS- (638) (390)
Underprovision in respect of BT FEEE

prior years T~ - 19
Tax effect of tax losses not T 7% B 48 R e R

recognised s 1,411 1,701
Utilisation of tax losses B) A 2 AT R FE R

previously not recognised 7% E1a (1,191) (720)
Effect of different tax rates of RE A B)EE 8t @

subsidiaries operating in other  &&ZBAE 2

jurisdictions ENGE vl 3,682 698
Others H Aty - 52
Income tax expense (credit) REESRAX

for the year (L) 4,031 (2,718)
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+ —H L4

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 Mach 2015, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2014: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

Loss

15.

16.

@SN
HE_ZT-—AF=A=+—HILFE
NI BN HRZRTRE  BRE
HIR AR IM B 2 3 Ik (R (=
T-WMFEE) -

BREE
ARBHEAEANEESRERREEE
BREBTIHRFE:

2015 2014

—E-1F —T-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FHET
Loss for the year attributable to AT ESBREAR K
owners of the Company D =Pl /N
for the purposes of basic and HEABIEEREE

diluted loss per share &5 18 (80,189) (90,342)
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —“F— 4= =+—H L4

16. LOSS PER SHARE (continued) BREE (&)
Number of shares g 4=
‘000 ‘000
Fr T B
Weighted average number of RUAGTEESRER
ordinary shares for the purpose R #EEEIE 2
of basic and diluted loss I 38 A% b0
per share 15 2 2,199,264 1,853,472

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the conversion of the outstanding 7.5%
convertible bonds and the exercise of share options
and warrants as they would result in a decrease in
loss per share.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the conversion of the outstanding 7.5%
convertible bonds, the exercise of share options and
warrants or the issue of the contingently issuable
shares to Hong Kong Logistics Technology & System
Limited (“LTS") (see note 35) as they would result

in a decrease in loss per share.

RBE_T-—AF=A=+—HIF
Bt ESREEEBEYLERRFR
BRI S5%AMBEFCDEEREE
Pt Rk RREEDEITE REZR
FeEHEBREERD

REBE_T-—NFE=A=+—HIF
B st EEREEERY ERRE AR
BBRZT 5% MREFCDEEREE
RELRREZBCDETENCDRAEE
MRHMEEERBERAE (LTS ])
THARETRN (RHTEE3S) - REA
ERESENERERRD -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+ —H L4

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. E - BERZE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures Construction
land and Leasehold Computer and office Motor in
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles progress Total
HELHR BENR EUSE S
2 %8 EMRE RELERRK RE ERIR ag

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TAR TER TER

CosT A

At 1 April 2013 RZE-=FNA—-A 18,264 214 501 276 1,339 752 21,346

Additions NE - 401 536 95 306 100 1,438

Exchange realignment B A% = 4) (6) (1) () = (16)
RZZ-RmE

At 31 March 2014 ZA=1+-H 18,264 611 1,031 370 1,640 852 22,768

Additions NE - 688 548 92 5,147 - 6,473

Exchange realignment ERAZ - (1) (1) = @ = ()]
R=B-E1F

At 31 March 2015 =ZH=t-H 18,264 1,298 1,578 460 6,785 852 29,237

DEPRECIATION ik

At 1 April 2013 R-Z-=FNA—-H 152 133 269 65 291 - 910

Charge for the year FEERE 609 202 119 36 280 - 1,246

Exchange realignment 5 R - = (1) = (1) = @)
RZT-MF

At 31 March 2014 =R=t—-H 761 335 387 101 570 - 2,154

Charge for the year TEERE 609 490 248 61 755 - 2,163

Exchange realignment EHAE - (1 - - - = (1)
R-B-1%

At 31 March 2015 =A=+-H 1,370 824 635 162 1,325 - 4,316

CARRYING VALUES BmE
R-B-7%

At 31 March 2015 =A=+-H 16,894 474 943 298 5,460 852 24,921
RZZE-RE

At 31 March 2014 =R=t—-H 17,503 276 644 269 1,070 852 20,614
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:
Leasehold land and Over the shorter of the
buildings terms of the lease, or
30 years
Leasehold improvements 10% for owned assets
or over the lease terms
for the leased assets
Computer equipment 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 20%

At 31 March 2015, leasehold land and buildings of
the Group with carrying values of HK$16,894,000
(2014: HK$17,503,000) were pledged with a
bank to secure a loan granted to the Group. The
leasehold land was situated in Hong Kong under
long lease. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, allocation of the carrying amounts
between the leasehold land and buildings elements
could not be made reliably, accordingly, the
owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings
of HK$16,894,000 (2014: HK$17,503,000) are
included in property, plant and equipment.

At 31 March 2015, the motor vehicles with carrying
value of HK$3,996,000 (2014: HK$781,000) are
assets held under finance leases.

(%)

U EZWE BERXEEEMS -
BER TR UERAFE - FRA
ZERMT

MELHE BREEFHH0FZ
BT nEE

MENERE BEEERI0%KZEE
BECHESH

Pk} 20%

R-_ZT—RAFE=ZA=+—H A%EH
BRE1E 416,894,000/ L (=& — Y
£ :17,503,000%8 70 ) 2 HE T i R 1Z
FEERGRIT ERETAEEE
RZER R BEBE CHE LTI
RHHEARFE ARREEFERAE  BE
AEENHELWEEFIHRAA
Z DB A 116,894,000 L (=&
—PO4F : 17,503,000/ 70) Z¥EEH A
HETHREFFAME BKE KK
e o

R-ZE—RAF=A=+—H KM@
8 43,996,000 L (=& — M :
781,000/ 7T ) 2 A E T AR A F & FF
BZEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE
2015
—T—RfF
HK$'000
T T
Investment properties under construction: £ & ¥ 2
At the beginning of the year F7) =
Additions NE 236,202
Changes in fair value recognised in RiERERZ A FE
profit or loss FE) 8,762
Exchange realignment ME 3, o8 2 (548)
At the end of the year FR 244,416
As at 31 March 2015, the development plan on the RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H B@f
land plot located at Hantai district, Hanzhong City, REEREEERTEAR 2P HR
Shaanxi Province, the PRC under medium term and REEEM IR ([ZLi]) 2 A
long term leases (the “Land”) has not yet been ElRAEEBBRAFHFALE R
approved by the relevant government authority. As —REF=A=+—H AEBEER
at 31 March 2015, the fair value of the Group's EMEZAFE DUBASETER
investment properties under construction was BXEHARAR ([E&])ET2M
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out BREEFE RRRBIAERKE
by Cushman & Wakefield Valuation Advisory FERN - RSB EREE  WAE
Services (HK) Ltd (“C&W"). C&W is an independent HEERKTHE AR IELIEB
qualified professional valuer not connected with the EITHEMLR -

Group and has appropriate qualification and recent
experience in the valuation of similar projects in

relevant locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

The investment properties are still under
construction at 31 March 2015, for which
management has yet obtained the approval
for development plan, valuation was arrived
at by making reference to comparable market
sale and purchase transactions of vacant land.
Comparable properties are analysed and carefully
weighed against all the respective advantages and
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at
a fair comparison of market values.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their

current use.

The Group's investment properties are categorised
into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. At the end
of each reporting period, the directors of the
Group work closely with the independent qualified
professional valuers to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to be
used in determining the fair value of the investment
properties. Discussion of valuation processes and
results are held amongst directors of the Company
at least twice a year.

18.

REWMRE

(#&)
R_ZE-—HF=RA=+—H HE®R
BNAFESHERRIE 2 ERK
BYMEMS HEDEBZEE L
AELBMBSEER S MER - HH
BULEMEELONAFAEZIDE
ZHEBESELES NEREME
ZRFHE-

REHEMEZ R FER YR ER
MAKERSREENMA-

AEBREVEDBER/RAVFEER
ZEZE-REREHR - AEEZ
EFHRBVAEREX[BEMEIS
- URIMBEAREERENE
AFEZEE[RETEARBAE X
RAESBFELHEERFRE

A7 R PR
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. BREWE
(continued) (&)
Set out below is the significant unobservable inputs ATHRERARAFEFEZERDN
used for fair value measurements: AT ER g A (B :
Information about fair value measurements using FHAFRAERTAERE ABETA
significant unobservable input FEFEZE R
Relationship of
unobservable
Fair value as at Valuation Key unobservable Weighted inputs to
31 March 2015 techniques inputs average price fair value
RZEB-E1F
ZA=t+-H8z FABRERAER
ATE HEL* FEFUEERAE NEFHEER AYEZBE
HK$'000
FHT

Investment properties under construction

EERENE
244,416 Direct market Price per square metre of gross  RMB154 (equivalent  The higher the price,
approach floor area which derived to HK$192)/sqm the higher the fair
from the area of land and value

respective plot ratio, using
direct market comparables
and taking into account of
adjustments on location,
land use right terms and
development scale factor
BEETRE RETHERCRERE BT ARKIS4T (BER BRER ATEHER
FABRREBTREE WR  192%81n) /FAK
AEETS AL REERE
SRBAE TinEREEE
RERAERZZHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19. BFREE

HK$'000
TFA&ET
COST BN
At 1 April 2013 R=—ZT—=Fm"A—H -
Additions NE 3,965
At 31 March 2014 R-E—WE=A=+—H 3,965
Additions NE 2,800
At 31 March 2015 R-E—RFE=A=+—H 6,765
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION RET#
At 1 April 2013 and RZZE—=FMNA—BER=ZZF—MEF
31 March 2014 =A=+—8H -
Charge for the year REEZRE 564
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H 564
CARRYING VALUES SR E
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H 6,201
At 31 March 2014 R-E—ME=F=+—H 3,965

The intangible assets related to an integrated
logistics management information system
(“Chinlink LMIS”) which consists of several
logistics management systems. The consideration
for the acquisition of Chinlink LMIS was settled
by allotting ordinary shares of the Company to a
supplier. Details of the arrangement are set out in
note 35. The development of Chinlink LMIS was
completed in January 2015 and is amortised on a

straight-line basis over 3 years.

ETHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The deposit of RMB27,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$33,720,000) represents pre-sale deposit
paid to an independent property developer for
the acquisition of fourteen retail shops located
in Xi‘an City, the PRC. As of 31 March 2015,
the construction of the retail shops remained
incomplete and the management expects to receive

notice of delivery of properties in 2016.

DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
A SUBSIDIARY

Reference is made to the announcement of
the Company dated 18 February 2015 (the
“Announcement”), the Group has entered into
a stock purchase agreement on 18 February 2015
(the “Agreement”) with Sino Virtue Holdings
Limited, an independent third party (“Sino
Virtue”) to acquire the entire issued capital of
E-Innovation Limited, the wholly-owned subsidiary
of Sino Virtue (the “Target Company”), at a
consideration of HK$800,000,000. The Target
Company is an investment holding company and
its principal asset is its investment in High Express
International Limited (“High Express”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 15 January 2014. High Express in turn holds
73.375% of the equity interest in Xi‘an Tang Rong
Real Estate Limited which principal activity is leasing
of properties and 73.375% of the equity interest in
Xi‘an Da Ming Gong Ba Qiao Furniture and Fixture
Limited which principal activities are operation and
management of commercial buildings. As at the
date of this annual report, the acquisition has not
been completed. Details of the acquisition are set

out in the Announcement.

20.

21.

BB REMESS

ZEE

& AR#27,000,0007T (&R
33,720,000 L) X T — R B
MEREE 2 BERS LB
FEAZMZ THESEEH-EE
—E-RE=A=+—HBIi - ZEF
FZERMATKREREEBER
ZE-ARFREIMERISBA -

B — BB LR XN
ZEE
ERERAARAR AT —RAF—
AT+NBzRAE ([#ZAE])  ARF
ER-ZZTE—RAF A+ \BEBIE
—HEEERER AT ([EEI)ET
AR EEHE ([ZBE]) ARE
800,000,000 Jt W )2 12 2 & &
BRRIGEIERAR ([BEEAT]) 2
E2HEETRA-BERR A —RHIE
EREBRARRETEEERENSS
BEEREERAR ([BE]) (RZZ—H
F—RA+RAARBEFMRILIZBR
NAE) ZIEE - mGEMEEALRE R
EXERAR(REZEXKATREY
E)273375%BRERALTAAEH
BEMXEAERAR (EXEBEK A
BEEREBEEET)273.375%0
HEoRAFHRBE  WEE KRR U
BBEHRZAMA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

22.

23.

INVENTORIES 22. ®FE

2015 2014
—E-EHF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TFA&ET
Raw materials R 883 4,211
Finished Goods AN 1,123 =
2,006 4,211

DEPOSIT PAID FOR PREPAID LEASE 23. FiwFBEAFEEREBEXS

PAYMENTS FOR LAND

The amount represents refundable earnest money
of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$31,223,000)
(2014: RMB25,000,000) paid to the PRC
government authority for the expropriation of land
for auction to be held by the PRC government
authority. The purpose for acquisition of the land
is for development of a construction material
wholesale and logistics park in Hanzhong City of
the PRC. Such earnest money would be refunded
by the relevant authority of the PRC upon the
completion of the auction. The auction was
completed in June 2014. The Group acquired
the land and the refund procedures are currently
processing. At 31 March 2014, the directors of the
Company expected the deposit would be refunded
by the end of December 2014. At 31 March 2015,
as being informed by the government authority of
the PRC that the refund procedures were nearly
complete, the directors of the Company reassess
the expected settlement time accordingly and
consider the amount will be refunded by the end of
December 2015.

ZEE
ZBIEE AR B BT E P A 2 /]
REHE S ARK25,000,0007T (48
B/ 31,223,0008L) (ZZT—MF:
A R #25,000,0007C ) MA 5t #8 B R
AT SR PR 1T 2 0 B 1 R £ b o MR
BZzLItEERRBZERMAZE—M
EMBEERMAE -BHERESEH
FEEBEEPIRIAE TR ERE 1A
BEER-_ZE—NFAAZK -AEH
BUEZ L BiRRIZFF B AT IEE#
AP -R-_T—NF=ZA=+—8"
AARESBEHRESBR T —NF
+T_ARZABRE - R_ZT—AF=
A=+—8 &8+ B BN ®
R AITR ARAESR
JiE 25 55 T {f 4 < BRF P 3 3R /% 5% 3K 38 AJ
R=ZE—RF+=-AKAER-
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 24, BEWEZRER
RECEIVABLE EWER
Trade receivables U E 5 BR1A
2015 2014
—E-—RF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHT
Trade receivables JEUE ZERTA 72,311 9,710
Less: Allowances for bad and B RIEER
doubtful debts B (2,128) (3,013)
70,183 6,697

BRERBERRCERTAH2IIEK
B5RE (MBEREREE) 2Rk

The following is an analysis of trade receivables (net
of allowance for bad and doubtful debts) by age,

presented based on the invoice date at the end of M
the reporting period:

2015 2014
—E-RF —EF—UF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T
0 - 30 days TE=1+H 66,455 3,273
31 - 90 days =+—H=E=A+H 342 1,064
> 90 days N+HBUE 3,386 2,360
70,183 6,697
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

24,

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN
RECEIVABLE (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group's credit terms for its major customers in
interior decoration work and international trading
are usually 3 months to 1 year. The credit terms
granted by the Group to other trade debtors in
interior decoration work and international trading
are normally 30 days.

Customers related to financing guarantee services
are required to settle either on monthly instalments
in arrear or upon signing of the financing guarantee
services contracts or relevant consultancy services
contracts. As at 31 March 2015, among the trade
receivables, balances of HK$949,000 (2014:
HK$720,000) are related to financing guarantee
services, in which HK$675,000 was aged within
30 days and HK$274,000 was aged within 31-90
days (2014: HK$120,000 was aged within 30
days, HK$300,000 aged within 31-90 days and
HK$300,000 aged over 90 days) in the business of
financing guarantee services. Meanwhile, the entire
HK$949,000 was subsequently settled in April 2015
(2014: the entire HK$720,000 was subsequently
settled in April 2014).

The Group’s credit terms for its customers related
to logistics services are normally 30 days.

24,

W E 7 RER

FEWERR (&)
fERE 5 0RE ()
AEEBTHEARHTRREARE
HRZEBRP ZEEE TS B 15
T BEAZEAZ—F -AEEAT
ERRMHTREERES 2 L ilE
EFZEEH-—KA=+A-

EHERmERRRB2EFEZA D H
RAXRIHIRETREERRB A
S EEERREENRIM R
T—RAF=A=+—H REKES
AR 3R+ 949,000 T (=& — Y4 :
720,000/ 7T ) 2 #& £ B i & 4 1R AR 75
B A REEERRSEELF
675,000/ 7T 2 # 1A 2 BR B /308 A
274,000 7T 2 ;I8 2 BR#k R31E
90H M (=ZZ — P4 : 120,000/ 7T 2
I8 7 BR# A30H A ~300,0008 702
I8 2 BR#k A31290H A &300,000
BT IBREREBIEO0H ) - Rk - 26
949,000 THEEN T —HF M A
BE (ZZT— M4 : £56720,000% 7T
BER_ZT—MNEMABFE) -

AEEGETHERYRRBZERZ
EEH-—KRRB=TH-
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN
RECEIVABLE (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Before accepting any new customers, the Group
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality
by investigating their historical credit record and
defines credit limits by customers on individual
basis. Recoverability and credit limit of the existing
customers are reviewed by the Group regularly.
Included in the Group’s trade receivable balances
are receivables with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$68,329,000 and HK$5,935,000 as at 31 March
2015 and 2014 respectively, which are neither past
due nor impaired. The directors of the Company
considered that trade receivables which are neither
past nor yet impaired are of good credit quality and
there are continuous subsequent settlements from

these customers.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$1,854,000 (2014: HK$762,000) which are past
due as at 31 March 2015 for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss. The Group does
not hold any collateral over trade receivables. The
average age of the receivables is 19 days (2014: 49
days).

24,

A5 A B ¥ R I GE

—HE=ZH=1+—HIL4%

BWESREAR
BWRER (&)
EYE ZRIA (&)
EERXHEFPA - ARESREHB

EEEENUMAHZBERF 21&
AEEZRZRENERRAEEERE-
AEETHRIAREBERER 28R EE
DEEERE - ASER_ZT—1F
RK=ZZT—NWF=RA=+—HZEK
BESRBERDFNBEHAEEHER
68,329,000/ 7T }&% 5,935,000/ T Z
RiBEA TR AR E 2 FE W RIE - RN A A
EZRAZERBHATNRAE 2 EK
BEZEEHERARERT HERFE
FEBENR -

AEBEWE ZREBEANZEKREEZ
AR {E A1,854,000/8 7T (— = —M
F:762,00087L) R-ZTE—RF=
A=+—BBBEEHRARMRE
BREREB AEELTRRERE S
FRIEFEAMERR - BREFERIE
ZHEREBRFHAEI198 (ZZT —HF: 49
H) e
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

24,

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN
RECEIVABLE (continued)
Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but

not impaired

W E 7 RER
FEWER (#&)
BB BB KA (82 FE W B 53 R IA 2 BR

LEA
<

2015 2014
—E—-EF —ZE—HF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTER T

31 - 90 days =+—H=A+H 840 317
91 - 365 days Nt+—B&=8,+HH 1,014 445
Total Rk 1,854 762

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
trade receivables in relation to financing guarantee
services is not significant. For the remaining
balances, the Group has maintained long term
relationship with those existing customers who
have a strong financial position with continuous
subsequent settlement and there is no historical
default of payments by the respective customers.
The Group has assessed the recoverability of these
customers and consider that there has not been
a significant change in their credit quality. The
directors of the Company believe that the amounts

are still recoverable.

ARBEZERR REERRBZE
FREBGRIEB X TE KX - R T &R
mE AEEEZEFREAEFPARFER
HEkRUHBER ZEEFHEBEEY
BRRL BRHERESN  FOBEN
SIE IR AR AT 8% - N E A (A %
ERPENENUR/BEEZEEE
ERAEARE -ARBDEFHEN
EZFRIBAR AT LAY E] o
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 2, ERESERER
RECEIVABLE (continued) BWRER (&)
Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful RIBERREE
debts
2015 2014
—E—-EF —ZE—HF
HK$'000 HK$000
FERT T T
Balance at beginning of the year #F#]%4%8 3,013 2,489
Impairment losses recognised HIEWE 5 ERIB R
on trade receivables R (B B 18 - 2,622
Amounts recovered during AKEZWE 2
the year | (885) (2,098)
Balance at end of the year FRBEE 2,128 3,013
Allowance for bad and doubtful debts included RIBIRE B IEE B E I 75 N 25X
individually impaired trade receivables with an BAREEEFERND B 2 ERREZE
aggregate balance of HK$2,128,000 (2014: WE SRIFBEA /2,128,000 T
HK$3,013,000) which had been in severe financial (ZZ—mM%:3,013,00087T) - AA
difficulties or had significant disputes with the AEFE2RBHARZEREF KO
Group. The directors of the Company make ZARRGERESR THEABEEME
impairment losses with reference to the present EREBER ITRREFREBRER
value of the estimated future cash flows that are WMEBRKLE B - AN B IR B &
expected to be recovered from these customers EEMRFREMNERR -

and consider adequate impairment losses has been
made at the end of the reporting period. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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24,

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN
RECEIVABLE (continued)
Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful

debts (continued)

Apart from the balance disclosed above, there
are amounts of HK$5,620,000 (31 March 2014:
HK$5,626,000) and HK$ 183,000 (31 March 2014:
nil) classified as trade receivables from related
companies in which the controlling shareholder
of the Company (who is also a director of the
Company) or the relatives of this controlling
shareholder has significant influence to these
related companies (“Related Companies”),
such trade receivables are in connection with the
logistics services and financing guarantee services
respectively. The Group granted the same credit
terms as those independent customers related to
logistics services and financing guarantee services.
Such balances are trade in nature, unsecured
and non-interest bearing (see note 43). As at 31
March 2015, among the balances, the amount
of HK$2,056,000 is aged within 90 days and the
remaining amount is aged within 91 to 270 days
(31 March 2014: amount of HK$1,875,000 was
aged within 90 days and the remaining amount was
aged within 91 to 270 days). Due to business tax
reformation in Xi‘an City of the PRC, the balance
remains outstanding for a period longer than the
normal credit term granted. After the completion
of the aforementioned tax reformation in December
2013, the amounts have been settled progressively.
Having considered the continuous settlement
subsequent to 31 March 2015, up to the date
of authorisation for issue of these consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company
consider these balances are not impaired.

24,

EBWE S RER

EWRER (&)

REBREHE

(#&)
BREXFBEBZEKRIIN 28R
5,620,000 T (=& — M4 =
A=+—H:5,626,0008 )&
183,0008 T (ZE—ME=A=+—
H: \)rBEREKREERRT (KRAF]
ZIERBE (MARARES) HZIE
BRRBRBRZEEERATAEEAN
w27 ((BEQAA])Z2ESEHE-
ZEESRBEDREYRRE R E
EREFEB - ASBERTHEEAZSE
EBYRREREERRRE 2B
EREHERZEER FRAZERIEBE
SHEE ERERELE (RHEE43) o
R-ZE—REZA=+—H8B R&S
R0 2,056,000 T 2 3R IE Z R
e A90H M &£ T F I 2 Rk A91
F270BRN(ZE—WmME=RA=+—
H : 1,875,000/ 7T 2 5018 2 IR #R 790
HA RS TRIEZRE /I1E270H
M)  c HRFBEAELRT 2 EEHWE -
RAHAERBEEZEBRBE T Z
rTEEEfR-R-_ET—=5+=_-A4
LB BRETKE ZEREER
SEEN EEER_ZT—AFE=A
=+t B (EEERBTIAREN
BHER A BHFEEN  ARRE
ERA/NEERITERE-
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOAN
RECEIVABLE (continued)

Loan receivable

Loan receivable of HK$10,030,000 (2014:
HK$26,000,000) represents the outstanding
balance receivable from an independent third party
which is unsecured and carries interest at Hong
Kong Prime Interest Rate plus 4.0% per annum
(2014: Hong Kong Prime Interest Rate plus 3.0%
per annum). The effective interest rate of the
loan receivable is 9% (2014: 8.0%) per annum.
Amounts at both 31 March 2015 and 2014 are
repayable within six months from the loan advance
date.

BILLS RECEIVABLE

As at 31 March 2015, bills receivable of
HK$2,332,000 are aged within 60 days from
respective invoice dates. The entire balance of the
bills receivable is discounted bills with recourse,
their corresponding financial liabilities are included
in bank borrowings disclosed in note 31. Details
relating to transfer of financial assets are set out in
note 38.

24,

25.

EBWE S RER

EWRER (&)

FE W E R

& L & 710,030,000/ 7t (= Z — Y
£ : 26,000,000/ 7T ) FEFEUL — & 18 7
FoFZHMABEESS ZRERE
KRR FREBRITEEZNZEM
40% (ZZT—MHF : BFRBEBRIT
SEFFEM3.0% )T B - BUMER
ZEBRFREEFI% (ZZT—MF:
80%) R_T—AER _-_T—ME
A=+ —RZFREHERBFER
HEARRSEAREE-

EWRE

R-E—FRFE=ZA=+—H EBKE
1%2,332,0008 T2 BRI A B E &A%
ZHHBFE0R N - EREE 22
EHAABRECZEHRRER  HH
JEem A ET AN HEZRIT
EF-fHemEECEEFBTH
KM FE38 o
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26.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FORMER

SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from/to former subsidiaries are
unsecured and non-interest bearing. Amount due
to former subsidiaries are repayable on demand.
Amounts due from former subsidiaries do not have

a fixed repayment terms.

At 31 March 2014, the directors of the Company
reassessed the expected settlement time and
consider the former subsidiaries would be able
to settle the current accounts with principal of
approximately HK$17,684,000 on 31 March 2016.
Accordingly, such balance is classified as non-
current in nature and using effective interest
rate method of 14% (31 March 2014: 14%)
per annum. During the year ended 31 March
2015, HK$293,000 were repaid from the former
subsidiaries and the directors of the Company
expect the remaining amount would be settled
before March 2016.

The imputed interest income of HK$1,905,000
(2014: nil) arising from principal amount of
HK$17,684,000 was recognised to profit or loss
during the year.

26.

VE e, FE 1 AT Bt 1B 23 7

fRIH

FE M B A< AT Y B 2 R BR OB B A 4K 47
kes-EAAHELRKREALRS
5 58 - FE W A B B A R BR IR 3
B K -

R-ZBE—WE=ZA=+—H A7
EXEMAGEHEMSRER RA
B ARBAIR - —F=A
=+ —HBENZKZ417,684,000%
TZRBRE Bt Z&EBEHA
BF14% (ZE—WOF=ZA=+—
H:14% ) 2 BBREFEEZW HERFE
RPHEE - RBEE-_ZT—HE=A
=t+t—BLEFER AMNBAREE
#£293,0008 T R AR RIEETB &2
BENR_Z—"F= A&

N4 FE17,684,0005 L E 4 2 [ E A
Bl A A1,905,000/ T (—ZZ — MM
F E)ERFRNIERER
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BANK BALANCES AND CASH/
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
OVERDRAFT

Bank balances and cash

At 31 March 2014, the amount of approximately
HK$69,514,000 was time deposit for investing
purpose with maturity of three months or less,
carrying interest at rate of 0.38% per annum. Such
balance was matured during the year ended 31
March 2015. At 31 March 2015, the entire bank
balances (2014: HK$158,925,000) are current
deposits, carrying interest at 0.01% (2014: 0.01%)
per annum. The bank balances and cash that are
denominated in currencies other than functional

currency of the relevant group entities are set out

27.

RITEBRRES CIKFHRT
7R RT

EX

RITEHBEE S
R-ZZE—NF=ZA=+—H 8L
69,514,000/ 7T & = f&l A 3 2 1 = {&l
AEE - URERENZEHRFR
LAEEF #£0.38% 5 B o B AR E R
HE_ZTZ—RA&=-A=+—HBL#F
ERIP-R-_E—FHE=A=+—
H 2RBRTEHK(ZZ—HEF:
158,925,000/ 7T, ) 73 & HA 17 3K - PA4F
FMZE0.01% (ZZF—HF:0.01% )5
B-EHREEERB 2 MEERK NN
BEEAECRTEHARB2EY N

as below: T

2015 2014
—E—-EF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TFHETT
usD E7T 50 10,067
RMB AR 110 69,526
MOP SR TT 6,039 119
6,199 79,712

Pledged bank deposits EEARITER

The pledged bank deposits represent deposits
placed to certain banks as securities in return for
the banks to provide loans to the Group’s financing
guarantee services customers. These pledged bank
deposits have a maturity of less than one year as
at 31 March 2015 (2014: maturity of less than one
year).

EERRITEREFENE TRITA
ERZFRITANEE 2 BEERR
BEFREHEERZERER-R=_F
—HF=A=+—HB ZE2HEAR
TEFR—FRIH(ZF—mF: R
—FRIH) -
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27.

28.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
OVERDRAFT (continued)

Pledged bank deposits (continued)

At 31 March 2015 and 2014, all pledged deposits
are denominated in RMB and carry interests at an
average rate of 2.92% (2014: 3.19%) per annum.

Bank overdraft

At 31 March 2014, the banks overdraft carried
interest at Hong Kong Prime Interest Rate per

annum.

TRADE PAYABLES
The following is an analysis of trade payables by
age, presented based on the invoice date at the end

of the reporting period:

27.

28.

RITEBRRES CIKFHRT
7R RT

EX (&)

ERIFRITER (£)
RZE—RAFR-_FT—TOEFE=A
=ST—HB FABEHRERIDUAR
B ERERFEFHFER292% (=F
— P& :3.19% )it B e

RITEX
RZZBE-—WFE=A=+—RH RiTE
XEBEBRTREBNEZFFE -

BNESRE
BRERBERRERZEHEIEMN
BHRBZREDITT

2015 2014

—E-EHF —E—mF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHEIT

0 - 30 days =E=1H 62,804 3,304
31 - 90 days =+—HEATH 3,502 284
> 90 days h+BRE 8,938 9,490
75,244 13,078

The credit periods on purchases of goods are
usually from 1 month to 3 months.

RBEmcEENARA—EAZE=
A -
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AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED 29. EHBEEALQT

COMPANIES BRIE

Amounts due to related companies in which the FEREEERE (ARE ZZERIRE (I8
controlling shareholder of the Company (who is BRABER ) RAZEHELNTIBE
also a director of the Company) has significant BN REAEER RERER
influence to these related companies are unsecured, EREEE-

non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

PROVISION FOR WARRANTY 300 RERE
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-MEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Balance at beginning of the year F#]#&:%8 454 2,050
Additional provision in the year — ZN4F [ 1% i & 1,709 288
Utilisation of provision B E R (164) (1,884)
Balance at end of the year FRBE 1,999 454
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. RITRHMER
2015 2014
—E—-RF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Bank borrowing (including RITER (BREBEEREN
discounted bills with BERER) -
recourse), secured B 9,396 7,862
Other borrowing, unsecured HME R EIE - 45,000
9,396 52,862
Carrying amount repayable*: JEEZREE
Within one year —F KN 2,332 45,000
Carrying amount of the bank BEEREREEERZ
borrowing that contains a RITEREREE
repayable on demand clause
— repayable within one year — AR —FNEE 832 813
— not repayable within one —EmANR—FANEER (BRE
year (shown under current mEBEA)
liabilities) 6,232 7,049
9,396 52,862
* The amounts due are based on scheduled @ E|HARRIB D IRIE B K e Fr S fE (B
repayable dates set out in loan agreements. B2EEBHBEE-
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

At 31 March 2015, the Group's variable-rate bank
borrowing of HK$7,064,000 (2014: HK$7,862,000)
carries interest rate at HIBOR plus 2.5% (2014:
HIBOR plus 2.5%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
Group discounted bills receivable with recourse in
aggregated amount of HK$2,332,000 (2014: nil)
to banks for short term financing. As at 31 March
2015, the associated borrowings amounted to
HK$2,332,000 (2014: nil).

At 31 March 2014, the Group had a fixed-rate
other borrowing amounting to HK$45,000,000
carry at fixed rate of 12.0% per annum. Such
borrowing was repaid in full during the year ended
31 March 2015.

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum
(which are also equal to contracted interest rates)
on the Group’s bank and other borrowings are as

follows:

31.

RITRHEMER

(#&)

R-E—RFE=ZA=+—HB K&£H
2 FEE E F E 4R 17 B 3k A7,064,000
B (ZZF—W%F 7,862,000 L)
DEFREBRITAERBEMN2.5%
—E—NF-BBRITEAEREMN
2.5% )&t B

HE-_ZTZ-—RAF=A=+—HIt&F
ERN AEBRAEHRERRSER
2,332,000 L (ZE—HF: &) 2
BEREERERMBE FRIT R
ET-hF=A=+—H HBEEZA
2,332,000/ T (ZZ—UF: &) o

R-E—NE=ZA=+—HB KX&£H
2 [E 7 Al & H th & 3k /45,000,000
BT TIREENEGF12.0%5 2 °
ERERERBE-_ZT—HE=A
=+—RALEFERNBHER-

AEBBETREMERZ FERFEX
BE (MBAFRAMENR)MT

2015 2014
—F-1% —T-0F

Effective interest rate: BREA= -
Fixed-rate other borrowing & & Fl & 2 Ab B 3K N/AT & A 12.0%
Variable-rate bank borrowing FEE TE | K ER1T 2.71% - 2.73% 2.70% - 2.71%
Fixed-rate bank borrowing & 7 F R RITE K 1.76% N/AZ jiE B3

At 31 March 2015, the variable-rate bank
borrowing is secured by the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with carrying value of
HK$16,894,000 (2014: HK$17,503,000).

R-_ZTE—RAF=ZA=+—H A£H
LABR T 816,894,000 T (=& — M
£ :17,503,0008 7)) 2 ¥ % - W E &
FREEERUARGIEREMNERTE

o
N
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184

32.

OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE 32.

LEASES

It is the Group’s policy to lease its motor vehicles
under finance leases. The average lease term
is four and half years. Interest rates underlying
all obligations under finance leases are fixed at
respective contract dates at 2.81% (2014: 7.55%)

per annum.

MEHRE

AIE
NREHERRRE N AEBEBE-
FHHEBANFE - EHAMABRER
EREZHNEUNSBEEHNBEHEER
§%E281% (=F—PY4E :7.55% ) °

Minimum Present value of
lease payments minimum lease payments
REREMR BERENHZRE
2015 2014 2015 2014
“E-R5% ZE-NF ZE-mF CTWNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T TER THET
Amounts payable under BEREEN
finance leases #RIE
Within one year —£R 1,163 298 943 257
In more than one year but ~ %R —% 8
not more than two years TR E 1,013 298 870 277
In more than two years but ~ ZHRFE - 8
not more than five years TBERE 1,585 149 1,481 146
3,761 745 3,294 680
Less: Future finance charges  Ji: KRB EF X (467) (65) - -
Present value of lease MEREZ
obligations RE 3,294 680 3,294 630
Less: Amount due for B AR 12E AR
settlement within 12 BEZERE
months (shown under (BRERD
current liabilities) BER) 942 257
Amount due for settlement  ZER12E A% EE
after 12 months 2B 2,352 423

The Group’s obligations

under finance leases are

secured by the lessor's charge over the leased

assets.

REEzmEREAENAERARE

EEEMGIERM-
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DEFERRED TAXATION 33. EEHIE
The following are the major deferred tax liability M EF E N TR 2 EARLETIE
recognised and movements thereon during both BEREZEHNT
years:
Tax
allowance
Fair value on financing
gainon  guarantee 7.5% 3.0%
investment contracts  convertible convertible
properties  recognised bonds bonds Others Total
RENMEZ EARME
AFE EREHZ 7.5% 3.0%
g BHEE FWRARESF TERES Hit it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
At 1 April 2013 RZZ—=F
mAE—A = = = 4,655 - 4,655
Charge (credit) to equity ~ AEE N ER AR
for the year (Rt A) - - 9,702 (4,289) 3,290 8,703
Charge (credit) to Ba ANk
profit or loss (3t A) - 445 (2,385) (366) (2,291) (4,597)
Exchange realignment ERFAR - ) - - _ )
At 31 March 2014 RZZE—F
=A=+-H - 438 7317 - 999 8,754
Charge (credit) to Bank
profit or loss (FtA) 2,649 2,154 (4,906) - (937) (1,040)
Exchange realignment ERTIECES (7) - - - - @)
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RF
=A=t+—H 2,642 2,592 2,411 62 7,707

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had unused tax losses of HK$54,017,000
(2014: HK$53,721,000) available for offsetting
against future profits which are subjected to the
confirmation from Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department and the PRC tax Bureau. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31
March 2015, included in unrecognised tax losses
are losses of HK$3,170,000 which will expire in
2020, the remaining balances of unrecognised tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely (2014:
the entire balances of unrecognised tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely).

RERR XEBBRFERA2H
TA [£5 18 /54,017,0008 7c ( = Z —
£ : 53,721,000/ 7T ) AT A 2R 4K 85 1 2K
wmAl REGEATHE R RP BB
BPiERE T AEE A& mFER
R Be AE HETEDRI - MU I A RE SRR T Y
BEE-WR-_T—AF=A=+—8"
RIERTIEE I8 BIE/E1E3,170,0007%8
T EBR - F R 8 RERM
BEBZH TEBAUERRALS (=
T-NF - ABERABEEBE 224
BRI PR EA AR S ) o
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33.

34.

FEZH =+ —H I EE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 33. EEHE (&)
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax BREBRBIGEMAEHE BZFZN
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of F—A—HRB EFEMEQARM
profits earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 FTER B 7 R AR B - ZH B TE N
January 2008 onwards. No deferred taxation has FloBRARTESETHREMNEA
been provided for in the consolidated financial AZREBEKEBERAIGEE R RIS
statements in respect of temporary differences 30K g Al - B B R AR A B A R B
relating to the undistributed profits of certain Z LM B AR 228,406,000 7T (=
PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$28,406,000 T — [P : 3,986,000 ;) Z K DK
(2014: HK$3,986,000) as the Company controls A 2 E R = RE R IR IE R IR B A o
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it is
probable that the profits will not be distributed in
the foreseeable future.
RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 34. FEWFRIE
2015 2014
—E-HF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER T T
Receipts in advance from: KB T EIE 2 TBBGRIEA
— International trading —BERE 5 755 781
— Logistics services — 10 AR %5 1,894 139
2,649 920

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % I}t 4 B4 ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



‘ﬁ---

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A5 A B R R I GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. RAR
Number Nominal
of shares value
R4 & B H{E
HK$'000
FTHET
Ordinary shares: AR
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2013, R-ZEFE—=FmMA—H"
31 March 2014 and —E—WHF=A=+—H8K
31 Mach 2015 of —E-RF=A=+—H
HK$0.0125 each HARMEE0.0125% 7T 3,200,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE:
At 1 April 2013 of R=-ZFT—=FMA—H
HK$0.0125 each SR MEE0.01258 T 1,600,000,000 20,000
Shares issued for goods FUCE S SR BT 2
received (Note /) Wiy (Hfazi) 8,010,303 100
Shares issued on conversion REEI3.0%
of the 3.0% convertible A AR (E A
bonds (Note i) BITRAD (A7 atii) 320,000,000 4,000
At 31 March 2014 of RZZE-—MF=A=+—H
HK$0.0125 each SRR MEE0.01258 T 1,928,010,303 24,100
Shares issued (Note Jii) 2 BITIRAD (K aZiii) 350,000,000 4,375
Shares issued for goods R mEITZ
received (Note /) f&1a (B aEi) 5,656,566 71
At 31 March 2015 of R_ZE-—AF=A=+—H
HK$0.0125 each SR HE{E0.0125%8 7T 2,283,666,869 28,546
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to an agreement (the “Agreement”)
entered into between Chinlink Hong Kong
Company Limited (“Chinlink (HK)"”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
LTS dated 14 May 2013, LTS is engaged in the
development of Chinlink LMIS for the Group's
logistics projects in Xi‘an City and Hanzhong
City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The contract
sum of the Agreement was HK$13,217,000 (the
“Contract Sum”) which will be satisfied by the
Company by allotting and issuing, credited as fully
paid, an aggregate of 26,701,010 ordinary shares,
at an issue price of HK$0.495 per share in three
tranches to LTS. On 29 July 2014, a supplemental
agreement (“Supplemental Agreement”) was
entered into such that the Contract Sum of the
Agreement was revised down to HK$6,765,100
(in which HK$3,965,100 has been paid by the
Company by the issue of 8,010,303 ordinary
shares in accordance with the Agreement on 24
May 2013) and that Chinlink (HK) shall pay the
remaining HK$2,800,000 by way of procuring
the Company allotting and issuing 5,656,566
ordinary shares at the original issue price of
HK$0.495 per share to LTS in recognition of
the services rendered by LTS to the Group up to
the date of the Supplemental Agreement. On 4
August 2014, 5,656,566 ordinary shares, with
aggregate par value of approximately HK$71,000,
of the Company were allotted and issued as
consideration in exchange of goods received from
LTS. Upon receipt of the 5,656,566 consideration
shares by LTS, the Agreement was terminated.
Details of the Supplemental Agreement were set
out in the announcement made by the Company

dated 29 July 2014.

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2014,
320,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
with aggregate par value of HK$4,000,000, were
issued upon the full conversion of the 3.0%

convertible bonds.
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SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) On 28 April 2014, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Wealth Keeper, the
ultimate holding company of the Company, in
relation to the subscription of 350,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company under the specific
mandate at the subscription price of HK$0.55
per ordinary share (the “Subscription”). The
Subscription was completed on 26 June 2014
and the gross proceeds from the Subscription was
HK$192,500,000.

Save as disclosed above there was no other
movement in the Company’s share capital for both

years.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS, COUPON
BONDS WITH DETACHABLE
WARRANTS AND COUPON BONDS

7.5% convertible bonds

Pursuant to the bonds instrument dated on
30 August 2013, 7.5% convertible bonds (the
“CB") with aggregate principal amount of
HK$300,000,000 were issued by the Company at
par with conversion price of HK$0.75 per share to
independent parties on 30 August 2013 (the “Issue
Date”).

35.

36.
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36.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS, COUPON
BONDS WITH DETACHABLE
WARRANTS AND COUPON BONDS
(continued)

7.5% convertible bonds (continued)

The CB are denominated in HK$ and carry interest
at 7.5% per annum. Interest is repayable annually.
The holders of the CB are entitled to convert the CB
into 400,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
(“Conversion Shares”) at initial conversion
price of HK$0.75 per share at any time from the
Issue Date to the maturity date falling on the
second anniversary from the Issue Date, subject
to the anti-dilutive adjustment due to change in
capital structure of the Company (including share
consolidation, share subdivision and capitalisation
issue and other events which have dilutive effects
on the issued share capital of the Company as
set out in the bonds instrument). The Conversion
Shares shall rank pari passu in all respects with all
other existing shares outstanding at the date of the

conversion.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, no CB was
converted into ordinary shares of the Company.
The amount is repayable on 30 August 2015
(the “Maturity Date 1”). If the CB has not
been converted up to the Maturity Date 1, the
holders can request the Company to redeem the
outstanding convertible bonds at the principal
amount together with any outstanding interest
payable.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS, COUPON
BONDS WITH DETACHABLE
WARRANTS AND COUPON BONDS
(continued)

7.5% convertible bonds (continued)

The CB contains two components, liability
(including closely related early redemption option)
and equity elements. At initial recognition, the fair
value of liability of HK$241,200,000 was recognised
with the residual value of HK$58,800,000,
representing equity element, presented in equity
heading “convertible bonds and warrants reserve”.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
of HK$14,717,000 are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion. Transaction costs
relating to equity component of HK$3,588,000 are
included in equity. The effective interest rate of the
liability component is 22.03% per annum. Deferred
tax liability of HK$9,702,000 was recognised to the
convertible bonds and warrants reserve on initial

recognition.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, interest
charged on the CB of HK$59,714,000 (2014:
HK$30,776,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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36.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS, COUPON
BONDS WITH DETACHABLE
WARRANTS AND COUPON BONDS
(continued)

6.5% coupon bonds with detachable warrants

Pursuant to the bonds instrument dated on 3
July 2013, 6.5% coupon bonds (the “6.5%
Bonds"”) with aggregate principal amount of
HK$190,450,000 were issued by the Company
at par with 190,450,000 detachable warrants to
independent parties on 3 July 2013 (the “Issue
Date 2").
time within twelve months commencing from the

The warrants are exercisable at any

date of issuance at an exercise price of HK$0.65
per share, subject to antidilutive adjustments
(e.g. share subdivision, etc.). The 6.5% Bonds are
denominated in HK$ and carry interest at 6.5% per

annum. Interest is repayable annually.

The 6.5% Bonds were matured and have been fully
repaid and the warrants were expired on the date
immediately following twelve months after issuance
which is 3 July 2014.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, interest
charged on the 6.5% Bonds of approximately
HK$11,497,000 (2014: HK$29,621,000) was

recognised in profit or loss.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS, COUPON
BONDS WITH DETACHABLE
WARRANTS AND COUPON BONDS
(continued)

8.0% coupon bonds

Pursuant to the bonds instrument dated on 15
October 2014, 8.0% coupon bonds with principal
amount of HK$71,000,000 and HK$129,000,000
(collectively referred as the “8.0% Bonds"”) were
issued by the Company at par to independent
parties on 15 October 2014 (the “Issue Date 3")
and 31 October 2015 (the “Issue Date 4").

The 8.0% Bonds are denominated in HK$ and carry
interest at 8.0% per annum. Interest is repayable
annually.

The 8.0% bonds will mature on the second
anniversary of the issue date which is 15 October
2016 (the “Maturity Date 2") and 31 October
2016 (the “Maturity Date 3"). The Company can
redeem the 8.0% Bonds in whole or in part, at
par together with payment of an early redemption
premium calculated at the rate of 9% per annum
accrued less any interests paid by the Company on
it, by giving not less than 10 business days’ notice
to the holder(s) of the 8.0% Bonds at any time
from the Issue Date 3 to the Maturity Date 2 and
Issue Date 4 to Maturity Date 3 respectively.

Transaction costs relating to the 8.0% Bonds of
HK$16,159,000 are included in the carrying amount
of the 8.0% coupon bonds. The effective interest
rate of the 8.0% Bonds is 12.13% per annum.
During the year ended 31 March 2015, interest
charged on the 8.0% Bonds amounted to
HK$9,780,000 (2014: nil) of which HK$7,836,000
was recognised in profit or loss and HK$1,944,000
was capitalised in investment properties under
construction.
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37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 21 September
2012 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors, eligible employee and

consultants (collectively, the “Grantees”).

On 24 April 2013, 93,100,000 share options
(the “Share Options 1”) were granted to the
Grantees who are entitled to subscribe for a
total of 93,100,000 new shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.58 per share with nominal value of
HK$0.0125 each in the capital of the Company
upon the exercise of the Share Options 1 in full.
Share Options 1 granted are exercisable from 24
April 2014 to 23 April 2023 and are vested in five
tranches given that the Grantees remain in service
of the Group at the beginning of each exercisable
period with (i) 20% shall become exercisable from
24 April 2014 to 23 April 2023; (ii) 20% shall
become exercisable from 24 April 2015 to 23 April
2023; (iii) 20% shall become exercisable from 24
April 2016 to 23 April 2023; (iv) 20% shall become
exercisable from 24 April 2017 to 23 April 2023
and (v) 20% shall become exercisable from 24 April
2018 to 23 April 2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

On 29 November 2013, 15,000,000 share options
(the “Share Options 2"”) were granted to the
Grantees who are entitled to subscribe for a
total of 15,000,000 new shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.70 per share with nominal value of
HK$0.0125 each in the capital of the Company
upon the exercise of the Share Options 2 in full.
Share Options 2 granted are exercisable from 29
November 2014 to 28 November 2023 and are
vested in five tranches given that the Grantees
remain in service of the Group at the beginning
of each exercisable period with (i) 20% shall
become exercisable from 29 November 2014 to 28
November 2023; (ii) 20% shall become exercisable
from 29 November 2015 to 28 November 2023;
(iii) 20% shall become exercisable from 29
November 2016 to 28 November 2023; (iv) 20%
shall become exercisable from 29 November
2017 to 28 November 2023 and (v) 20% shall
become exercisable from 29 November 2018 to 28
November 2023.

On 17 December 2013, 4,000,000 share options
(the “Share Options 3”) were granted to the
Grantee who is entitled to subscribe for a total
of 4,000,000 new shares at an exercise price
of HK$0.68 per share with nominal value of
HK$0.0125 each in the capital of the Company
upon the exercise of the Share Options 3 in full.
Share Options 3 granted are exercisable from 17
December 2014 to 16 December 2023 and are
vested in five tranches given that the Grantees
remain in service of the Group at the beginning
of each exercisable period with (i) 20% shall
become exercisable from 17 December 2014 to 16
December 2023; (ii) 20% shall become exercisable
from 17 December 2015 to 16 December 2023;
(iii) 20% shall become exercisable from 17
December 2016 to 16 December 2023; (iv) 20%
shall become exercisable from 17 December
2017 to 16 December 2023 and (v) 20% shall
become exercisable from 17 December 2018 to 16
December 2023.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

The table below discloses movement of the

Company'’s share options:

37. BRES
(&)
TEREBALAZ BRES

Number of
share options

BREHAR
At 1 April 2013 R-_E—-—=FMA—H -
Granted during the year: FARME
Share Options 1 B R
- Directors - 30,600,000
— Staff —8T 27,000,000
- Consultants — B 35,500,000
93,100,000
Share Options 2 i I A2
— Staff —8T 15,000,000
Share Options 3 i I A3
- Director - 4,000,000
Forfeited during the year: FARU
Share Options 1 (Note) B (Hat)
- Consultant — B[ (500,000)
Outstanding at 31 March 2014 and R=ZF—WF=ZA=+—8B%K
1 April 2014 “E—NFMNA—HHEKRITE 111,600,000
Forfeited during the year: FRRY
Share Options i P e
~ Staff (Note) —B8I (f:#) (1,000,000)
Outstanding at 31 March 2015 R_E—RAF=ZA=+—BHEKRTE 110,600,000
Note: The share options were forfeited due to Kat: ERER-ZEER—BREIH 5

termination of service of a consultant and a staff
during the year ended 31 March 2014 and 2015

respectively.

REEZT—NOFER_T—AF=
A=+—BLEFEAKRLERBME
W2 UK -

196  CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ I i 4 [l # /i £ B 44 7 | Annual Report 2015 &%



37.

‘\---

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A5 A B ¥ R I GE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

The Consultants provided services related to
the development of logistics services business
and financing guarantee services business. The
consultants who solely rendered services and
reported their duties to the Group during the
current reporting period. Such services are similar
as in nature to those rendered by employees of the
Group.

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on 24
April 2013, 29 November 2013 and 17 December
2013 which are the dates of grant of Share Options
1, Share Options 2 and Share Option 3 respectively,
were HK$0.58 per share, HK$0.70 per share and
HK$0.68 per share respectively.

The fair values of the Share Options 1, Share
Options 2 and Share Options 3 are determined at
the respective dates of grant using the binomial
option pricing model were HK$33,794,000,
HK$6,508,000 and HK$1,689,000 respectively.

37.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 37. BR#EsE
(continued) (%)
The following assumptions were used to calculate THBRETRRFERERERE T A
the fair values of share options at the date of grant: Bz AFE:
Share Options 1 Share Options 2 Share Options 3
24 April 2013 29 November 2013 17 December 2013
BB AR 1 i B RE2 i IR RE3
—E—=F —E—=F —E—=fF
mMA=+WA +—A=+nNH +t=A++tH
Grant date share price HK$0.587 7T HK$0.707% 7T HK$0.687% 7T
= B AR(E
Exercise price HK$0.587% 7T HK$0.7078 7T HK$0.68/% 7T
TE(E
Expected life 7.75 yearsfF — 7.75 yearstF — 7.75 yearsf —
TEEHFH 8.75 yearstE 8.75 yearstE 8.75 years®F
Expected volatility 60.68% 57.50% 56.93%
T8 HA R 1
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
% B[] ) =
Risk-free interest rate 0.46% - 0.77% 1.70% - 1.81% 2.01% - 2.18%

5 2 B A 2R

The binomial option pricing model has been used BERiEsATEDEA_BABAETE
to estimate the fair value of the share options. The BEX G - RAEEREZATE
variables and assumptions used in computing the BATAZEHERBRREDERARRE
fair value of the share options are based on the BHHER 2T 2 RETE - #H
best assessment of the directors of the Company EBER2EB T BHEREZATF
on the valuer’s estimation. Changes in variables and BEH-

assumptions may result in changes in the fair value

of the share options.
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TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 38. T RIEEEZE
The following is the Group’s bills receivable as at TH AREBR_-_ZT—HF=A
31 March 2015 that are transferred to banks by = t+t—HREWEESE UrBHA
discounting bills receivable on a full recourse basis. EMEEREREEEETRT-WEWK
If the bills receivable are not paid on maturity, EERE B AREBNT RITEREEXK
the banks have rights to request the Group to AEBSXNAREERBE - BAEE R
pay the unsettled balances. As the Group has FEERKER 2EANRER KRB
not transferred the significant risks and rewards WEBERENERREBEDERE
relating to the bills receivable, it continues to RERWE 2B RERER(RH
recognise the full carrying amount of the bills FE31) o R IR A Sk N AR R [
receivable and has recognised the cash received on RE B AR RNEKINER -
the transfer as a secured borrowing (see note 31).
The bills receivable are carried at amortised cost
in the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position.
2015
—E-RF
HK$'000
FERT
Carrying amount of transferred assets EERLEREE 2,332
Carrying amount of associated liabilities — BFEf & (E R & (2,332)
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 39. REMERE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group RBERAR NEER T HELE
had future minimum lease payments under non- MEZARERBEENKZEE B WM
cancellable operating leases which fall due as N
follows:
2015 2014
—B-HF —T-EF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FTER FHET
Within one year —F A 5,935 7,922
In the second to FE_EZFRF
fifth year inclusive (BIEEEMFLA) 2,394 4,934
8,329 12,856
Operating lease payments represent rental payable KEHENFTEASEESNEST
by the Group for its office premises and equipment. BRIENHES -
Leases are negotiated for an average term of two REZHEBATFAHREME - HEHR
years and rentals are fixed for the lease period. & EE -
40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 40. ERHREFTE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
the relevant payroll costs or capped at HK$1,500
(HK$1,250 before 1 June 2014) (based on the
choice of employees) to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution is

matched by employees.

REEZRAARGMEATESFT S HFT
EeBERC EREERE FEEE
HAEEEENHARZAE TUES
FTRBAXTEABE - ANEEKBHE
A Z25%83k LA 1,500 T (R ==
—MFERNA—HBZAI&R1,25087T) &
R (RESEE) mBBREINEAE
SrrEIHER - EHESHRFEMRR -
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
(continued)

The employees of the Company'’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of retirement benefits schemes
operated by the PRC government. The relevant PRC
subsidiaries were required to contribute certain
percentages of the monthly salaries of their current
employees to fund the benefits. The employees
were entitled to retirement pension calculated
with reference to their basic salaries on retirement
and their length of service in accordance with
the relevant government regulations. The PRC
government was responsible for the pension liability
to the retired staff.

The employer’s contributions to the retirement
benefits scheme charged to profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$712,000
for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014:

HK$642,000).
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RKEEE

(#&)
ARAPEMBATIZE T TIHEK
FRFTEEREREFTEIMKE - BRE
TENBARARRBEETIAFZE
TEOLHK BEZERAREFTEA-
REBBRFAG BIAIZH 2R
K& IR LR 2 A H & MRS
FEFE -PEBRTHRIKE TAE
BRARESHEE-

AR E—_ZE—AF=A=1+—HIHF
B RBRERBRARESFTEZHARESRAE

FIEAE712,00008 L (ZF — P F:
642,0008 7T ) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4= =+—H L4

41.

42.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. EREKIE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FETT
Capital expenditure contracted 2 & #J{B I KR
but not provided for in re B mk
the consolidated financial EH T2
statements BEARRAX
— construction in connection — BRI B Y
with the investment Y=gl
properties K 437,441 =
— acquisition of intangible — W E
assets (Note) BE (M) - 9,252
437,441 9,252
Note: Details of the commitments related to the KiaF: ERRZELERSREEEMR
development of Chinlink LMIS are set out in note B2 EAEF B M35 -
35.
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 42. FEFBRERS
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group REE-_E—RF=A=+—HItHF
entered into finance lease arrangements in respect BN NEBBRE LT EEE AR

of assets with a total capital value at the inception
of the leases of HK$3,080,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2014,
320,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company, with
aggregate par value of HK$4,000,000, were issued
upon the full conversion of the 3.0% convertible
bonds.

{E7%3,080,000/8 T2 EERI R &
ExHk-

RBEZT—NF=A=+—HBILF
EA - AR R #EHE{E4,000,0007 7T 2
320,000,0000% & i@ i B2 7 & B g 2
3.0% IR EF R T o
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MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 42.

(continued)

On 24 May 2013 and 4 August 2014, 8,010,303
and 5,656,566 ordinary shares of the Company,
with aggregate value of HK$3,965,100 and
HK$2,800,000, were allotted and issued as
consideration in exchange for goods supplied by
LTS. Details of the arrangement are set of in note
35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43,

Transactions with related parties

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
provided logistics consultancy services and financing
guarantee services to the Related Companies
which are constituted as continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules and the
amounts as listed in the table below:

FEHFBEERS

(#&)
RZE—=ZFRAA-_t+tHABARZ
T-—WMFENAMNHE ARFLAE
3,965,100/% Jt & 2,800,000/% 7Tt £
8,010,3030% & 5,656,566/% & i i% £
Po 2 R BEITUMERRBITSHER @2
RAB o 2 HEFF B S AT 5E35 ©

BEALXRS
HEBEALZRS
RBEE-_T-—AF=-A=T—HIF
ER AEBERBSEAREYRHA
AR R BEERRS MARE L™
BRI BRERBERFERERS -
BT RA IR

Revenue from logistic Revenue from financing
consultancy services guarantee services
REWRBARERA REBRERRREUA
2015 2014 2015 2014
~®-1f -F-WF -B-EF _FOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TET TR TET
Related Companies NG| 7,072 7,143 1,614 842

Apart from the transactions as listed in the
table above, the amount of financing guarantee
provided to the Related Companies for the year
ended 31 March 2015 was RMB39,000,000 (2014
RMB18,000,000) (equivalent to HK$48,707,000
(2014: HK$22,505,000)). Details of the guarantee

amount are set out in note 44.

Br L RIEFIS 2 RGN REEZ
E—hE="HA=1T—HIEFE R#H
ERAAREIZBEEREBEAARE
39,000,000c (ZE—F: AR
18,000,0007t) (48 & 748,707,000
BIL(ZZF—ME:22,505,000%
TL) ) cEREEZABE N4
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% ~F—

43.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

As at 31 March 2014, the Group received a
corporate guarantee of RMB13,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$16,254,000) from one of the Related
Companies regarding a financing guarantee
provided to an independent third party in obtaining
a bank loan. As at 31 March 2015, the Group
received a corporate guarantee of RMB14,000,000
(equivalent to HK$17,485,000) from a related
company, in which the controlling shareholder
of the Company (who is also a director of the
Company) has significant influence to this related
company regarding a financial guarantee provided
to one of the Related Companies, in obtaining a
bank loan.

Balances with Related Companies

Details of the balance with Related Companies
which is trade in nature and non-trade in nature as
at 31 March 2015 and 2014 are set out in note 24

and note 29 respectively.

FEZH =+ —HIEE

43.

BMEALRS
(#&)
HEEATZRS (£&)
R-ZFE—NE=ZA=+—H8 £5&H
RA—BBUE=FRREZ@HE E
RKBIREEF —HBERAZE
EERARY13,000,0005T (HE R
16,254,000/ 7T ) LAERSSRITE R -
—RAF=A=1+—H X&EE5
mEFR—HEEERAREZPBER
WEZRE —HEEQR (AR E 2%
BRE (TEBARRES) NB@ER
RAIEEATEN)IZEERERARYE
14,000,0007T ( #8 & p417,485,0007%
TL) BB EEITER

\

HRRE N R 2 A8

RZE-—RAFR-_ZFT-—NF=H
=+-— u\%a;_AﬁW RRE ST
BRIFBHHEE) 2 &EHRFBD R

R eE24 X i 5E29
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

43.

BEALXRS
(#&)

TEEBABZME

2015 2014
—E—-0fF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T
Salaries and other short-term & K H th 58 5

employee benefits EE=/H 8,099 7,292
Post-employment benefits & A & 12 71 70 60

Equity-settled share-based LARE 2R 45 H AR 19
payments RBEMR 2 5 4,447 6,130
12,616 13,482

All the directors consider as key management of
the Group. During both years, certain managerial
employee have been authorised to plan, direct
and control activities of the Group. Accordingly,
compensation to those managerial employee has
been included as part of compensation of key

management personnel.

The remuneration of key management is
determined by the Company’s nomination and
remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

MTBEESHERAGREZEEZER
-RMEFER ETEEEREE
EREE BRIREEAREZE
2EP-Ail ZFEEERE 2HE
BEEREREBABZAE L 7
N

TEEBABZFMEARBIZIRA
kFMEZBE@REBARR LTSS

ZET-
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44,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Legal proceedings initiated by a third party against
the Company

On 5 January 2006, Winmost Enterprises Limited
(the "Plaintiff”),
lodged a claim against the Company and CLI

a competitor of the Group,

Design (HK) Limited (formerly known as Decca
(HK) Limited), a subsidiary of the Company, of
approximately HK$3,000,000 for defamation
by distribution and republication of defamatory
words related to the Plaintiff. On 7 February 2012,
the Plaintiff filed an amended claim against the
Company and CLI Design (HK) Limited for damages
for loss of profits related to the defamation of
approximately HK$7,900,000. On 15 April 2013,
after both parties attended a case-management
conference before the Registrar of the High Court
in chambers, whereby they were directed to file
supplemental witness statements with the Court
before setting down the case for trial, the Company
and CLI Design (HK) Limited received a notice of
trial (“Notice”) and pre-trial review from the Court.
After attended the pre-trial review as specified
by the Notice on 3 October 2013, an interview
of the witnesses of the Company and CLI Design
(HK) Limited was held before the trial to review
their evidence and prepare them to testify at the
trial. After the substantive hearing taken place
during 10 and 13 December 2013, the Court made
an judgement on dismissing the claims from the
Plaintiff. On 30 April 2014 and 5 May 2014, the
Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal and a notice of
setting down respectively to the Court of Appeal.
On 5 September 2014, a consent for dismissal of
appeal was filed upon which the Plaintiff appeal
was formally dismissed. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that no provision
is required to be made in the consolidated financial

statements.

44.

XAREE

E=FRARQRRLZ

AR

RZZTEENF—ARAB AEEB
S % FWinmost Enterprises Limited
([RE])RARBRAR RN E AT
ERR (BB)ARAR (RIBER
(BBE)VBERRE) D EREH B HY
REZHFBESEHMBROFE BRI
FR{E#3,000,000TL- R _T—_F
ZAEB - RESRBAFFMERKD
B RE AR T REFR (BH)
BRR AR LIEET R EXI7,900,000
BT - RZZT—=FHNA+HB &5
2MEANRZERRETBE BRD
EREEE % B REBIERRAZE
bri Z BRI B AR TR E (ARFEE
B)E - ARAEHEERT (BH)E
PRA B EDNER B ([BE])
REMNBERZ - R_T—=F+A=8
2@ MY BA 2 BRI BZE&  FAA
BOIARAREERT (BB)AR
RAIZEANGH UBEHFERILH
HEZUREAREE ERRARN
T =F+-A+HE+=B%4%
B ERBEDHAR BERGE 2R
B-RZE—NFONA=+THE=ZF
—mNERARAB BED R EFE
Prid 2z EaFim A Rk HE AR SR 40 o I
—E-NFAARA BRERXEEE
FREZE Bt REZ2 EFEEAK
BeEHt ARREZERA  BEARE
BB HmARNELEE-
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44. HAREE
(continued) (%)
Corporate guarantee BEER
2015 2014
—E-fF —E—mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Guarantee given to banks in M TS FRE 2
respect of financing guarantee B4 & & (R AR 7% M M SR 1T
services provided to: EH 2 R
— Independent third parties —BYE=] 378,442 353,410
— Related parties —BE AL 48,707 22,505
427,149 375,915
As at 31 March 2015, excluding the financing R-E—RAF=A=+—"H K@&
guarantee contracts of approximately ERA #9492,935,0008 7T (—ZF—M
HK$2,935,000 (2014: HK$2,938,000), the net 12,938,000 7T) 4N B ATIR 2
outstanding guarantee given to banks in respect of REERRGSRAERTEEZMAER
financing guarantee services provided amounted BERIFEELN /424,214,000 T (=F
to approximately HK$424,214,000 (2014: —PH4F 372,977,000 70 ) ©
HK$372,977,000).
Details about the management of credit risk by the AEERZEREERERCEERAR
Group regarding these financing guarantees are set Z A EH N HTEE6 o

out in note 6.
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March
2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value

45. B BFHE
MTABRARR=

E—RHERK_ZF

—NE=A=+—HBZWBRRZ

%

Proportion of
nominal value of issued

establishment of issued/ capital/registered capital
Name of company and operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activity
TR B R B8/ ARAREHHEERTER/
AR ER EEME EXHE & A B 2 b TEEH
2015 2014
—Z-1% it S nf2
Acelin Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 4 shares of US$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
("BVI") AR AR A REER
ABABRES (R BREMEIET
BABEREE])
Acme Power Holdings Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding
(Note (c)) RBAARES 1R &3 REZKR
ERBERERRA (ML) BREBIET
Alpha Yield Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRERAA HBABRER 34 REER
BREEIXT
Alphamount Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
JREER A ABABRES 1R AR (7 REZR
FREEIZT
Blessing China Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Property holding
BERRAR B HK$1 each NWERR
TR E @R
BREEBVET
Chinlink Alpha Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
EREEERAR i HK$1 each REZR
1R &R
BREENET
Chinlink Capital Limited (Note (c)) ~ Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% - Investment holding
EERGERBERAA (i) BB HK$1 each REER
RE @R
BREEIET
Chinlink E-commerce (Xi'an) PRC RMB 13,500,000 100% - E-commerce
Limited (Note (b)) i AR #13,500,0007T EFEH
EETEETHEK (AR)
BRAR (Aa®)
Chinlink Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Inactive
LERSRBRZERERDA Bk HK$1 each i3
1R &R
BREENET
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value

45. KB RFHIE

(#&)

Proportion of
nominal value of issued

establishment of issued/ capital/registered capital
Name of company and operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activity
BRI/ RILR BRI /M ARAREFHEERTESR/
ARER EELE EAEE AMEAEEZ LA TEEH
2015 2014
—B-EF —Z-mE
Chinlink Hanzhong Logistics Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited BB HK$1 each REER
LEFSEFMRAERAA R E @R
BREBIET
Chinlink International Trade PRC RMB 150,000,000 100% - Provision of logistics
Centre (Hanzhong) Company H AR #150,000,0007C services
Limited (Note (b)) R R
EEFSERER S50 (EH)
BRRAR (HzEb)
Chinlink Hong Kong Company Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited B HK$1 each RERR
EERE (FB)ERAA 1R &R
BREENET
Chinlink Mega Limited (Note (c)) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% - Inactive
ERkEBERAR (Hitc) e HK$1 each TEex
R E @R
BREEIET
Chinlink Supply Chain Services PRC US$4,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of logistics
(Shaanxi) Company Limited H 4,000,000% 7T services
(Note (a) REDR R
EEREHEEER (RA)
BRAR (Hita)
Chinlink Real Estate Services Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
(HK) Limited Bk HK$1 each REZR
LEFRERS (B%)ERATE R E @R
BREBIET
Chinlink Strategic Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% - Investment holding
(Note (c)) &E HK$1 each REER
EEFERBARAR 1R &R
(Hiit(c) BREMBIST
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45,
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. MIEARFIE
(continued) (%)
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ Nominal value nominal value of issued
establishment of issued/ capital/registered capital
Name of company and operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activity
EMAL/ RILR BRI /M ARREEFHEERITER/
AR ER BELE EAEE AMEAEEZ Al TEXR
2015 2014
—B-EF TP
CLI Design (HK) Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Trading of furniture and
ERR (BB)BRAA B HK$1 each fixtures
2R E AR BRNEEES
BREEVET
CLI Design (Macau) Limited Macau 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Interior decoration work
EER (RPT) BERAH RF] MOP 15,000 each EARMHTRE
2R E B
SIREE15,0002%
CLI Design Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Interior decoration work
ERRARAR B HK$1 each EREMIE
2R E AR
BREEIET
Esteemed Zone Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding
(Note (c)) RBABARES 1R R REZR
BHERDE (M) FREBIET
Galactic Power Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Financial services
BRERAR (REAN KERABRER 34 ERR%
[RHRERBRAA] 2 BREMEI1ET
LRETER)
Goal Achiever Investments BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding
Limited (Note (c)) HEERRES 1R R REZR
FEREBRAF (M) BREMBI1ET
Giant Success International BVI 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited HBERRRS US$1 each REEK
RREBRERRAR 1iRE B
BREEIET
Mega Zone Investments Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding
(Note (c)) (H7it(c)) RBABRES 1R R REZR
FREBIET

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED % [ rh 4 B B % )it & L4 ¥ | Annual Report 2015 £33



45,

“---

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
456 AT i 3R B aE

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #% —F— 4 = =+ —H L4

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. MEBRARFE
(continued) (%)
Place of Proportion of

incorporation/ Nominal value nominal value of issued

establishment of issued/ capital/registered capital
Name of company and operations registered capital held by the Company Principal activity
MR/ BRI BRI /M ARAREFHFEERTESR/
ARER EELE EXHEE & A E 2 A TEEH
2015 2014
—B-EF —Z-mE
Shaanxi Chinlink Financial PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100% Provision of financing
Guarantee Limited H 30,000,000% 7T guarantee services
REEEFEHERRERAA AR EERIRT
Sino Yield Enterprise Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
FRMEERAF EBERRRES AR AR 17 REER
BREBIET
Trillion Up Limited BVI 1 share of US$1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEERAF HBERRFES 1R &3 RERR
BREEIET
Notes: Bt &t -
(a) The company was formerly known as Chinlink (a) ZARR_ZT—NFHALTERS
Logistics Information and Consulting Services MREEdARE(AR)AERA
(Xi'an) Limited in 2014. Ale
(b) Wholly foreign owned enterprises established (b) REBEE—_ZT—RF=-A=+—H1t
under the laws of the PRC during the year ended fFE*E?E?‘:P BIEZK S 2 —ESNE
31 March 2015. BEMRK-
(c) The companies were set up during the year ended (0) ZERARBE-_ZT—HF=H
31 March 2015. =+ —HIEFERL

B Acelin Investments Limited E&H
A EERe (BBE)BERAA
FREEERAA HEREARA
ARBEERARBARAGEEESR

All the subsidiaries are owned indirectly by the
Company except for Acelin Investments Limited, R A
Trillion Up Limited, Chinlink Hong Kong Company
Limited, Sino Yield Enterprise Limited, Goal

Achiever Investments Limited and Esteemed Zone SN FR BB R A B AR A B
Limited which are owned directly by the Company. Ao

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt REAFERNINR=ZZE—RAFR=ZF
securities during the year or at 31 March 2015 and —mHE=A=+—8" WE’ A I
2014. BITEMEBES -
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR REREZEENE
INVESTMENT
Location Lot number Existing use Term of lease
vE b B 4R 5% RERR EizR
Junction of Jinger Road and 61070200900G- Under development Medium

Weiyi Road, Baohe S00285 for commercial use

Logistic Park, Hantai District,
Hanzhong City,

Shaanxi Province, The PRC

TERARERTESRE YR  61070200900G- TRF R 8
ARG _RERE -BIER $00285 FERERZ

Junction of Jinger Road and 61070200900G- Under development Long
Weiyi Road, Baohe S00286 for residential use

Logistic Park, Hantai District,
Hanzhong City,

Shaanxi Province, The PRC

FERAEERTESER AT 61070200900G- B[R A K Hi
B A - R —EIER 500286 BEEERS
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